

Local Energy Decay for the Damped Wave Equation

Jean-Marc Bouclet, Julien Royer

▶ To cite this version:

Jean-Marc Bouclet, Julien Royer. Local Energy Decay for the Damped Wave Equation. Journal of Functional Analysis, 2014, 266 (7), pp.Pages 4538-4615. 10.1016/j.jfa.2014.01.028. hal-00918736

HAL Id: hal-00918736 https://hal.science/hal-00918736v1

Submitted on 14 Dec 2013

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

LOCAL ENERGY DECAY FOR THE DAMPED WAVE EQUATION

JEAN-MARC BOUCLET AND JULIEN ROYER

ABSTRACT. We prove local energy decay for the damped wave equation on \mathbb{R}^d . The problem which we consider is given by a long range metric perturbation of the Euclidean Laplacian with a short range absorption index. Under a geometric control assumption on the dissipation we obtain an almost optimal polynomial decay for the energy in suitable weighted spaces. The proof relies on uniform estimates for the corresponding "resolvent", both for low and high frequencies. These estimates are given by an improved dissipative version of Mourre's commutators method.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Outline of the paper	6
3. Resolvent of dissipative operators	9
4. Time decay for the solution of the wave equation	13
5. Resolvent estimates for an abstract dissipative operator	18
5.1. Multiple commutators method in the dissipative setting	18
5.2. Inserted factors	21
6. Intermediate frequency estimates	24
7. Low frequency estimates	27
7.1. Some properties of the rescaled operators	28
7.2. Low frequency estimates for a small perturbation of the Laplacian	33
7.3. General long-range perturbations	35
8. High frequency estimates	37
9. The case of a Laplace-Beltrami operator	42
Appendix A. Notation	46
Appendix B. Dissipative Mourre estimates: an example	48
References	49

1. Introduction

We consider on \mathbb{R}^d , $d \ge 3$, the damped wave equation:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 u(t,x) + H_0 u(t,x) + a(x) \partial_t u(t,x) = 0 & \text{for } (t,x) \in \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^d, \\ u(0,x) = u_0(x), & \partial_t u(0,x) = u_1(x) & \text{for } x \in \mathbb{R}^d. \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

Here H_0 is an operator in divergence form

$$H_0 = -\operatorname{div}(G(x)\nabla),$$

where G(x) is a positive symmetric matrix with smooth entries, which is a long range perturbation of the identity (see (1.2)). Laplace-Beltrami operators will be considered as well, but the case of operators in divergence form captures all the difficulties. The operator H_0 is self-adjoint and non-negative on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with domain $H^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. The function $a \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is the absorption index. It takes non-negative values and is a short range potential. More precisely we assume that there exists $\rho > 0$ such that for $j, k \in [1, d]$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we have

$$|\partial^{\alpha}(G_{j,k}(x) - \delta_{j,k})| \le c_{\alpha} \langle x \rangle^{-\rho - |\alpha|} \quad \text{and} \quad |\partial^{\alpha} a(x)| \le c_{\alpha} \langle x \rangle^{-1 - \rho - |\alpha|},$$
 (1.2)

where $\langle x \rangle = (1 + |x|^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$, $\delta_{j,k}$ is the Kronecker delta and \mathbb{N} is the set of non negative integers.

Let \mathcal{H} be the Hilbert completion of $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for the norm

$$\|(u,v)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 = \|H_0^{1/2}u\|_{L^2}^2 + \|v\|_{L^2}^2.$$
 (1.3)

Here we use the square root $H_0^{1/2}$ of the self-adjoint operator H_0 but the corresponding term in the above energy can also be written $\langle G(x)\nabla u, \nabla u \rangle_{L^2}$. Then $\mathcal{H} = \dot{H}^1 \times L^2$, \dot{H}^1 being the usual homogeneous Sobolev space on \mathbb{R}^d . We consider on \mathcal{H} the operator

$$\mathcal{A} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ H_0 & -ia \end{pmatrix} \tag{1.4}$$

with domain

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) = \{(u, v) \in \mathcal{H} : (v, H_0 u) \in \mathcal{H}\}, \tag{1.5}$$

where H_0u is taken in the temperate distributions sense. We refer to Section 3 for more details on $\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ and \mathcal{A} which we can omit in this introduction. If we next let $(u_0, u_1) \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$, then u is a solution to the problem (1.1) if and only if $\mathcal{U} = (u, i\partial_t u)$ is a solution to

$$\begin{cases} (\partial_t + i\mathcal{A})\mathcal{U}(t) = 0, \\ \mathcal{U}(0) = \mathcal{U}_0, \end{cases}$$
 (1.6)

where $\mathcal{U}_0 = (u_0, iu_1)$.

We are going to prove that the operator \mathcal{A} is maximal dissipative on \mathcal{H} (in the sense of Definition 3.3, see Proposition 3.5). According to the Hille-Yosida Theorem, this implies in particular that it generates on \mathcal{H} a contractions semigroup $t \mapsto e^{-it\mathcal{A}}$, $t \geq 0$. Therefore the problem (1.6) has a unique solution $\mathcal{U} \in C^0(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})) \cap C^1(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathcal{H})$ for any $\mathcal{U}_0 = (u_0, iu_1) \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$. The first component of \mathcal{U} is the solution to (1.1), while the second is its time derivative. Moreover the energy function

$$t \mapsto \|\mathcal{U}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 = \|H_0^{1/2} u(t)\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_t u(t)\|_{L^2}^2$$

is non-increasing, the decay being due to the absorption index a:

$$\forall t \geqslant 0, \quad \frac{d}{dt} \left\| \mathcal{U}(t) \right\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 = -2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} a(x) \left| \partial_t u(t, x) \right|^2 dx \leqslant 0. \tag{1.7}$$

An important question about the long time behavior of the solution to a wave equation is the local energy decay. This has been widely studied in the self-adjoint case (i.e. without the damping term $a\partial_t u$ in (1.1)). Let us mention [LMP63], where the free wave equation outside a star-shaped obstacle (with Dirichlet boundary conditions) is considered. An exponential decay for the local energy is obtained in odd dimensions, using a polynomial decay from [Mor61] and the theory of Lax-Phillips [LP67]. This has been generalized to non-trapping obstacles in [MRS77] and [Mel79] (using the results about propagation of singularities given in [MS78]). Note that in all these papers the obstacle has to be bounded.

J. Ralston ([Ral69]) proved that the non-trapping assumption is necessary to obtain uniform local energy decay, as was conjectured in [LP67]. However N. Burq ([Bur98]) has proved logarithmic decay with loss of regularity without non-trapping assumption, by proving that there are no resonances in a region close to the real axis. As in the previous works, the obstacle is bounded and initial conditions have to be compactly supported.

In contexts close to ours, results about local energy decay for long range perturbations of various evolution equations have been obtained in [BH12] and [Bou11]. Both of these papers prove polynomial decay by mean of Mourre estimates. To our knowledge, the best estimates known so far on local energy decay for the wave equation with long range perturbations have been obtained in [Tat13] in three dimensions and in [GHS13] in odd dimension d. Both obtain a decay of order t^{-d} .

All these papers deal with the self-adjoint case. The local energy decay for the dissipative wave equation on an exterior domain has been studied by L. Aloui and M. Khenissi in [AK02]. They obtain exponential decay in odd dimension using the theory of Lax-Phillips and the contradiction argument with semiclassical measures of G. Lebeau [Leb96]. In this setting, the non-trapping assumption is replaced by a condition of exterior geometric control (see e.g. [RT74, BLR92] for more on this condition): every (generalized) geodesic has to leave any fixed bounded region or meet the damping region in (uniform) finite time. In this work the problem is a compact

perturbation of the free case.

In the present paper we prove a polynomial time decay of the local energy for some asymptotically vanishing and dissipative perturbations of the free wave equation. As is well known the main difficulties are in the low frequency and high frequency regimes. For the latter we use a damping assumption on the classical flow which is similar to the condition of exterior geometric control. This will be explicited in (8.3). Here we simply record that when a = 0 this assumption is the usual non-trapping condition, and when a is positive everywhere it is automatically satisfied.

Let us denote by $L^{2,\delta}$ the weighted space $L^2(\langle x \rangle^{2\delta} dx)$, while $H^{k,\delta}$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ is the corresponding weighted Sobolev space, with norm

$$\|u\|_{H^{k,\delta}} = \left\| \langle H_0 \rangle^{\frac{k}{2}} u \right\|_{L^{2,\delta}}.$$

This norm is equivalent to the more standard one (in term of $\|\langle x\rangle^{\delta}\partial^{\alpha}u\|_{L^{2}}$) since $\langle H_{0}\rangle^{\frac{k}{2}}$ is an elliptic pseudo-differential operator of order k.

The purpose of this paper is to prove the following theorem:

Theorem 1.1 (Local energy decay). Assume that every bounded trajectory of the classical flow goes through the damping region (see (8.3)). Let $\delta > d + \frac{1}{2}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exists $C \ge 0$ such that for $(u_0, u_1) \in H^{2,\delta} \times H^{1,\delta}$ and $t \ge 0$ we have

$$\left\|\nabla u(t)\right\|_{L^{2,-\delta}} + \left\|\partial_t u(t)\right\|_{L^{2,-\delta}} \leqslant C \left\langle t \right\rangle^{-(d-\varepsilon)} \left(\left\|u_0\right\|_{H^{2,\delta}} + \left\|u_1\right\|_{H^{1,\delta}}\right),$$

where u is the solution to the damped wave equation (1.1).

In Theorem 9.4, we obtain the same result when H_0 is replaced by the Laplace-Beltrami operator $-\Delta_g$ associated to a metric g which is a long range perturbation of the flat one. As we will see in Section 9, this result is essentially reduced to the one on H_0 (more precisely on the related resolvent estimates) via a fairly simple perturbation argument.

As in [BH12], we obtain a $t^{\varepsilon-d}$ decay for all $\varepsilon > 0$. Let us note that the t^{-d} decay shown in [Tat13] and [GHS13] is obtained under special long range assumptions. More precisely, in [GHS13] the authors obtain asymptotic expansions for the resolvent (hence for the spectral measure) which allow to compute asymptotics of the wave kernel and infer the corresponding decay. This is a strong result but relies on strong assumptions on the metric which has to be of scattering type. In [Tat13], the author is also able to give an asymptotic expansion of its resolvent, assuming in particular that the metric and its perturbation are radial at infinity (modulo short range terms).

An important new feature here is that we allow non self-adjoint perturbations. We discuss the related problems below (once we have introduced the relevant resolvent). In the self-adjoint case, we recover the time decay proved in [BH12] with similar long-range assumptions. However our analysis also provides resolvent estimates which are new both in the self-adjoint and non self-adjoint cases.

Let us note that, in odd dimension, if a and G-I decay fast enough, one may expect a time decay proportional to their spatial decay rate, as is proved by Bony-Häfner [BH13] when a=0. For exponentially decaying perturbations, one may also expect an exponential decay by using a suitable theory of resonances. On the other hand, in even dimension, the behaviour of the free wave equation suggests one cannot expect such improvements.

We do not know whether the short-range assumption on the absorption index is sharp or not. However previous results obtained in [Shi83, DS95, ITY13], where the absorption index is constant or at least bounded from below by $c_0 \langle x \rangle^{-1}$, $c_0 > 0$, provide estimates of order $t^{-\frac{d}{2}}$. This is related to the "overdamping" phenomenon: when the absorption is too strong, the equation tends to behave as a heat equation at low frequencies.

We are going to prove Theorem 1.1 by a spectral approach. After a Fourier transform, the solution u(t) can be written as an integral over frequencies $\tau = \text{Re } z$ of

$$R(z) = (H_z - z^2)^{-1}$$
, where $H_z = H_0 - iza(x)$. (1.8)

Everywhere in the sequel, R(z) will be called resolvent although it is not a resolvent in the usual sense since the operator H_z depends on the spectral parameter. We will see in Proposition 3.4 that it is well-defined for every $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$, where

$$\mathbb{C}_{+} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Im} z > 0 \}.$$

The problem is thus reduced to proving uniform estimates for the resolvent R(z) and its derivatives when $\operatorname{Im} z \searrow 0$. Once such a limiting absorption principle is proved, we have to control the dependence on $\operatorname{Re} z$. The difficulties arise when $|\operatorname{Re} z|$ goes to 0 (low frequencies) and $+\infty$ (high frequencies).

The main new difficulty, compared to the situations considered in [Boull, BH12], is the non self-adjoint character of the operator which leads to several new problems. A deep one is due to the absence of suitable functional calculus for $H_0 - iza$ allowing sharp spectral localizations. Another problem follows from the fact that derivatives of the resolvent cannot be expressed by pure powers thereof. Here, there may be some factors a(x) inserted between the resolvents R(z); for instance, we have

$$R'(z) = iR(z)a(x)R(z) + 2zR(z)^{2}$$
(1.9)

(see Proposition 5.9 for the general case). Due to these inserted factors (and of course to the non self-adjointness of the operator), the estimates on R'(z) (and higher order derivatives) require a significant review of multiple commutators estimates in this framework (see Section 5).

Theorem 1.1 follows essentially from a series of estimates on the resolvent R(z) and its derivatives, which are the core of this paper. Estimates at high frequency and intermediate frequency are unavoidably technical but are quite well understood in this dissipative situation (see [Roy10b]). The biggest issue will be about low frequency.

Let us begin with the statement about intermediate frequencies:

Theorem 1.2 (Resolvent estimates for intermediate frequencies). Let K be a compact subset of $\mathbb{C}\setminus\{0\}$. Let $n\in\mathbb{N}$ and $\delta>n+\frac{1}{2}$. Then there exists $C\geqslant 0$ such that for all $z\in\mathbb{C}_+\cap K$ we have

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} R^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} + \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \nabla R^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant C.$$

Here we have denoted by $\mathcal{L}(L^2)$ the space of bounded operators on L^2 , while $R^{(n)}(z)$ is as usual the *n*-th derivative of R(z) with respect to z.

As is well known, even for the resolvent of the free Laplacian, such estimates cannot hold uniformly when z goes to 0 if n is too large. This explains the restriction on the rate of decay in Theorem 1.1. The following statement is the main technical result of this paper:

Theorem 1.3 (Resolvent estimates for low frequencies). Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let δ be greater than $n + \frac{1}{2}$ if $n \geqslant \frac{d}{2}$ and greater than n + 1 otherwise. Then there exist a neighborhood \mathcal{U} of 0 in \mathbb{C} and $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathcal{U} \cap \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} R^{(n)}(z) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant C \left(1 + |z|^{d-2-n-\varepsilon} \right)$$

and

$$\left\| \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} \nabla R^{(n)}(z) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant C \left(1 + |z|^{d-1-n-\varepsilon} \right).$$

Unless d is even and n = d - 2 we can in fact remove ε in the first estimate:

Theorem 1.4 (Sharp resolvent estimates for low frequencies). Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $\delta_1, \delta_2 > n + \frac{1}{2}$ be such that $\delta_1 + \delta_2 > \min(2(n+1), d)$. If d is odd or $n \neq d-2$ then there exist a neighborhood \mathcal{U} of 0 in \mathbb{C} and $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathcal{U} \cap \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta_1} R^{(n)}(z) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta_2} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant C \left(1 + \left| z \right|^{d-2-n} \right).$$

Theorems 1.3 and 1.4 are proved at the end of Section 7, after Proposition 7.15. Note that we obtain estimates at all orders n, but only those given in Theorem 1.3 for $n \leq d$ will contribute to the proof of Theorem 1.1.

Note also that in Theorem 1.4 the condition on $\delta_1 + \delta_2$ is automatically fulfilled when $n \ge \frac{d}{2}$. We need a weight $\langle x \rangle^{-n-\frac{1}{2}-0^+}$ on both sides to have a uniform estimate for $R^{(n)}(z)$ when Im z goes to 0 (see Theorem 1.2) and an additionnal $\langle x \rangle^{-1}$ arbitrarily distributed among the left and the right to improve the dependence on Re z and get a uniform estimate when n is not too large. This fact has already been emphazised in [BH10] when n = 0. We also remark that in passing we have improved the weights used in [Bou11].

For high frequencies, we know that the propagation along classical rays is in some sense (made rigorous by semiclassical analysis) a good approximation for the propagation of the wave. This is why geometric assumptions are crucial for the local energy decay: the energy of the wave (at least the contribution of high frequencies) escapes at infinity if the classical rays go to infinity. In the dissipative case, we know that this non-trapping assumption can be replaced by a damping condition on bounded classical trajectories: the energy which does not escape at infinity has to be dissipated by the medium (see [AK07, Roy10b] for resolvent estimates of the dissipative Schrödinger operator on \mathbb{R}^d , see also [DV12, CSVW] for the correspondence between non-trapped and damped trajectories).

Theorem 1.5 (Resolvent estimates for high frequencies). Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta > n + \frac{1}{2}$. Under the damping condition (8.3) on the classical flow, there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ with $|z| \geqslant C$ we have

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} R^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant \frac{C}{|z|}$$

and

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \nabla R^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant C.$$

In the self-adjoint case (see [BH12, Boul1]) the local energy decay problem can be dealt with by using general estimates of the form

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\gamma} e^{-\frac{it}{h}Q_h} \chi(Q_h) \langle x \rangle^{-\gamma} \right\| \leqslant C \langle t \rangle^{-\gamma},$$

where $\gamma \geqslant 0$, Q_h is a semiclassical self-adjoint Schrödinger operator and $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is supported near a non-trapping energy for Q_h . We refer to [Wan87] for more details and a proof of this result. However such an estimate is not available in the dissipative situation (we cannot even give a sense to $\chi(Q_h)$) and this explains the loss of regularity in Theorem 1.1 (see Proposition 4.6 below). Proving such an improvement on high frequency estimates is an important problem on its own which cannot be solved trivially. In this paper we mainly focus on the low frequency part, which already requires a fairly long analysis. Notice however that even if they do not provide directly the sharpest inequalities (in terms of the regularity of the initial data) for the time dependent problem, the estimates of Theorem 1.5 are optimal in the sense that we recover the self-adjoint ones in the non-trapping case.

In order to prove Theorems 1.2, 1.3, 1.4 and 1.5 we use the commutators method of E. Mourre ([Mou81], see [ABG91] and references therein for an overview on the subject). In [Roy10b], the second author has generalized the original result of Mourre to the dissipative setting. Here we also extend the results of [JMP84, Jen85] about the derivatives of the resolvent. More precisely we first study the powers of the resolvent, and then prove that we can insert some suitable factors between these resolvents.

Let us close this introduction by fixing some general notation (for the reader's convenience, the main notations of the paper, including some technical ones, are recorded in Appendix A). We set

$$\mathbb{C}_{\pm,+} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : \pm \text{Re}(z) > 0, \text{Im}(z) > 0 \}.$$

Given $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ we also define

$$\mathbb{C}_{I+} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Re}(z) \in I, \operatorname{Im}(z) > 0 \}.$$

For $m \in \mathbb{N}$ we denote by $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ the set of smooth and compactly supported functions on \mathbb{R}^m , $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ is the Schwartz class, $C_b^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ is the set of smooth functions whose derivatives of all

orders are bounded, and for $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$ we denote by $S^{\delta}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ the set of smooth functions u on \mathbb{R}^m such that

$$\forall \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^m, \exists c_\alpha \geqslant 0, \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^m, \quad |\partial^\alpha u(x)| \leqslant c_\alpha \langle x \rangle^{\delta - |\alpha|}$$

For $j \in [1, d]$ (everywhere we write [n, m] for $[n, m] \cap \mathbb{N}$) we set $D_j = -i\partial_j$. If A and H are operators, we denote by $\mathrm{ad}_A(H)$ the commutator [H, A].

Acknowledgements. We are grateful to the referees for their careful reading of the first version of the paper and for suggesting several improvements on the presentation. The research of the second author is partially supported by the French National Research Project NOSEVOL (Non self-adjoint operators, semiclassical analysis and evolution equations, ANR 2011 BS01019 01).

2. Outline of the paper

In this section we describe the different sections of the paper, that is the global strategy of the proof of Theorem 1.1. We also give some heuristics which should help the reader to understand the key arguments. We explain in particular the main ideas of the proof of Theorem 1.3, which is the most technical part of the paper.

In Section 3 we give some general properties of maximal dissipative operators. Once we have proved that the operator \mathcal{A} defined by (1.4) is maximal dissipative, we obtain in particular the well-posedness of the problems (1.6) and hence (1.1). We also give some dissipative properties of the resolvent R(z) (as defined in (1.8)) which will be useful later in the paper.

In Section 4 we derive the local energy decay stated in Theorem 1.1 from the resolvent estimates of Theorems 1.2, 1.3 and 1.5. For this we take the Fourier transform in time in the wave equation (1.1) and obtain in a standard way (at least formally)

$$(\nabla, \partial_t)u(t) = \frac{1}{(it)^n} \int_{\mathbb{D}} e^{-it\tau} \frac{d^n}{d\tau^n} \left((\nabla, -i\tau)R(\tau + i0)(au_0 - i\tau u_0 + u_1) \right) d\tau. \tag{2.1}$$

Here $R(\tau + i0)$ denotes the limit of $R(\tau + i\mu)$ when $\mu \searrow 0$. In this integral we introduce the following partition of unity in τ

$$1 = \chi_0(\tau) + \sum_{h \text{ dyadic}} \chi(h\tau), \qquad (2.2)$$

with $\chi_0 \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \setminus 0)$, and treat separately the different regimes: intermediate frequencies $(|\tau| \sim 1)$, low frequencies $(|\tau| \ll 1)$ and high frequencies $(|\tau| \gg 1)$.

The contribution of intermediate frequencies follows fairly easily from Theorem 1.2. Here n can be as large as we wish, which means that the corresponding contribution decays rapidly in time.

The restriction on the time decay in Theorem 1.1 is due to low frequencies. On the support of χ_0 , the integrand in (2.1) is controlled by Theorem 1.3 as long as $n \leq d-1$, since it is at worst of size $|\tau|^{-\varepsilon}$, which is integrable around 0. This gives a decay of order $O(t^{-(d-1)})$. When d=n, we only have an estimate of size $\tau^{-1-\varepsilon}$, which is why we do not reach a time decay of size $O(t^{-d})$. But $\tau^{-1-\varepsilon}$ is not far from being integrable, so with an interpolation argument (Lemma 4.3) we can finally prove a decay of size $O(t^{-(d-\varepsilon)})$ for any $\varepsilon > 0$.

On the support of $1-\chi_0(\tau)$, the resolvent estimates (once appriopriatly weighted) are O(1) in τ , which does not give integrability. We overcome this problem by introducing the dyadic decomposition in (2.2) to be able to use an almost orthogonality argument. The rough idea is to convert the cutoff $\chi(h\tau)$ into a spectral cutoff $\chi(hH_0^{1/2})$. This works well in the self-adjoint case but is more tricky here for the following reason. In the self-adjoint case, if $\tilde{\chi} \equiv 1$ near the support of χ , the Spectral Theorem provides the estimate

$$\left\| \chi(h\tau) \left(1 - \tilde{\chi}(hH_0^{1/2}) \right) \left(H_0 - (\tau \pm i0)^2 \right)^{-1} \right\|_{L^2 \to L^2} \lesssim h^2 \sim \tau^{-2}$$

as well as similar estimates for powers of the resolvent. In our case, proving such an estimate when we replace the resolvent $(H_0 - (\tau \pm i0)^2)^{-1}$ by $R(\tau + i0)$ (but keep of course the special

cutoff $(1 - \tilde{\chi}(hH_0^{1/2}))$ requires much more work, part of which is the purpose of Section 4. Using this analysis we can then infer that, up to nicer remainders, we may replace $R(\tau + i0)$ by

$$\tilde{\chi}(hH_0^{1/2})R(\tau+i0)\tilde{\chi}(hH_0^{1/2})$$

which then allows to sum over h by almost orthogonality. Let us point out that in this analysis there is no restriction on n so that we prove a fast decay in time.

Then it remains to prove the resolvent estimates of Theorems 1.2, 1.3, 1.4 and 1.5. They will all follow from the commutators method of Mourre.

In Section 5, we provide a suitable version of the Mourre theory which allows to estimate powers of the resolvent, including inserted factors, for general dissipative perturbations of self-adjoint operators. In [Roy10b], the second author considered dissipative operators of the form $H = H_1 - iV$ where $V \ge 0$ is relatively bounded with respect to the self-adjoint operator H_1 . It was proved there that if a commutator estimate of the form

$$\mathbb{1}_{J}(H_{1})([H_{1}, iA] + \beta V)\mathbb{1}_{J}(H_{1}) \geqslant \alpha \mathbb{1}_{J}(H_{1})$$
(2.3)

holds for some self-adjoint operator A (here $J \subset \mathbb{R}, \, \beta \geqslant 0, \, \alpha > 0$), then

$$\sup_{\substack{\text{Re } z \in I \in J \\ \text{Im } z > 0}} \left\| \left\langle A \right\rangle^{-\frac{1}{2} - \epsilon} (H - z)^{-1} \left\langle A \right\rangle^{-\frac{1}{2} - \epsilon} \right\|_{L^2 \to L^2} < \infty.$$

When H is (a perturbation of) the flat Laplacian on \mathbb{R}^n , one usually takes (a perturbation of) the generator of dilations for A. This will be the case here.

In the self-adjoint case, it is also well known that one has similar estimates for powers of the resolvent. As pointed out in (1.9), the derivatives of R(z) involve not only powers of R(z) but also such powers with inserted factors. In Section 5, we show in a general setting that we can estimate both pure powers of $(H-z)^{-1}$ and such powers with inserted operators Θ , as long as Θ has reasonnable commuting properties with the conjugate operator A. Since Θ is inserted between resolvents of H, we can even allow unbounded operators Θ which are relatively bounded with respect to H. This will be important in our case even if the multiplication by a(x) is a bounded operator on L^2 .

In Section 6, we derive fairly directly Theorem 1.2, about intermediate frequencies, from the general theory of Section 5. Even here we have to use a parameter-dependent version of the resolvent estimates (since the operator $H_0 - iza(x)$ depends on the spectral parameter z), but this does not rise any particular difficulty in this case.

Low frequencies are much more problematic. As is well-known, the reason is that the standard Mourre method with a Laplacian and the generator of dilations only works near a positive energy.

In Section 7 we prove Theorems 1.3 and 1.4. We observe first that

$$R^{(n)}(z) = \text{linear combination of } z^k R(z) a^{j_1} R(z) \cdots R(z) a^{j_m} R(z)$$
(2.4)

with $0 \le m \le n$, $j_1, \ldots, j_m \in \{0, 1\}$ and $n + k + j_1 + \cdots + j_m = 2m$ (see Proposition 5.9). We explain here the ideas in the cases where there is at most one inserted factor a, that is $\sum j_k \le 1$. Our analysis begins with the scaling argument of [Boul1]. We introduce

$$\tilde{P}_z = e^{-iA\ln|z|} \frac{H_z}{|z|^2} e^{iA\ln|z|} \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{R}(z) = \left(\tilde{P}_z - \hat{z}^2\right)^{-1},$$

where $\hat{z}=z/|z|$ and $e^{iA\ln|z|}$ is the dilation by $|z|: \left(e^{iA\ln|z|}u\right)(x)=|z|^{d/2}u(|z|x)$. For Re $z\geqslant 0$, the new spectral parameter \hat{z}^2 only approaches the real axis at point 1, which is what we want to use the Mourre theory. To implement this idea, we only consider a small perturbation of the Laplacian. This amounts to substract a compactly supported part to the full perturbation whose contribution will be studied afterwards by a compactness argument which we do not discuss here (see Subsection 7.3). Then, the smallness of $-\Delta - \tilde{P}_z$ will (in particular) allow to apply the Mourre method with the generator of dilations A (see Proposition 7.12).

When all j_k vanish, we have to estimate operators of the form

$$|z|^k \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} R(z)^{m+1} \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} = |z|^{k-2m-2} \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} e^{iA \ln|z|} \tilde{R}(z)^{m+1} e^{-iA \ln|z|} \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta}. \tag{2.5}$$

Using the resolvent identity for \tilde{P}_z , this term can be rewritten as a sum of terms of the form

$$E_z := \left| z \right|^{k-2m-2} \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} e^{iA \ln |z|} \left(\tilde{P}_z + 1 \right)^{-(m_e+1)} e^{-iA \ln |z|} \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta}$$

where $m_e \geqslant m$, and

$$\Sigma_z := |z|^{k-2m-2} \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} e^{iA\ln|z|} \left(\tilde{P}_z + 1\right)^{-N_1} \tilde{R}(z)^{m_s+1} \left(\tilde{P}_z + 1\right)^{-N_2} e^{-iA\ln|z|} \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta},$$

where $m_s \leq n$ and N_1, N_2 are as large as we wish. We omit some factors $(1 + \hat{z}^2)$ which do not play any role. Since \tilde{P}_z is close to the Laplacian, we can prove the elliptic estimates

$$\|(\tilde{P}_z+1)^{-1}\|_{H^{s-1}\to H^{s+1}} \lesssim 1 \text{ for } s\in]-d/2, d/2[,$$
 (2.6)

where the limitation in the range of s is due to the form of the coefficients of \tilde{P}_z (typically $G_{jk}(x/|z|)$). If $m_e < \frac{d}{2}$ then $\left(\tilde{P}_z + 1\right)^{-(m_e+1)}$ is uniformly bounded from H^{-m_e} to H^{m_e} . Using the Sobolev embedding $H^{m_e} \subset L^q$ with $q = \frac{2d}{d-2m_e}$ and the simple but crucial estimate

$$\left\| e^{iA\ln|z|} \right\|_{L^q \to L^q} \lesssim |z|^{m_e}, \tag{2.7}$$

together with adjoint estimates (see Proposition 6.1), we finally obtain that the elliptic term E_z is uniformly bounded on L^2 (we use the weight $\langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$ to map L^q to L^2). When m_e is too large we only get $|z|^{d-\varepsilon}$ in (2.7) by this method and then E_z is of size $O(|z|^{d-\varepsilon-n-2})$ (the possible removal of ε will be discussed later).

We next consider Σ_z . Using the dissipative Mourre theory of Section 5, we know that the operator

$$\langle A \rangle^{-\delta} \tilde{R}(z)^{m_s+1} \langle A \rangle^{-\delta} \tag{2.8}$$

is uniformly bounded as an operator on L^2 . Thus we have to estimate an operator of the form

$$W_z = \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} e^{iA \ln|z|} (\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-N_1} \langle A \rangle^{\delta}.$$

Let $s \in \left[0, \frac{d}{2}\right]$ and $q = \frac{2d}{d-2s}$. Using Sobolev embeddings we obtain

$$\|W_z\|_{L^2 \to L^2} \leqslant \left\| \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} e^{iA \ln|z|} \left(1 + \left| x \right|^{\delta} \right) \right\|_{H^s \to L^2} \left\| \left(1 + \left| x \right|^{\delta} \right)^{-1} \left(\tilde{P}_z + 1 \right)^{-N_1} \left\langle A \right\rangle^{\delta} \right\|_{L^2 \to H^s}.$$

The second factor is uniformly bounded. The rough idea is that the powers of x given by $\langle A \rangle^{\delta} \simeq 1 + |x|^{\delta} |D|^{\delta}$ are controlled by $(1 + |x|^{\delta})^{-1}$ and the derivatives by the resolvents. Of course this is not simple pseudo-differential calculus, so many explicit commutators will be involved. In particular we recall that there is a restriction for the Sobolev index in (2.6), so we cannot simply control a derivative of high order by $(\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-N_1}$ even if N_1 is large. For the first factor we write

$$\langle x \rangle^{-\delta} e^{iA \ln|z|} \left(1 + |x|^{\delta} \right) = \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} e^{iA \ln|z|} + |z|^{\delta} \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} |x|^{\delta} e^{iA \ln|z|}. \tag{2.9}$$

The second term in (2.9) is clearly of order $|z|^{\delta}$, and for the first term we use (2.7). We remark that the weight is used either to go from L^q to L^2 or to control the powers of x given by $\langle A \rangle^{\delta}$, but not for both at the same time. Finally, if $\delta \geq s$ we obtain that W_z is of size $O(|z|^s)$ and hence Σ_z is of size $O(|z|^{2s-n-2}) = O(|z|^{d-\varepsilon-n-2})$ since s can be chosen arbitrarily close to d/2.

To study next the case where $\sum_k j_k = 1$, it is useful to recall that the inserted factors come from (1.9), where factors (2z+ia) appear instead of 2z is the self-adjoint case. It is thus natural to seek an estimate of size O(|z|) for the contribution of a. This is actually possible for the following reason. After rescaling, the contribution of the inserted factor reads $a_{|z|} := a(\cdot/|z|) = e^{-iA \ln|z|} a e^{iA \ln|z|}$. Since a is of short range, it turns out that

$$\forall s \in] - d/2, d/2 - 1[, \quad ||a_{|z|}||_{H^{s+1} \to H^s} \lesssim |z|$$
 (2.10)

(see Proposition 7.2). So $a_{|z|}$ behaves like a derivative and is indeed of size O(|z|) at low frequencies.

This being said, let us come back to the estimate of the analogue of (2.5) when one of the j_k of (2.4) is equal to 1. When estimating a term involving $(\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-m_1}a_{|z|}(\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-m_2}$ with $m_1 + m_2 = m_e + 1$, (2.10) costs one derivative but provides one power of |z|. This loss of derivative may in some cases be at the expense of using a slightly worse Lebesgue exponent in (2.7) but, in the end, we recover the same estimates as when there was no inserted factors.

Concerning an inserted factor $a_{|z|}$ in (2.8), we can directly apply the abstract results of Section 5. Note that even if $a_{|z|}$ is uniformly bounded on L^2 , we have to use the version with unbounded inserted factors (Theorem 5.16) to use (2.10).

For the second estimate in Theorem 1.3 we only observe that we can proceed for a derivative as we did for $a_{|z|}$, except that we do not have the restriction on the Sobolev index as in (2.10).

The argument described in the previous paragraph allows to prove Theorem 1.3 where we have an ε loss (which is harmless for the time decay estimate). Let us now briefly explain how to remove this loss in certain cases (this is the purpose of Theorem 1.4). Consider for instance $|z|^{-4} (\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-1} a_{|z|} (\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-1}$ which appears when d = 3 and n = 1. It is of size $O(|z|^{-3})$ as an operator from $H^{-3/2}$ to $H^{3/2}$, which is critical for Sobolev embeddings. Using only (2.7) we get an estimate of size $O(|z|^{-\varepsilon})$. Now we can improve (2.10) as follows: if $\sigma < \rho$, ρ given by (1.2), we can modify (2.10) and see $a_{|z|}$ as a derivative of order $1 + \sigma$, and hence of size $|z|^{1+\sigma}$ (see Proposition 7.10). Then our operator is now of size $O(|z|^{-3+\sigma})$ as an operator from $H^{-(3-\sigma)/2}$ to $H^{(3-\sigma)/2}$. We avoid the critical Sobolev index and get a uniform estimate. The point is that we can always do this, except when d is even and n = d - 2. For instance when d = 4 and n = 2 there is a term $|z|^{-4} (\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-2}$ which cannot be estimated uniformly by this method.

In Section 8 we deal with high frequencies. The proof of Theorem 1.5 is also quite technical but the ideas are mostly well-known (see [Roy10b]), so we only give a quick overview here. In the self-adjoint case, the idea is to apply Mourre Theory to the semi-classical Schrödinger operator with a conjugate operator given by the quantization of an escape function (according to the trick of [GM88]). In our dissipative setting, we construct a symbol which is increasing along the flow outside the damping region. Roughly speaking, that we can relax the usual non-trapping condition comes from the term βV in (2.3) which provides additional positivity in the damping region.

In Section 9, we prove the analogue of Theorem 1.1 when H_0 is replaced by a Laplace-Beltrami operator associated to a long range perturbation of the flat metric.

3. Resolvent of dissipative operators

In this section we record some general properties on the spaces and the unbounded operators we shall use. In particular, we deduce that the problem (1.1) has a solution defined for all positive times, and that the resolvent R(z) is well-defined for $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ with nice properties away from the real axis.

We first remark that the norm on \mathcal{H} is equivalent to the norm $(u,v) \mapsto \|\nabla u\|_{L^2} + \|v\|_{L^2}$ of $\dot{H}^1 \times L^2$. Then we recall the following classical proposition:

(i) The space $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is stable by the resolvent of H_0 and by $f(H_0)$ for any $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}).$ (ii) If $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, $f(H_0)$ maps compactly supported L^2 functions into $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Next, to emphasize that \dot{H}^1 is not contained in L^2 , we record the following characterization

$$\dot{H}^1 = \left\{ u \in L^{\frac{2d}{d-2}} \, : \, \nabla u \in L^2 \right\},$$

where ∇u is taken in the distributions sense.

The space $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ introduced in (1.5) will be equipped with the norm

$$\|(u,v)\|_{\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})} = \|(u,v)\|_{\mathcal{H}} + \|H_0u\|_{L^2} + \|\sqrt{H_0}v\|_{L^2}.$$

Notice that, if $(u,v) \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$, u does not belong to the domain of H_0 in general since we do not know that $u \in L^2$. In practice, we can get rid of such a problem by using the following proposition.

Proposition 3.2. (i) The space $S(\mathbb{R}^d) \times S(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is dense in $\mathcal{D}(A)$. (ii) $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ is a Banach space.

Proof. Most of the proof is routine. We only sketch the main points of the item (i). Let $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ be equal to 1 near 0. We show first that, if $(u,v) \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$, then

$$(u_{\varepsilon}, v_{\varepsilon}) := (\chi(\varepsilon x)u, \chi(\varepsilon x)v)$$

also belongs to $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ and converges to (u, v) for $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})}$. For this purpose, we use that $\varepsilon \nabla \chi(\varepsilon x)u$ goes to zero in L^2 since the operator $|x| \varepsilon \nabla \chi(\varepsilon x)$ goes strongly to zero on L^2 and $|x|^{-1}u$ belongs to L^2 by the Hardy inequality. A similar argument shows that $H_0u_{\varepsilon} \to H_0u$ in L^2 . Then, it suffices to approach $(u_{\varepsilon}, v_{\varepsilon})$ by Schwartz functions. We introduce

$$(u_{\varepsilon,n}, v_{\varepsilon,n}) := (\chi(H_0/n)u_{\varepsilon}, \chi(H_0/n)v_{\varepsilon}).$$

By the item (ii) of Proposition 3.1, this pair belongs to $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. This uses in particular that $u_{\varepsilon} \in L^2$ which also shows that u_{ε} belongs to the domain of H_0 . It only remains to see that $(u_{\varepsilon,n}, v_{\varepsilon,n}) \to (u_{\varepsilon}, v_{\varepsilon})$ in $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$, which is clear since $u_{\varepsilon,n} \to u_{\varepsilon}$ in $\mathcal{D}(H_0)$ and $v_{\varepsilon,n} \to v_{\varepsilon}$ in $\mathcal{D}(H_0^{1/2})$.

Let us now introduce dissipative operators:

Definition 3.3. We say that the operator T with domain $\mathcal{D}(T)$ on the Hilbert space \mathcal{K} is dissipative if

$$\forall \varphi \in \mathcal{D}(T), \quad \text{Im } \langle T\varphi, \varphi \rangle \leqslant 0$$

(here the inner product is anti-linear on the right). Moreover T is said to be maximal dissipative if it has no other dissipative extension on \mathcal{K} than itself.

A dissipative operator T is maximal dissipative if and only if $(T - \zeta)$ has a bounded inverse on \mathcal{K} for some (and hence any) $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}_+$. In this case we have

$$\forall \zeta \in \mathbb{C}_+, \quad \left\| (T - \zeta)^{-1} \right\|_{\mathcal{K}} \leqslant \frac{1}{\operatorname{Im} \zeta}.$$
 (3.1)

This estimate together with the Hille-Yosida Theorem proves that -iT generates a contractions semigroup. Then for any $\varphi_0 \in \mathcal{D}(T)$, the function $\varphi: t \mapsto e^{-itT}\varphi_0$ belongs to $C^1(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathcal{K}) \cap C^0(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathcal{D}(T))$ and solves the problem

$$\begin{cases} (\partial_t + iT)\varphi(t) = 0, & \forall t \geqslant 0, \\ \varphi(0) = \varphi_0. \end{cases}$$

Proposition 3.4. (i) For all $z \in \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$ the operators $H_0 - iza$ and $-i(H_0 - iza)$ are maximal dissipative with domain H^2 .

(ii) For all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$, the operator $H_0 - iza(x) - z^2$ defined on H^2 has a bounded inverse on L^2

$$R(z) = (H_0 - iza(x) - z^2)^{-1},$$

as introduced in (1.8). Moreover $R(-\overline{z}) = R(z)^*$.

(iii) There exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$||R(z)||_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \le \frac{C}{\operatorname{Im} z(\operatorname{Im} z + |\operatorname{Re} z|)}.$$

Proof. (i) The operator H_0 is self-adjoint and non-negative on L^2 , with domain H^2 . In particular H_0 and $-iH_0$ are maximal dissipative on H^2 . If $z \in \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$ the operators -iza(x) and -za are dissipative and bounded on L^2 , so the operators $H_0 - iza(x)$ and $-iH_0 - za$ are maximal dissipative on H^2 by a standard perturbation argument (see Lemma 2.1 in [Roy10b]).

(ii) If $z \in \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$ then $H_0 - iza$ is maximal dissipative and $\text{Im}(z^2) > 0$ so $H_0 - iza(x) - z^2$ has a bounded inverse. For $z \in \mathbb{C}_{-,+}$ we can use the equality

$$H_0 - iza(x) - z^2 = \left(H_0 + i\overline{z}a(x) - \overline{z}^2\right)^*.$$

If Re z = 0, then we only have to remark that $H_0 - iza(x)$ is self-adjoint and non-negative, and $z^2 < 0$.

(iii) According to (3.1) applied to $H_0 - iza$, we have for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$ (and similarly if $z \in \mathbb{C}_{-,+}$ according to (ii))

$$||R(z)||_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant \frac{1}{2|\operatorname{Re}(z)|\operatorname{Im}(z)}.$$

When $|\operatorname{Re} z| \geqslant \frac{\operatorname{Im} z}{2}$, the right-hand side can be replaced by $C/(\operatorname{Im} z(\operatorname{Im} z + |\operatorname{Re} z|))$. If $|\operatorname{Re} z| \leq \frac{\operatorname{Im} z}{2}$ we apply (3.1) with $T = -iH_0 - za$ and $\zeta = -iz^2$ and obtain

$$||R(z)||_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} = ||(-iH_0 - za + iz^2)^{-1}||_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant \frac{1}{\mathrm{Im}(z)^2 - \mathrm{Re}(z)^2} \leqslant \frac{4}{3\mathrm{Im}(z)^2},$$

which gives the estimate in this case. This concludes the proof.

Proposition 3.5. (i) For all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$, the operator

$$\begin{pmatrix} R(z)(ia+z) & R(z) \\ I + R(z)(zia+z^2) & zR(z) \end{pmatrix}, \tag{3.2}$$

defined on $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, has a bounded closure in $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}))$ which we denote by $R_{\mathcal{A}}(z)$.

(ii) The operator A defined in (1.4) is maximal dissipative on H. Moreover for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$(\mathcal{A} - z)^{-1} = \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{A}}(z).$$

Proof. • Let $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ be fixed in all the proof. We set $R_0(z) = (H_0 - z^2)^{-1}$. Using that a is of short range and the Hardy inequality, we have for $u \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$

$$\|aR_0(z)u\|_{L^2} \lesssim_z \|\nabla R_0(z)u\|_{L^2} \lesssim_z \|H_0^{1/2}R_0(z)u\|_{L^2} \lesssim_z \|H_0^{1/2}u\|_{L^2}.$$

By the resolvent identity

$$R(z) = R_0(z) + izR(z)aR_0(z)$$
(3.3)

and the $L^2 \to L^2$ boundedness of $\nabla R(z)$, we obtain

$$\|\nabla R(z)u\|_{L^2} \lesssim_z \|H_0^{1/2}u\|_{L^2}.$$
 (3.4)

On the other hand

$$\left\| \left(I + z^2 R_0(z) \right) u \right\|_{L^2} = \left\| H_0^{1/2} R_0(z) H_0^{1/2} u \right\|_{L^2} \lesssim_z \left\| H_0^{1/2} u \right\|_{L^2},$$

and using again (3.3):

$$\|(I+z^2R(z))u\|_{L^2} \lesssim_z \|H_0^{1/2}u\|_{L^2}.$$
 (3.5)

• Using the Hardy inequality, (3.4), (3.5) and the fact that R(z) is bounded from L^2 to H^2 it is easy to conclude that the operator (3.2) extends to a bounded operator from \mathcal{H} to \mathcal{H} . Now let us check that it is bounded from \mathcal{H} to $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$. Let $(u,v) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and define

$$\begin{pmatrix} U \\ V \end{pmatrix} = R_{\mathcal{A}}(z) \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R(z)(ia+z)u + R(z)v \\ u + R(z)(zia+z^2)u + zR(z)v \end{pmatrix}$$

By the resolvent identity (3.3), we have

$$H_0U = zH_0R_0(z)u + iz^2H_0R(z)aR_0(z)u + H_0R(z)iau + H_0R(z)v,$$

so that, by the same estimates as above,

$$||H_0U||_{L^2} \lesssim \left(||H_0^{1/2}u||_{L^2} + ||v||_{L^2} \right).$$

Using again the resolvent identity,

$$V = H_0 R_0(z) u + i z^3 R(z) a R_0(z) u + R(z) z i a u + z R(z) v,$$

and we have similarly

$$\left\| H_0^{1/2} V \right\|_{L^2} \lesssim \left(\left\| H_0^{1/2} u \right\|_{L^2} + \|v\|_{L^2} \right).$$

Since $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ is complete and $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is dense in \mathcal{H} , the first statement follows.

• Let $(u, v) \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$. We have

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathcal{A}(u,v),(u,v)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} &= \left\langle H_0^{1/2}v, H_0^{1/2}u\right\rangle_{L^2} + \langle H_0u,v\rangle_{L^2} - i\left\langle av,v\right\rangle_{L^2} \\ &= 2\operatorname{Re}\left\langle H_0^{1/2}v, H_0^{1/2}u\right\rangle_{L^2} - i\left\langle av,v\right\rangle_{L^2}. \end{split}$$

Here the formal integration by parts $\langle H_0 u, v \rangle = \left\langle H_0^{1/2} u, H_0^{1/2} v \right\rangle$ can be justified by approximating u by a Schwartz function (recall that u belongs to \dot{H}^1 and is not necessarily in the domain of $H_0^{1/2}$). This yields

$$\operatorname{Im} \langle \mathcal{A}(u,v), (u,v) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \leq 0$$

and proves that \mathcal{A} is dissipative on \mathcal{H} . Then we only have to check that, for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$, $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{A}}(z)$ is a two sided inverse for $(\mathcal{A}-z)$. Using the density of $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ in \mathcal{H} (by definition) and in $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ (by Proposition 3.2) and using the continuity of $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{A}}(z)$ and $\mathcal{A}-z$ as operators from \mathcal{H} to $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ and from $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ to \mathcal{H} respectively, it suffices to check that $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{A}}(z)(\mathcal{A}-z)=I$ and $(\mathcal{A}-z)\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{A}}(z)=I$ on $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)\times\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, which is then a simple calculation.

This proposition ensures in particular that \mathcal{A} generates a contractions semigroup and hence the well-posedness of the problem (1.6) when $\mathcal{U}_0 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$.

An important property of the resolvent of a dissipative operator are the so-called quadratic estimates. This will be used for the abstract Mourre theory but also in Section 7.3 (see the proof of Proposition 7.15). Note that this result of dissipative nature is already used for the self-adjoint theory since the Mourre technique consists in viewing the positive commutator as a dissipative perturbation of the operator.

Lemma 3.6. Let $T = T_0 - iT_d$ be a maximal dissipative operator on a Hilbert space K, where T_0 is self-adjoint, T_d is self-adjoint and non-negative and $\mathcal{D}(T) \subset \mathcal{D}(T_0) \cap \mathcal{D}(T_d)$. Let B be a bounded operator on K such that $B^*B \leq T_d$. Let $Q \in \mathcal{L}(K)$. Then for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\|B^*(T-\zeta)^{-1}Q\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{K})} \le \|Q^*(T-\zeta)^{-1}Q\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{K})}^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

and

$$\left\|B^* \left(T^* - \overline{\zeta}\right)^{-1} Q\right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{K})} \leqslant \left\|Q^* (T - \zeta)^{-1} Q\right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{K})}^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Let us recall the proof of this result:

Proof. For $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}$ we have

$$\begin{split} \left\|B(T-\zeta)^{-1}Q\varphi\right\|_{\mathcal{K}}^2 &= \left\langle B^*B(T-\zeta)^{-1}Q\varphi, (T-\zeta)^{-1}Q\varphi\right\rangle_{\mathcal{K}} \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{2i}\left\langle (2iT_d+2i\operatorname{Im}\zeta)(T-\zeta)^{-1}Q\varphi, (T-\zeta)^{-1}Q\varphi\right\rangle_{\mathcal{K}} \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{2i}\left\langle Q^*(T^*-\overline{\zeta})^{-1}\big((T^*-\overline{\zeta})-(T-\zeta)\big)(T-\zeta)^{-1}Q\varphi, \varphi\right\rangle_{\mathcal{K}} \\ &\leqslant \left\|Q^*(T-\zeta)^{-1}Q\right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{K})} \left\|\varphi\right\|_{\mathcal{K}}^2, \end{split}$$

which gives the first estimate. Here we used that $\mathcal{D}(T)$ is contained in $\mathcal{D}(T^*)$ which is a simple consequence of the assumption $\mathcal{D}(T) \subset \mathcal{D}(T_0) \cap \mathcal{D}(T_d)$. The second estimate is proved similarly.

Applied to $H_0 - iza$ and $-i(H_0 - iza)$, Lemma 3.6 gives the following estimate for the resolvent R:

Proposition 3.7. Let R be given by (1.8) and $Q \in \mathcal{L}(L^2)$. Then for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$|z| \left\| \sqrt{a(x)} R(z) Q \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)}^2 \le \sqrt{2} \left\| Q^* R(z) Q \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)}.$$

Proof. Let $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$. If $\operatorname{Re} z \geqslant \operatorname{Im} z$ we apply Lemma 3.6 with $T_0 = H_0 + \operatorname{Im}(z)a$, $T_d = \operatorname{Re}(z)a$ and $\zeta = z^2$, $B = B^* = \sqrt{|z|}a$ which gives

$$|z| \left\| \sqrt{a(x)} R(z) Q \right\|^2 \leqslant \sqrt{2} \left\| \sqrt{\operatorname{Re}(z) a(x)} R(z) Q \right\|^2 \leqslant \sqrt{2} \left\| Q^* R(z) Q \right\|.$$

The case $\operatorname{Re}(z) \leq -\operatorname{Im} z$ is proved similarly, using the second estimate of Lemma 3.6. Then assume that $\operatorname{Im} z \geq |\operatorname{Re} z|$. In this case we apply Lemma 3.6 with $T_0 = -\operatorname{Re}(z)a$, $T_d = H_0 + \operatorname{Im}(z)a$, $B = B^* = \sqrt{\operatorname{Im}(z)a}$ and $\zeta = -iz^2$, which gives the same estimate.

4. Time decay for the solution of the wave equation

In this section we show how to derive the local energy decay of Theorem 1.1 from Theorems 1.2, 1.3 and 1.5 about uniform resolvent estimates.

Let $(u_0, u_1) \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$. We denote by $u \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathcal{H})$ the function given by

$$(u(t), i\partial_t u(t)) = e^{-it\mathcal{A}}(u_0, u_1).$$

Then for $\mu > 0$ we define

$$u_{\mu}: t \mapsto e^{-t\mu} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{+}}(t)u(t)$$
 and $\tilde{u}_{\mu}: t \mapsto e^{-t\mu} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{+}}(t)\partial_{t}u(t)$.

Since $e^{-it\mathcal{A}}$ is a contraction of \mathcal{H} for all $t \geq 0$, the function $t \mapsto a\partial_t u$ belongs to $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, L^2(\mathbb{R}^d))$. Then, since $(\partial_t u, H_0 u - ia\partial_t u) = \partial_t (u, i\partial_t u) = -i\mathcal{A}(u, i\partial_t u) = -ie^{-it\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{A}(u_0, u_1)$, the functions $H_0 u$, $\partial_t^2 u$ are also bounded with respect to t. In particular for all $\mu > 0$ the functions u_{μ} and \tilde{u}_{μ} decay rapidly in time, which justifies the computations below.

We consider the inverse Fourier transform of u_{μ} , defined for $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ by

$$(\mathcal{F}^{-1}u_{\mu})(\tau) = \int_0^{+\infty} e^{it\tau} u_{\mu}(t) dt.$$

For all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ it satisfies

$$\frac{d^{n}}{d\tau^{n}}(\mathcal{F}^{-1}u_{\mu})(\tau) = \int_{0}^{+\infty} (it)^{n} e^{it\tau} u_{\mu}(t) dt. \tag{4.1}$$

Let $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ and $z = \tau + i\mu$. We multiply (1.1) by $e^{it(\tau + i\mu)}$ and integrate over $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$. After partial integrations we obtain

$$\mathcal{F}^{-1}u_{\mu}(\tau) = R(z)(au_0 - izu_0 + u_1),\tag{4.2}$$

and then:

$$\mathcal{F}^{-1}\tilde{u}_{\mu}(\tau) = -u_0 - iz\mathcal{F}^{-1}u_{\mu}(\tau) = -u_0 - zR(z)(iau_0 + zu_0 + iu_1). \tag{4.3}$$

Remark 4.1. All the computations below could have been performed with the resolvent of A instead of R, starting from the relation

$$(\mathcal{A} - (\tau + i\mu))^{-1}(u_0, iu_1) = i \int_0^{+\infty} e^{-it(\mathcal{A} - (\tau + i\mu))}(u_0, iu_1) d\tau$$

instead of (4.2). However, the proofs given below would be more complicated from this point of view.

Now we prove the time decay of ∇u_{μ} and \tilde{u}_{μ} , keeping in mind that all the estimates which are uniform in $\mu > 0$ remain true for ∇u and $\partial_t u$. Theorems 1.2, 1.3 and 1.5 provide uniform estimates on the derivatives of $\mathcal{F}^{-1}u_{\mu}$ and $\mathcal{F}^{-1}\tilde{u}_{\mu}$. In order to obtain information on u_{μ} , we first have to inverse the relation (4.1).

Proposition 4.2. Let $\mu > 0$, $v \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $n \geqslant 2$ and $\chi_0 \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, [0, 1])$ be equal to 1 on a neighborhood of 0. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d$ with |a| = 1. Then for all $\delta > n + \frac{1}{2}$ the function

$$\tau \mapsto (1 - \chi_0(\tau)) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \tau D^{\alpha} R^{(n)} (\tau + i\mu) v$$

belongs to $L^1(\mathbb{R}, L^2)$. Moreover the same applies with τD^{α} replaced by τ^2 .

Proof. Let $\tau \in \text{supp}(1-\chi_0)$ and $z=\tau+i\mu$. Using three times the equality

$$R(z) = (1+z^2)^{-1} (R(z)(H_z+1) - 1)$$

we can write

$$R(z) = -\left(1+z^2\right)^{-1} - \left(1+z^2\right)^{-2}(H_z+1) - \left(1+z^2\right)^{-3}(H_z+1)^2 + \left(1+z^2\right)^{-3}R(z)(H_z+1)^3$$

on $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Using Theorems 1.2 and 1.5 we can check that there exists $C \ge 0$ (which depends on v) such that for all $\tau \in \text{supp}(1 - \chi_0)$ we have

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} R^{(n)}(\tau + i\mu) v \right\|_{L^2} \leqslant C \langle \tau \rangle^{-4}$$

and

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} R^{(n)} (\tau + i\mu) v \right\|_{L^2} \leqslant C \langle \tau \rangle^{-3},$$

which proves the proposition.

Let $(u_0, u_1) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $w: z \mapsto au_0 - izu_0 + u_1 \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. By the integrability around 0 given by Theorem 1.3 we can now take the inverse Fourier transform of (4.1) for $n \in [2, d-1]$ and $\delta > n + \frac{1}{2}$: for all $t \ge 0$ we have

$$(it)^{n} \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} (\nabla u_{\mu}, \tilde{u}_{\mu})(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-it\tau} \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \frac{d^{n}}{d\tau^{n}} ((\nabla, -iz)R(z)w(z)) d\tau,$$

where, here and below, z stands for $\tau + i\mu$. Note that for \tilde{u}_{μ} (see (4.3)) we used that $\frac{d^n}{d\tau^n}u_0 = 0$ since $n \neq 0$.

We consider $\chi_0 \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, [0, 1])$ and $\chi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^*, [0, 1])$ two even functions such that $\chi_0 + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \chi_j = 1$ on \mathbb{R}_+ , where for $j \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\tau \in \mathbb{R}_+$ we have set $\chi_j(\tau) = \chi(\frac{\tau}{2^{j-1}})$. In particular χ_0 is equal to 1 in a neighborhood of 0.

Using the partition of unity $\chi_0(\tau) + (1 - \chi_0)(\tau) = 1$, we split the integral into two terms. After an additional partial integration in the second term we obtain

$$(it)^{n} \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} (\nabla u_{\mu}, \tilde{u}_{\mu})(t) = (v_{0,\mu}, \tilde{v}_{0,\mu})(t) + \frac{1}{it} (v_{c,\mu}, \tilde{v}_{c,\mu})(t) + \frac{1}{it} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (v_{j,\mu}, \tilde{v}_{j,\mu})(t), \tag{4.4}$$

where

$$(v_{0,\mu}, \tilde{v}_{0,\mu})(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_0(\tau) e^{-it\tau} \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \frac{d^n}{d\tau^n} ((\nabla, -iz) R(z) w(z)) d\tau, \tag{4.5}$$

$$(v_{c,\mu}, \tilde{v}_{c,\mu})(t) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{D}} \chi'_0(\tau) e^{-it\tau} \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \frac{d^n}{d\tau^n} ((\nabla, -iz) R(z) w(z)) d\tau$$

and for $j \ge 1$:

$$(v_{j,\mu}, \tilde{v}_{j,\mu})(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{D}} \chi_j(\tau) e^{-it\tau} \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \frac{d^{n+1}}{d\tau^{n+1}} ((\nabla, -iz) R(z) w(z)) d\tau.$$

According to Theorem 1.3, the derivatives of $\nabla R(\tau + i\mu)$ and $\tau R(\tau + i\mu)$ are uniformly (in $\mu > 0$) integrable (in τ) around 0 up to order d-1 in suitable weighted spaces. By (4.4) this will lead to a t^{1-d} decay rate for ∇u_{μ} and \tilde{u}_{μ} . Since we cannot perform one more partial integration in (4.5) (the derivative of the resolvent becomes too singular, see Theorem 1.3) we cannot clearly get a t^{-d} decay. In order to get an "almost" t^{-d} decay, we use the following lemma:

Lemma 4.3. Let K be a Hilbert space. Let $f \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^*, K)$ be equal to 0 outside a compact subset of \mathbb{R} , and assume that for some $\gamma \in]0, 1/2[$ and $M_f \geqslant 0$ we have

$$\forall \tau \in \mathbb{R}^*, \quad \|f(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{K}} \leqslant M_f |\tau|^{-\gamma} \quad and \quad \|f'(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{K}} \leqslant M_f |\tau|^{-1-\gamma}.$$

Then there exists $C \geqslant 0$ which does not depend on f and such that for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$\|\hat{f}(t)\|_{\mathcal{K}} \leqslant C M_f \langle t \rangle^{-1+2\gamma}.$$

Proof. We first remark that $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{K})$ and hence $\hat{f} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{K})$ (with a bound which only depends on M_f). The difficulty thus comes from large values of t. If we set $\beta = \frac{1-2\gamma}{1-\gamma} \in]0,1[$ then for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$\|\hat{f}(t)\| \lesssim M_f \langle t \rangle^{-1+2\gamma} + \left\| \int_{|\tau| > t^{-\beta}} e^{-i\tau t} f(\tau) d\tau \right\|.$$

Let $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(]-1,1[,[0,1])$ be such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi = 1$. For $t \ge 2$ and $|\tau| > t^{-1}$ we set

$$f_t(\tau) = \int_{-1}^1 f\left(\tau - \frac{u}{t}\right) \phi(u) du = t \int_{\tau - \frac{1}{t}}^{\tau + \frac{1}{t}} f(y) \phi(t(\tau - y)) dy.$$

According to the mean value inequality we have

$$\left\| \int_{|\tau| \geqslant t^{-\beta}} e^{-i\tau t} \left(f(\tau) - f_t(\tau) \right) d\tau \right\| \leqslant \int_{|\tau| \geqslant t^{-\beta}} \int_{-1}^{1} \left\| f(\tau) - f\left(\tau - \frac{u}{t}\right) \right\| \phi(u) du d\tau$$

$$\lesssim M_f \int_{|\tau| \geqslant t^{-\beta}} \int_{-1}^{1} \left(|\tau| - \frac{1}{t} \right)^{-1-\gamma} \frac{|u|}{t} \phi(u) du d\tau$$

$$\lesssim M_f t^{\gamma\beta - 1}.$$

On the other hand, since

$$\|f_t(t^{-\beta})\| \leqslant \int_{|u| \leqslant 1} \|f\left(t^{-\beta} - \frac{u}{t}\right)\| \phi(u) du \lesssim t^{\beta\gamma}$$

(the same estimate holds for $f_t(-t^{-\beta})$), we obtain by partial integration and using $\int \phi'(u)du = 0$,

$$\left\| \int_{|\tau| \geqslant t^{-\beta}} e^{-i\tau t} f_t(\tau) d\tau \right\| \lesssim M_f t^{\gamma - 1} + t^{-1} \left\| \int_{|\tau| \geqslant t^{-\beta}} e^{-i\tau t} f'_t(\tau) d\tau \right\|$$

$$\lesssim M_f t^{\gamma - 1} + t \int_{|\tau| \geqslant t^{-\beta}} \left\| \int_{\tau - \frac{1}{t}}^{\tau + \frac{1}{t}} f(y) \phi' \left(t(\tau - y) \right) dy \right\| d\tau$$

$$\lesssim M_f t^{\gamma - 1} + \int_{|\tau| \geqslant t^{-\beta}} \int_{-1}^{1} \left\| f \left(\tau - \frac{u}{t} \right) - f(\tau) \right\| |\phi'(u)| du d\tau$$

$$\lesssim M_f t^{\gamma - 1}.$$

This concludes the proof.

We can now estimate the contribution of low frequencies:

Proposition 4.4. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and n = d - 1. Then there exists $C \ge 0$ which does not depend on $(u_0, u_1) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and such that for $t \ge 0$ and $\mu > 0$ we have

$$\|v_{0,\mu}(t)\|_{L^2} + \|\tilde{v}_{0,\mu}(t)\|_{L^2} \leqslant C \langle t \rangle^{-(1-\varepsilon)} \|(u_0, u_1)\|_{L^{2,\delta} \times L^{2,\delta}}.$$

Recall that there is a factor t^{d-1} in the left hand side of (4.4) (applied with n=d-1) so the final the contribution of $v_{0,\mu}(t)$ and $\tilde{v}_{0,\mu}(t)$ in the estimate of Theorem 1.1 will clearly follow from Proposition 4.4.

Proof. The key observation is that we have either a gradient for $v_{0,\mu}(t)$ or an extra factor $z = \tau + i\mu$ for $\tilde{v}_{0,\mu}(t)$, so that both can be estimated by mean of Theorem 1.3, with the same bound as in the second estimate of this theorem. The result is then a direct consequence of Lemma 4.3.

In a similar (and even simpler) fashion, the pair $(v_{c,\mu}(t), \tilde{v}_{c,\mu}(t))$ is estimated thanks to Theorem 1.2. Notice that the resolvent can be differentiated as much as we wish, provided that we consider the appropriate weighted spaces, so the decay in time is actually as fast as we wish. We record the estimate we need without proof in the following proposition.

Proposition 4.5. Let n be chosen arbitrarily and $\delta > n + \frac{1}{2}$. There exists $C \ge 0$ which does not depend on $(u_0, u_1) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and such that for $t \ge 0$ and $\mu > 0$ we have

$$||v_{c,\mu}(t)||_{L^2} + ||\tilde{v}_{c,\mu}(t)||_{L^2} \le C ||(u_0, u_1)||_{L^{2,\delta} \times L^{2,\delta}}.$$

In the rest of this section we estimate the contribution of high frequencies, *i.e.* of the terms $v_{j,\mu}$ and $\tilde{v}_{j,\mu}$, $j \in \mathbb{N}^*$.

Let $\tilde{\chi} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^*, [0, 1])$ be equal to 1 on a neighborhood of supp χ . For $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ and $j \geq 1$ we set $\tilde{\chi}_j(\tau) = \tilde{\chi}(\frac{\tau}{2^{j-1}})$. Let $n \geq 2$, $\delta > n + \frac{1}{2}$, $s \in \{0, 1\}$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$ with $|\alpha| \in \{0, 1\}$ and $v \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. For $j \in \mathbb{N}^*$, $\mu > 0$ and $t \geq 0$ we set

$$I_{j,\mu}(t) = \int_{\mathbb{D}} e^{-it\tau} \tau^{s+1-|\alpha|} \chi_j(\tau) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} R^{(n)}(\tau + i\mu) d\tau \in \mathcal{L}(L^2)$$

and then:

$$u_{1,j,\mu}(t) = \tilde{\chi}_{j}\left(H_{0}^{1/2}\right)I_{j,\mu}(t)\left\langle x\right\rangle^{-\delta}\tilde{\chi}_{j}\left(H_{0}^{1/2}\right)\left\langle x\right\rangle^{\delta}v,$$

$$u_{2,j,\mu}(t) = \tilde{\chi}_j \left(H_0^{1/2} \right) I_{j,\mu}(t) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} \left(1 - \tilde{\chi}_j \left(H_0^{1/2} \right) \right) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{\delta} v$$

and

$$u_{3,j,\mu}(t) = \left(1 - \tilde{\chi}_j(H_0^{1/2})\right) I_{j,\mu}(t)v.$$

Both $v_{j,\mu}$ and $\tilde{v}_{j,\mu}$ are linear combinations of terms of the form $u_{1,j,\mu}(t) + u_{2,j,\mu}(t) + u_{3,j,\mu}(t)$ for some $s \in \{0,1\}$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$ with $|\alpha| \in \{0,1\}$ and $v \in \{u_0,u_1\}$, so we have to prove that there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $t \geqslant 0$ and $\mu > 0$ we have

$$\left\| \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left(u_{1,j,\mu}(t) + u_{2,j,\mu}(t) + u_{3,j,\mu}(t) \right) \right\|_{L^{2}} \leqslant C \|v\|_{H^{1+s,\delta}}. \tag{4.6}$$

Proposition 4.6. There exists $C \ge 0$ which does not depend on $v \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and such that for all $t \ge 0$ and $\mu > 0$ we have

$$\left\| \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} u_{1,j,\mu}(t) \right\|_{L^{2}} \leqslant C \left\| \langle x \rangle^{\delta} v \right\|_{H^{1+s}}.$$

We record that the loss of a derivative in Theorem 1.1 is due to this proposition.

Proof. There exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\forall j, k \in \mathbb{N}^*, \quad |j - k| \geqslant N \implies \operatorname{supp}(\tilde{\chi}_i) \cap \operatorname{supp}(\tilde{\chi}_k) = \emptyset,$$

and hence

$$\left\| \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} u_{1,j,\mu}(t) \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leqslant N \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left\| u_{1,j,\mu}(t) \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

The right-hand side is bounded by the product of

$$N \sup_{j \in \mathbb{N}^*} 2^{-2(s+1)j} \left(\int_{\mathbb{D}} \tau^{s+1-|\alpha|} \chi_j(\tau) \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} R^{(n)}(\tau + i\mu) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} d\tau \right)^2,$$

(which is independent of t and uniformly bounded in μ by Theorem 1.5), and

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} 2^{2(s+1)j} \left\| \tilde{\chi}_j \left(H_0^{1/2} \right) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{\delta} v \right\|_{L^2}^2.$$

The latter is controlled by $\left\| \langle H_0 \rangle^{\frac{s+1}{2}} \langle x \rangle^{\delta} v \right\|_{L^2}^2$, again by almost orthogonality.

Proposition 4.7. There exists $C \geqslant 0$ which does not depend on $v \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and such that for all $j \in \mathbb{N}^*$, $t \geqslant 0$ and $\mu \in]0,1]$ we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \|u_{2,j,\mu}(t)\|_{L^{2}} + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \|u_{3,j,\mu}(t)\|_{L^{2}} \leqslant C \left\| \langle x \rangle^{\delta} \, v \right\|_{L^{2}}.$$

Proof. • We only prove the estimate for $u_{3,j,\mu}(t)$. The estimate for $u_{2,j,\mu}(t)$ can be proved similarly. For this we prove by induction on $n \in \mathbb{N}$ the following statement: for $m \geq n$, $\delta > m + \frac{1}{2}$ and $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^*, [0, 1])$ equal to 1 on a neighborhood of supp χ there exists $C \geq 0$ such that for $j \in \mathbb{N}^*$, $\tau \in \text{supp}(\chi_j)$ and $\mu \in [0, 1]$ we have

$$\tau^{s+1-|\alpha|} \left\| \left(1 - \psi_j \left(H_0^{1/2} \right) \right) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} R^{(m)} (\tau + i\mu) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant C 2^{(s-1-n)j} \tag{4.7}$$

(where $\psi_j(\theta) = \psi(\theta/2^{j-1})$ for all $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$ and $j \in \mathbb{N}^*$). Applied with m = n and $\psi = \tilde{\chi}$, and after integration on τ , this gives

$$||u_{3,j,\mu}(t)|| \lesssim 2^{(s-n)j} ||\langle x \rangle^{\delta} v||_{L^2}$$

from which we get the estimate on $\sum_{j} ||u_{3,j,\mu}(t)||_{L^2}$ since $n \ge 2$. Note that since $\tau \in \text{supp}(\chi_j)$, (4.7) can be rewritten as

$$\left\| \left(1 - \psi_j \left(H_0^{1/2} \right) \right) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} R^{(m)} (\tau + i\mu) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \lesssim 2^{(|\alpha| - 2 - n)j}.$$

• Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $m \geqslant n$. If n > 0 we assume that (4.7) holds up to order n-1. Here we can use pseudo-differential calculus on $\psi_j \left(H_0^{1/2}\right)$ (see [DS99] or Proposition 2.1 in [BT08] in a closer context). Indeed ψ vanishes on a neighborhood of 0 and hence $\psi_j \left(H_0^{1/2}\right)$ can be rewritten as $\tilde{\psi}(h^2H_0)$ where $\tilde{\psi}: \lambda \mapsto \psi(\sqrt{\lambda})$ belongs to $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ and $h = 2^{1-j}$. Let $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^*, [0, 1])$ be equal to 1 on a neighborhood of supp χ and such that $\psi = 1$ on a neighborhood of supp ϕ . As before we set $\phi_j(\theta) = \phi(\theta/2^{j-1})$ for $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$ and $j \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Using Theorem 1.5, we see that for $j \in \mathbb{N}^*$, $\tau \in \text{supp}(\chi_j)$ and $\mu \in]0,1]$ we have

$$\left\| \left(1 - \psi_{j} (H_{0}^{1/2}) \right) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} \phi_{j} (H_{0}^{1/2}) R^{(m)} (\tau + i\mu) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|$$

$$\leq \left\| \left(1 - \psi_{j} (H_{0}^{1/2}) \right) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} \phi_{j} (H_{0}^{1/2}) \langle x \rangle^{\delta} \right\| \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} R^{(m)} (\tau + i\mu) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|$$

$$< 2^{(|\alpha| - 2 - n)j}.$$

Actually the decay could be as fast as we wish since we use the fact that the symbols of $\left(1-\psi_j\left(H_0^{1/2}\right)\right)$ and $\phi_j\left(H_0^{1/2}\right)$ have disjoint supports. Here we have not used the inductive assumption. Since $\left(1-\psi_j\left(H_0^{1/2}\right)\right)$ is a bounded operator on L^2 uniformly in j, it only remains to estimate

$$\langle x \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} \left(1 - \phi_j \left(H_0^{1/2} \right) \right) R^{(m)} (\tau + i\mu) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta}.$$

• For $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$R(z) = R_0(z) + izR_0(z)aR(z),$$
 where $R_0(z) = (H_0 - z^2)^{-1}$.

Differentiating m times we get

$$R^{(m)}(z) = R_0^{(m)}(z) + i \sum_{k=0}^m C_m^k(zR_0)^{(k)}(z) a R^{(m-k)}(z),$$

where zR_0 is the function $z \mapsto zR_0(z)$. For all $k \in \mathbb{N}$ the derivative $R_0^{(k)}(z)$ can be written as a linear combination of terms of the form $z^{\sigma_1}R_0(z)^{\sigma_2}$ where $2\sigma_2 = \sigma_1 + k + 2$. Using the Spectral Theorem and the fact that $1 - \phi$ and χ have disjoint supports, this implies that for $\tau \in \text{supp } \chi_j$, $\mu \in]0,1]$ and $j \in \mathbb{N}^*$ we have

$$\left\| (1 - \phi_j) (H_0^{1/2}) R_0^{(m)} (\tau + i\mu) \right\| \lesssim 2^{-(m+2)j}$$

In particular we have

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} \left(1 - \phi_j \left(H_0^{1/2} \right) \right) R_0^{(m)} (\tau + i\mu) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\| \lesssim 2^{(|\alpha| - m - 2)j}.$$

Here and below the contribution of D^{α} and the uniform control with respect to $z = \tau + i\mu$ follow from the fact that $(1 - \phi_j(H_0^{1/2}))R_0^{(m)}(z)$ is a linear combination of terms of the form

$$(hz)^{\sigma_1} (1 - \phi(hH_0^{1/2})) (h^2H_0 - (hz)^2)^{-\sigma_2} h^{m+2},$$

where $h=2^{-(j-1)}$, $2\sigma_2=\sigma_1+m+2$ and $\operatorname{Re}(hz)$ belongs to a compact disjoint from the support of $1-\phi$. Now let $k\in [\![0,m]\!]$. Let $\sigma\in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^*,[0,1])$ be equal to 1 on a neighborhood of supp χ and such that $\phi=1$ on a neighborhood of supp σ , and $\sigma_j(\theta)=\sigma(\theta/2^{j-1})$ for $\theta\in\mathbb{R}$ and $j\in\mathbb{N}^*$. For $\tau\in\operatorname{supp}\chi_j,\ \mu\in]0,1],\ z=\tau+i\mu$ and $j\in\mathbb{N}^*$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} \left(1 - \phi_{j} \left(H_{0}^{1/2} \right) \right) (zR_{0})^{(k)}(z) aR^{(m-k)}(z) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\| \\ &\lesssim \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} \left(1 - \phi_{j} \left(H_{0}^{1/2} \right) \right) (zR_{0})^{(k)}(z) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{\delta} a\sigma_{j} \left(H_{0}^{1/2} \right) \right\| \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} R^{(m-k)}(z) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\| \\ &+ \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} \left(1 - \phi_{j} \left(H_{0}^{1/2} \right) \right) (zR_{0})^{(k)}(z) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{\delta} a \right\| \left\| \left(1 - \sigma_{j} \left(H_{0}^{1/2} \right) \right) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} R^{(m-k)}(z) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\| \\ &\lesssim 2^{(\alpha - 2 - n)j} + 2^{(\alpha - k - 1)j} 2^{(k - n - 1)j} \lesssim 2^{(\alpha - 2 - n)j}. \end{aligned}$$

The first term and the first norm of the second term are estimated as above by the pseudo-differential calculus and Theorem 1.5. The estimate of the second norm comes from Theorem 1.5 if $n \leq k$, and from (4.7) applied with n-1-k and $\alpha=0$ otherwise (we observe that if n=0 the estimate on this norm uses only Theorem 1.5 and no inductive assumption). This gives (4.7) by induction and hence concludes the proof of the proposition.

According to (4.6), Propositions 4.4, 4.6 and 4.7 prove Theorem 1.1. Now the rest of the paper is devoted to the proofs of Theorems 1.2, 1.3, 1.4 and 1.5.

5. RESOLVENT ESTIMATES FOR AN ABSTRACT DISSIPATIVE OPERATOR

5.1. Multiple commutators method in the dissipative setting. In this paragraph we first recall Mourre's commutators method in an abstract dissipative context, and then we derive uniform estimates for the powers of the resolvent, generalizing the results of [JMP84, Jen85]. We will show in Paragraph 5.2 how to deal with the inserted factors mentioned after Theorem 1.2.

Let \mathcal{H} be a Hilbert space. We consider on \mathcal{H} a family of abstract operators $(\mathcal{H}_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ (parametrized by any set Λ) of the form $H_{\lambda} = H_{\lambda}^{1} - iV_{\lambda}$ where the operators H_{λ}^{1} and V_{λ} are self-adjoint and the domain \mathcal{D}_H of H^1_{λ} is independent of λ . Moreover V_{λ} is non-negative and uniformly H^1_{λ} -bounded with bound less than 1: there exist $a \in [0,1[$ and $b \ge 0$ such that

$$\forall \lambda \in \Lambda, \forall \varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{H}, \quad \|V_{\lambda}\varphi\|_{\mathcal{H}} \leqslant a \|H_{\lambda}^{1}\varphi\|_{\mathcal{H}} + b \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{H}}.$$

In particular for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ the operator H_{λ} is maximal dissipative, and its adjoint is $H_{\lambda}^{1} + iV_{\lambda}$ with domain $\mathcal{D}(H_{\lambda}^*) = \mathcal{D}(H_{\lambda}) = \mathcal{D}_H$ (see Lemma 2.1 in [Roy10b]).

Let J be an open interval of \mathbb{R} . Let $(A_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in \Lambda}$ be a family of self-adjoint operators on \mathcal{H} and $(\alpha_{\lambda})_{{\lambda}\in{\Lambda}}\in]0,1]^{\Lambda}.$

Definition 5.1. The operators $(A_{\lambda})_{{\lambda}\in\Lambda}$ are said to be uniformly conjugate to $(H_{\lambda})_{{\lambda}\in\Lambda}$ on J with lower bounds $(\alpha_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ if there exists a bounded family of non-negative numbers $(\beta_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$

- (a) The domain of A_{λ} does not depend on $\lambda \in \Lambda$ (it is denoted by \mathcal{D}_A), and $\mathcal{D}_H \cap \mathcal{D}_A$ is dense in \mathcal{D}_H endowed with the graph norm $\varphi \mapsto \|(H^1_{\lambda} - i)\varphi\|$ for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$. (b) For all $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\lambda \in \Lambda$ we have $e^{itA_{\lambda}}\mathcal{D}_H \subset \mathcal{D}_H$, and

$$\forall \lambda \in \Lambda, \forall \varphi \in \mathcal{D}_H, \quad \sup_{|t| \leq 1} \|H_{\lambda}^1 e^{itA_{\lambda}} \varphi\| < \infty.$$

(c) For all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ the quadratic forms $\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}(H^{1}_{\lambda})$ and $\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}(V_{\lambda})$ defined on $\mathcal{D}_{H} \cap \mathcal{D}_{A}$ are bounded from below and closable. If we still denote by $\mathrm{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}(H^1_{\lambda})$ and $\mathrm{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}(V_{\lambda})$ the associated selfadjoint operators, then $\mathcal{D}_H \subset \mathcal{D}(\mathrm{ad}_{iA_\lambda}(H_\lambda^1)) \cap \mathcal{D}(\mathrm{ad}_{iA_\lambda}(V_\lambda))$ and there exists $c \geqslant 0$ such that for $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{D}_H$ we have

$$\|\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}(H_{\lambda}^{1})\varphi\| + \|\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}(V_{\lambda})\varphi\| \leqslant c\sqrt{\alpha_{\lambda}} \|(H_{\lambda}^{1} - i)\varphi\|$$

and

$$\beta_{\lambda} \|V_{\lambda}\varphi\| \|\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}(H_{\lambda}^{1})\psi\| \leq c \alpha_{\lambda} \|(H_{\lambda}^{1} - i)\varphi\| \|(H_{\lambda}^{1} - i)\psi\|.$$

(d) There exists $c \ge 0$ such that for $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{D}_H \cap \mathcal{D}_A$ we have

$$\left|\left\langle \operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}(H_{\lambda}^{1})\varphi, A_{\lambda}\psi\right\rangle - \left\langle A_{\lambda}\varphi, \operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}(H_{\lambda}^{1})\psi\right\rangle\right| \leqslant c\,\alpha_{\lambda}\left\|(H_{\lambda}^{1} - i)\varphi\right\|\left\|(H_{\lambda}^{1} - i)\psi\right\|.$$

Moreover we have similar estimates if we replace $\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}(H^{1}_{\lambda})$ by $\beta_{\lambda}V_{\lambda}$ or $\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}(V_{\lambda})$.

(e) For all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ we have

$$\mathbb{1}_{J}(H_{\lambda}^{1})\left(\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}(H_{\lambda}^{1}) + \beta_{\lambda}V_{\lambda}\right)\mathbb{1}_{J}(H_{\lambda}^{1}) \geqslant \alpha_{\lambda}\mathbb{1}_{J}(H_{\lambda}^{1}). \tag{5.1}$$

Up to the parameter dependence, these conditions are the standard ones when there is no dissipative perturbation (see [Mou81]). In the applications, introducing a parameter will be particularly useful to handle the low and high frequency regimes. At low frequency, λ will correspond to the rescaling factor $|z| \ll 1$, $A_{\lambda} = A$ to the standard generator of dilations and H_{λ} to the rescaled operator P_z (see (7.6)). At high frequency, λ will be the semiclassical parameter h, $H_{\lambda} = H_h^{\sigma}$ (see (8.1)) and A_h will be a modification of the conjugate operator of Gérard-Martinez (to handle the possible bounded trajectories), see (8.7). We refer a reader non familiar with the Mourre Theory to the Appendix B where we consider a simple example with $H_1 = -\Delta$.

In [Roy10b], the following extension to Mourre's result has been proved:

Theorem 5.2. Suppose $(A_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in {\Lambda}}$ is uniformly conjugate to $(H_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in {\Lambda}}$ on J with bounds $(\alpha_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in {\Lambda}}$. Let $\delta \in \left[\frac{1}{2}, 1\right]$ and let I be a closed subinterval of J.

(i) There exists $c \ge 0$ such that for $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $z \in \mathbb{C}_{I,+}$ we have

$$\left\| \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle^{-\delta} (H_{\lambda} - z)^{-1} \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} \leqslant \frac{c}{\alpha_{\lambda}}.$$

(ii) There exists $c \ge 0$ such that for $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $z, z' \in \mathbb{C}_{I,+}$ we have

$$\left\| \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} \left((H_{\lambda} - z)^{-1} - (H_{\lambda} - z')^{-1} \right) \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} \leqslant c \alpha_{\lambda}^{-\frac{4\delta}{2\delta + 1}} |z - z'|^{\frac{2\delta - 1}{2\delta + 1}}.$$

(iii) For any $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $\tau \in I$ the limit

$$\langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} (H_{\lambda} - (\tau + i0))^{-1} \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} = \lim_{\mu \to 0^{+}} \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} (H_{\lambda} - (\tau + i\mu))^{-1} \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta}$$

exists in $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ and define a Hölder-continuous function of τ .

We now extend this result to multiple resolvent estimates, following the ideas of [JMP84] and [Jen85]. To this purpose we need more commutators estimates.

Let us assume that $(A_{\lambda})_{{\lambda}\in{\Lambda}}$ is uniformly conjugate to $(H_{\lambda})_{{\lambda}\in{\Lambda}}$ on J for lower bounds $(\alpha_{\lambda})_{{\lambda}\in{\Lambda}}$. For $n \geq 2$, as long as the forms $[\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}^{n-1}(H_{\lambda}^{1}), iA_{\lambda}]$ and $[\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}^{n-1}(V_{\lambda}), iA_{\lambda}]$ are closable and semi-bounded we consider the corresponding operators denoted by $\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}^{n}(H_{\lambda}^{1})$ and $\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}^{n}(V_{\lambda})$. Then we set $\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}^{n}(H_{\lambda}) = \operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}^{n}(H_{\lambda}^{1}) - i\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}^{n}(V_{\lambda})$. In general, defining such iterated commutators and their closures has to be handle with caution (see e.g. [JMP84]). In our applications, however, we will only consider (pseudo)differential operators on \mathbb{R}^n for which there will be no problem.

Now we can define N-smoothness as in the self-adjoint case, taking into account the commutators of the dissipative part with the conjugate operator:

Definition 5.3. Let $N \ge 2$. Then H_{λ} is said to be uniformly N-smooth with respect to A_{λ} if in addition to the assumptions of Definition 5.1 the following conditions are satisfied:

 (c_n) For all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $n \in [2, N]$ the operators $\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}^{n}(H_{\lambda}^{1})$ and $\operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}^{n}(V_{\lambda})$ are well-defined and their domains contain \mathcal{D}_H . Moreover there exists $c \geqslant 0$ such that

$$\forall n \in [2, N], \forall \lambda \in \Lambda, \forall \varphi \in \mathcal{D}_H, \quad \left\| \operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}^n(H_{\lambda}) \varphi \right\| \leqslant c \, \alpha_{\lambda} \, \left\| (H_{\lambda}^1 - i) \varphi \right\|.$$

 (d_n) There exists $c \ge 0$ such that for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{D}_H \cap \mathcal{D}_A$ we have

$$\left| \left\langle \operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}^{N}(H_{\lambda})\varphi, A_{\lambda}\psi \right\rangle - \left\langle A_{\lambda}\varphi, \operatorname{ad}_{iA_{\lambda}}^{N}(H_{\lambda})\psi \right\rangle \right| \leqslant c \,\alpha_{\lambda} \left\| (H_{\lambda}^{1} - i)\varphi \right\| \left\| (H_{\lambda}^{1} - i)\psi \right\|.$$

Moreover we say that H_{λ} is uniformly ∞ -smooth with respect to A_{λ} if it is N-smooth for all $N \geqslant 2$.

Under such a smoothness assumption, we can prove uniform estimates for the powers of the resolvent of H_{λ} . To this purpose we follow the ideas of [Jen85], to which we refer for the proofs. The strategy consists of reducing estimates for the powers of the resolvent to estimates of the resolvent involving spectral projections of the conjugate operator A_{λ} on \mathbb{R}_{+} and \mathbb{R}_{-} . The following abstract statement summarizes and generalizes Lemmas 2.1 and 2.2 of [Jen85]:

Lemma 5.4. Let Q, P_+ and P_- be bounded operators on \mathcal{H} such that $P_+ + P_- = 1$ and Q is self-adjoint, bounded, with $Q^{-1} \geqslant 1$. Let $l \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and let R_1, \ldots, R_l be bounded operators on \mathcal{H} . Suppose that there exist $\sigma \in]0,1], N > \sigma$ and $c_1,\ldots,c_l > 0$ such that for any $j \in [1,l]$ we have

- $\begin{aligned} &(a_{1}) \ \|Q^{\sigma}R_{j}Q^{\sigma}\| \leqslant c_{j}, \\ &(b_{1}) \ \|Q^{1-\delta}P_{-}R_{j}Q^{\delta}\| \leqslant c_{j} \ for \ all \ \delta \in [\sigma, N[, \\ &(c_{1}) \ \|Q^{\delta}R_{j}P_{+}Q^{1-\delta}\| \leqslant c_{j} \ for \ all \ \delta \in [\sigma, N[, \\ &(d_{1}) \ \|Q^{-\delta_{1}}P_{-}R_{j}P_{+}Q^{-\delta_{2}}\| \leqslant c_{j} \ for \ all \ \delta_{1}, \delta_{2} \geqslant 0 \ such \ that \ \delta_{1} + \delta_{2} < N 1. \end{aligned}$

- Then for all $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ such that $n < N + 1 \sigma$ and $j_1, \ldots, j_n \in [\![1, l]\!]$ we have $(a_n) \ \|Q^{n-1+\sigma}R_{j_1} \ldots R_{j_n}Q^{n-1+\sigma}\| \leqslant 2^{n-1}c_{j_1} \ldots c_{j_n},$ $(b_n) \ \|Q^{n-\delta}P_-R_{j_1} \ldots R_{j_n}Q^{\delta}\| \leqslant 2^{n-1}c_{j_1} \ldots c_{j_n} \text{ for all } \delta \in [n-1+\sigma, N[, (c_n) \ \|Q^{\delta}R_{j_1} \ldots R_{j_n}P_+Q^{n-\delta}\| \leqslant 2^{n-1}c_{j_1} \ldots c_{j_n} \text{ for all } \delta \in [n-1+\sigma, N[, (d_n) \ \|Q^{-\delta_1}P_-R_{j_1} \ldots R_{j_n}P_+Q^{-\delta_2}\| \leqslant 2^{n-1}c_{j_1} \ldots c_{j_n} \text{ for all } \delta_1, \delta_2 \geqslant 0 \text{ such that } \delta_1 + \delta_2 < N n$

Proof. This lemma can be proved as the original one by induction on $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ by inserting $Q^{s_1}Q^{-s_1}P_- + P_+Q^{-s_2}Q^{s_2} = 1$ between the factors R_{j_1} and R_{j_2} or $R_{j_{n-1}}$ and R_{j_n} , for suitable $s_1, s_2 \in \mathbb{R}$. We omit the details.

We want to apply this lemma with $R_j = (H_{\lambda} - z)^{-1}$, $Q = \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-1}$ and $P_{\pm} = \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{\pm}}(A_{\lambda})$. We already have (a_1) by Theorem 5.2, so in order to obtain (a_n) , (b_n) , (c_n) and (d_n) , it remains to prove (b_1) , (c_1) and (d_1) . The following proposition states that (d_1) holds true:

Proposition 5.5. Let $N \ge 2$. Suppose $(A_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in {\Lambda}}$ is uniformly conjugate to $(H_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in {\Lambda}}$ on J with lower bound $(\alpha_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in {\Lambda}}$ and H_{λ} is N-smooth with respect to A_{λ} . Let I be a compact subinterval of J and $\delta_1, \delta_2 \ge 0$ such that $\delta_1 + \delta_2 < N - 1$.

(i) There exists $c \geqslant 0$ such that

$$\forall \lambda \in \Lambda, \forall z \in \mathbb{C}_{I,+}, \quad \left\| \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta_1} \, \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_-}(A_{\lambda})(H_{\lambda} - z)^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_+}(A_{\lambda}) \, \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta_2} \right\| \leqslant \frac{c}{\alpha_{\lambda}}.$$

(ii) For $\tau \in I$ the limit

$$\langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta_{1}} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{-}} (A_{\lambda}) (H_{\lambda} - (\tau + i0))^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} (A_{\lambda}) \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta_{2}}$$

$$= \lim_{\mu \to 0^{+}} \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta_{1}} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{-}} (A_{\lambda}) (H_{\lambda} - (\tau + i\mu))^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} (A_{\lambda}) \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta_{2}}$$

exists in $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ and define a Hölder-continuous function of τ .

The next proposition shows that (b_1) and (c_1) hold true as well.

Proposition 5.6. Let $N \ge 2$. Suppose $(A_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in {\Lambda}}$ is uniformly conjugate to $(H_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in {\Lambda}}$ on J with lower bound $(\alpha_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in {\Lambda}}$ and H_{λ} is N-smooth with respect to A_{λ} . Let I be a compact subinterval of J and $\delta \in]\frac{1}{2}, N[$.

(i) There exists $c \ge 0$ such that

$$\forall \lambda \in \Lambda, \forall z \in \mathbb{C}_{I,+}, \quad \left\| \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} \left(H_{\lambda} - z \right)^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} (A_{\lambda}) \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle^{\delta - 1} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} \leqslant \frac{c}{\alpha_{\lambda}}. \tag{5.2}$$

(ii) For $\tau \in I$ the limit

$$\langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} (H_{\lambda} - (\tau + i0))^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} (A_{\lambda}) \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta' - 1}$$

$$= \lim_{\mu \to 0^{+}} \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} (H_{\lambda} - (\tau + i\mu))^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} (A_{\tau}) \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta' - 1}$$

exists in $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ and define a Hölder-continuous function of τ .

(iii) We have similar results for the operator

$$\langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} (H_{\lambda}^* - \overline{z})^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{-}} (A_{\lambda}) \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta - 1}$$

and hence, taking the adjoint, for

$$\langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta-1} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{-}}(A_{\lambda})(H_{\lambda}-z)^{-1} \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta}.$$

To prove these two results we follow word for word the proofs of the self-adjoint analogues given in [Jen85] (they are also rewritten with full details for a family of dissipative operators in [Roy10a]). Now using Lemma 5.4 we get uniform estimates for the powers of the resolvent, which gives regularity for the limit $(H_{\lambda} - (\tau + i0))^{-1}$ with respect to τ . These conclusions are summarized in the next two theorems.

Theorem 5.7. Let $N \ge 2$. Suppose $(A_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in \Lambda}$ is uniformly conjugate to $(H_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in \Lambda}$ on J with lower bound $(\alpha_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in \Lambda}$ and H_{λ} is N-smooth with respect to A_{λ} . Let I be a compact subinterval of J and $n \in [\![1,N]\!]$.

(i) If $\delta > n - \frac{1}{2}$ there exists $c \geqslant 0$ such that

$$\forall \lambda \in \Lambda, \forall z \in \mathbb{C}_{I,+}, \quad \left\| \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} \left(H_{\lambda} - z \right)^{-n} \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} \right\| \leqslant \frac{c}{\alpha_{\lambda}^{n}}.$$

(ii) If $\delta \in \left] n - \frac{1}{2}, N \right[$ there exists $c \geqslant 0$ such that

$$\forall \lambda \in \Lambda, \forall z \in \mathbb{C}_{I,+}, \quad \left\| \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle^{\delta-n} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{-}} (A_{\lambda}) (H_{\lambda} - z)^{-n} \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\| \leqslant \frac{c}{\alpha_{\lambda}^{n}}.$$

(iii) If $\delta \in \left] n - \frac{1}{2}, N \right[$ there exists $c \geqslant 0$ such that

$$\forall \lambda \in \Lambda, \forall z \in \mathbb{C}_{I,+}, \quad \left\| \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} \left(H_{\lambda} - z \right)^{-n} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} (A_{\lambda}) \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle^{\delta - n} \right\| \leqslant \frac{c}{\alpha_{\lambda}^{n}}.$$

(iv) If $\delta_1, \delta_2 \geqslant 0$ satisfy $\delta_1 + \delta_2 < N - n$ there exists $c \geqslant 0$ such that

$$\forall \lambda \in \Lambda, \forall z \in \mathbb{C}_{I,+}, \quad \left\| \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta_1} \, \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{-}}(A_{\lambda})(H_{\lambda} - z)^{-n} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{+}}(A_{\lambda}) \, \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta_2} \right\| \leqslant \frac{c}{\alpha_{\lambda}^n}.$$

(v) Moreover these operators have a limit in $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ when $\operatorname{Im} z \to 0^+$ if $\langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta - n}$ is replaced by $\langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta' - n}$ for some $\delta' \in]-\infty, \delta[$ in (ii) and (iii). These limits define Hölder-continuous functions on I.

Theorem 5.8. Let $N \ge 2$. Suppose $(A_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in \Lambda}$ is uniformly conjugate to $(H_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in \Lambda}$ on J with lower bound $(\alpha_{\lambda})_{{\lambda} \in \Lambda}$ and H_{λ} is N-smooth with respect to A_{λ} . Let I be a compact subinterval of J and $n \in [\![1,N]\!]$.

(i) If $\delta > n - \frac{1}{2}$ then for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $\tau \in I$ the limit

$$\langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} (H_{\lambda} - (\tau + i0))^{-1} \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta}$$

exists in $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ and defines a function of class C^{n-1} on I.

(ii) If $\delta \in \left] n - \frac{1}{2}, N \right[$ and $\delta' < \delta'$ then for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $\tau \in I$ the limits

$$\langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} (H_{\lambda} - (\tau + i0))^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} (A_{\lambda}) \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta' - n}$$

and

$$\langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta'-n} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{-}} (A_{\lambda}) (H_{\lambda} - (\tau + i0))^{-1} \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta}$$

exist in $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ and define functions of class C^{n-1} on I.

(iii) If $\delta_1, \delta_2 \geqslant 0$ satisfy $\delta_1 + \delta_2 < N - n$ then for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $\tau \in I$ the limit

$$\langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta_1} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_-} (A_{\lambda}) (H_{\lambda} - (\tau + i0))^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_+} (A_{\lambda}) \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta_2}$$

exists in $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ and defines a function of class C^{n-1} on I.

5.2. Inserted factors. As mentioned in the introduction, the derivatives of our resolvent R(z) defined in (1.8) are not given by linear combinations of its powers. We have to take into account that multiplications by the absorption index a are inserted between some of the factors R(z). More precisely we have the following result:

Proposition 5.9. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ the derivative $R^{(n)}(z)$ is a linear combination of terms of the form

$$z^k R(z) a(x)^{j_1} R(z) a(x)^{j_2} \dots a(x)^{j_m} R(z)$$

where $m \in [0, n]$ (there are m + 1 factors R(z)), $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $j_1, \ldots, j_m \in \{0, 1\}$ and $n = 2m - k - (j_1 + \cdots + j_m)$.

Proof. This is an easy induction which we omit (use (1.9)).

Thus we cannot apply directly Theorem 5.7 to estimate the derivatives of R(z) uniformly in z. To include such a situation, we prove that a certain class of operators can be inserted between the resolvents in Theorem 5.7.

Definition 5.10. Let A be an operator on the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} and $N \in \mathbb{N}$. We say that the operator $\Phi \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ belongs to $\mathcal{C}_N(A)$ if the commutators $\operatorname{ad}_A^n(\Phi)$ for $n \in [0, N]$, defined iteratively in the sense of forms on $\mathcal{D}(A)$, extend to bounded operators on \mathcal{H} . In this case we set

$$\|\Phi\|_{A,N} = \sum_{n=0}^{N} \|\operatorname{ad}_{A}^{n}(\Phi)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})}.$$

If $\Phi = (\Phi_1, \Phi_2) \in \mathcal{C}_N(A)^2$, we also denote by $\|\Phi\|_{A,N}$ the product $\|\Phi_1\|_{A,N} \|\Phi_2\|_{A,N}$.

This definition implies that $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}_N(A)$ preserves the domain of A^n for all $n \in [0, N]$. More generally, $\operatorname{ad}_A^m(\Phi)$ preserves the domain of A^n as long as $n + m \leq N$. This remark will be implicitly used below to justify the standard algebraic computations such as (5.3).

Proposition 5.11. Let A be a self-adjoint operator on \mathcal{H} and $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $\Phi_1, \Phi_2 \in \mathcal{C}_N(A)$. Then $\Phi_1\Phi_2 \in \mathcal{C}_N(A)$ and

$$\|\Phi_1\Phi_2\|_{A,N} \leqslant 2^N \|\Phi_1\|_{A,N} \|\Phi_2\|_{A,N}$$
.

Proof. This comes from the equality

$$\operatorname{ad}_{A}^{N}(\Phi_{1}\Phi_{2}) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} C_{N}^{n} \operatorname{ad}_{A}^{n}(\Phi_{1}) \operatorname{ad}_{A}^{N-n}(\Phi_{2}).$$
(5.3)

Proposition 5.12. Let A be a self-adjoint operator on \mathcal{H} , $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta \in [-N, N]$. Then there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}_N(A)$ we have

$$\left\| \left\langle A \right\rangle^{\delta} \Phi \left\langle A \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} \leqslant C \left\| \Phi \right\|_{A,N}.$$

Proof. First assume that $\delta \in [0, N]$. For all $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}_N(A)$ we have

$$(A-i)^{\delta}\Phi = \sum_{m=0}^{\delta} C_{\delta}^{k}(-1)^{k} \operatorname{ad}_{A}^{k}(\Phi)(A-i)^{\delta-k},$$

from which the estimate easily follows. We proceed similarly if δ is a negative integer, and we conclude by interpolation.

Let $f \in S^{-\rho}(\mathbb{R})$ for some $\rho > 0$. We consider an almost analytic extension \tilde{f} of f (see [DS99, Dav95]):

$$\tilde{f}(x+iy) = \psi\left(\frac{y}{\langle x \rangle}\right) \sum_{k=0}^{m} f^{(k)}(x) \frac{(iy)^k}{k!}$$

where $m \ge 2$ and $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, [0, 1])$ is supported on [-2, 2] and equal to 1 on [-1, 1]. Writing $\zeta = x + iy$ we have

$$\frac{\partial \tilde{f}}{\partial \overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) = \frac{\partial_x + i\partial_y}{2} \psi\left(\frac{y}{\langle x \rangle}\right) \sum_{k=0}^m f^{(k)}(x) \frac{(iy)^k}{k!} + \frac{1}{2} \psi\left(\frac{y}{\langle x \rangle}\right) f^{(m+1)}(x) \frac{(iy)^m}{m!},$$

and in particular

$$\left| \frac{\partial \tilde{f}}{\partial \overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) \right| \leq \mathbb{1}_{\{\langle \operatorname{Re} \zeta \rangle \leq |\operatorname{Im} \zeta| \leq 2\langle \operatorname{Re} \zeta \rangle\}}(\zeta) \langle \operatorname{Re} \zeta \rangle^{-1-\rho} + \mathbb{1}_{\{|\operatorname{Im} \zeta| \leq 2\langle \operatorname{Re} \zeta \rangle\}}(\zeta) |\operatorname{Im} \zeta|^{m} \langle \operatorname{Re} \zeta \rangle^{-m-1-\rho}.$$

$$(5.4)$$

Thus for any self-adjoint operator A we can write the Helffer-Sjöstrand formula for f(A):

$$f(A) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\zeta = x + iy \in \mathbb{C}} \frac{\partial \tilde{f}}{\partial \overline{\zeta}} (\zeta) (A - \zeta)^{-1} dx dy$$
 (5.5)

(see [DS99, Dav95] for more details)

Proposition 5.13. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}_N(A)$. Let $\delta_1, \delta_2 \in \mathbb{R}_+$ be such that $\delta_1 + \delta_2 < N$. Let $g_- \in S^{\delta_1}(\mathbb{R})$ and $g_+ \in S^{\delta_2}(\mathbb{R})$ be such that $\sup g_- \cap \sup g_+ = \emptyset$. Then there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for any self-adjoint operator A and any $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}_N(A)$ we have

$$||g_{-}(A)\Phi g_{+}(A)||_{\mathcal{L}(L^{2})} \leqslant C ||\Phi||_{A,N}.$$

Proof. Let $\varepsilon = N - \delta_1 - \delta_2 > 0$. We can write

$$g_{+}(A) = \langle A \rangle^{\delta_2 + \varepsilon} \prod_{j=1}^{N} g_j(A)$$

where for all $j \in [1, N]$ we have $g_j \in S^{-\varepsilon/N}(\mathbb{R})$ and supp $g_- \cap \text{supp } g_j = \emptyset$. Then we have

$$g_{-}(A)\Phi g_{+}(A) = g_{-}(A) \left(\operatorname{ad}_{g_{1}(A)} \dots \operatorname{ad}_{g_{N}(A)} \Phi \right) \langle A \rangle^{\delta_{2} + \varepsilon}$$

According to (5.5) we have

$$\left(\prod_{j=1}^{N} \operatorname{ad}_{g_{j}(A)}\right) \Phi$$

$$= \frac{1}{\pi^{N}} \int_{\zeta_{1}} \dots \int_{\zeta_{N}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{N} \frac{\partial \tilde{g}_{j}}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_{j}} (\zeta_{j}) (A - \zeta_{j})^{-1}\right) \operatorname{ad}_{A}^{N} \Phi \prod_{j=1}^{N} (A - \zeta_{j})^{-1} dx_{N} dy_{N} \dots dx_{1} dy_{1}.$$

For $\gamma \in [0,1]$ and $\zeta \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$\|\langle A \rangle^{\gamma} (A - \zeta)^{-1}\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} \lesssim \frac{\langle \operatorname{Re} \zeta \rangle^{\gamma}}{|\operatorname{Im} \zeta|},$$

so according to (5.4) (with $\rho = \varepsilon/N$) there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for $j \in [1, N]$ and $\zeta_j \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$\left| \frac{\partial \tilde{g}_j}{\partial \overline{\zeta}_j} (\zeta_j) \right| \left\| \langle A \rangle^{\frac{\delta_1}{N}} (A - \zeta_j)^{-1} \right\| \left\| (A - \zeta_j)^{-1} \langle A \rangle^{\frac{\delta_2 + \varepsilon}{N}} \right\| \leqslant C \left\langle \zeta_j \right\rangle^{-2 - \frac{\varepsilon}{N}}.$$

The result follows after integration.

We can now state the main result of this section. Let $N \geq 2$. The families of operators $(A_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ and $(H_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ are as before. We also consider for all $k \in [\![1,N]\!]$ and $\lambda \in \Lambda$ a pair $\Phi_{k,\lambda} = (\Phi_{k,\lambda,1}, \Phi_{k,\lambda,2})$ of operators in $\mathcal{C}_N(A_{\lambda})$. For $k \in [\![1,N]\!]$ and $\lambda \in \Lambda$ we set

$$R_{k,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z) = \Phi_{k,\lambda,1}(H_{\lambda} - z)^{-1}\Phi_{k,\lambda,2}.$$

Theorem 5.14. Suppose $(A_{\lambda})_{{\lambda}\in\Lambda}$ is uniformly conjugate to $(H_{\lambda})_{{\lambda}\in\Lambda}$ on J with lower bound $(\alpha_{\lambda})_{{\lambda}\in\Lambda}$ and H_{λ} is N-smooth with respect to A_{λ} . Let I be a compact subinterval of J and $n \in [\![1,N]\!]$.

(i) If $\delta > n - \frac{1}{2}$ there exists $c \geqslant 0$ such that for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $z \in \mathbb{C}_{I,+}$ we have

$$\left\| \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} R_{1,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z) \dots R_{n,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z) \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} \right\| \leqslant \frac{c}{\alpha_{\lambda}^{n}} \prod_{k=1}^{n} \left\| \Phi_{k,\lambda} \right\|_{A_{\lambda},N}.$$

(ii) If $\delta \in]n - \frac{1}{2}, N[$ there exists $c \ge 0$ such that for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $z \in \mathbb{C}_{I,+}$ we have

$$\left\| \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta - n} \, \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{-}}(A_{\lambda}) R_{1,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z) \dots R_{n,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z) \, \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} \right\| \leqslant \frac{c}{\alpha_{\lambda}^{n}} \prod_{k=1}^{n} \left\| \Phi_{k,\lambda} \right\|_{A_{\lambda},N}.$$

(iii) If $\delta \in [n-\frac{1}{2}, N[$ there exists $c \ge 0$ such that for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $z \in \mathbb{C}_{I,+}$ we have

$$\left\| \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle^{-\delta} R_{1,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z) \dots R_{n,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z) \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{+}}(A_{\lambda}) \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle^{\delta-n} \right\| \leqslant \frac{c}{\alpha_{\lambda}^{n}} \prod_{k=1}^{n} \left\| \Phi_{k,\lambda} \right\|_{A_{\lambda},N}.$$

(iv) If $\delta_1, \delta_2 \geqslant 0$ satisfy $\delta_1 + \delta_2 < N - n$ there exists $c \geqslant 0$ such that for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $z \in \mathbb{C}_{I,+}$ we have

$$\left\| \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta_1} \, \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{-}}(A_{\lambda}) R_{1,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z) \dots R_{n,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z) \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{+}}(A_{\lambda}) \, \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta_2} \right\| \leqslant \frac{c}{\alpha_{\lambda}^n} \, \prod_{k=1}^n \left\| \Phi_{k,\lambda} \right\|_{A_{\lambda},N}.$$

Since the identity operator always belongs to $C_N(A_\lambda)$ with norm 1, Theorem 5.14 can be seen as a generalization of Theorem 5.7.

Note that in all these estimates the constants c may depend on $(H_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ and $(A_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ (in fact they depend on the constants which appears in properties (c_n) and (d_n) of Definition 5.3), but they do not depend on the inserted factors $\Phi_{k,\lambda}$.

Proof. To prove this theorem we apply Lemma 5.4 with $R_j = R_{j,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z)$ instead of $(H_{\lambda} - z)^{-1}$. Let $\delta \in \left[\frac{1}{2}, N\right[$. According to Theorem 5.7 and Proposition 5.12 we have for all $j \in [1, N]$

$$\left\| \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} R_{j,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z) \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} \lesssim \frac{\|\Phi_{j,\lambda}\|_{A,N}}{\alpha_{\lambda}}.$$

Now let $\chi_0 \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, [0, 1])$ be equal to 1 in a neighborhood of 0 and $\chi_{\pm} = (1 - \chi_0) \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{\pm}} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, [0, 1])$. For $* \in \{-, 0, +\}, \lambda \in \Lambda, z \in \mathbb{C}_{I, +} \text{ and } j \in [1, N] \text{ we set}$

$$\Theta_{j,\lambda}^*(z) = \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle^{\delta-1} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{-}}(A_{\lambda}) \Phi_{j,\lambda,1} \chi_*(A_{\lambda}) (H_{\lambda} - z)^{-1} \Phi_{j,\lambda,2} \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle^{-\delta}.$$

As above we have

$$\|\Theta_{j,\lambda}^0(z)\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} \lesssim \frac{\|\Phi_{j,\lambda}\|_{A,N}}{\alpha_{\lambda}}.$$

According to Theorem 5.7, the operator $\langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta-1} \chi_{-}(A_{\lambda})(H_{\lambda}-z)^{-1} \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta}$ is bounded uniformly in $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and $z \in \mathbb{C}_{I,+}$ and hence, according to Proposition 5.12, $\Theta_{j,\lambda}^{-}(z)$ is estimated as $\Theta_{j,\lambda}^{0}(z)$.

Let us now turn to $\Theta_{j,\lambda}^+(z)$. Let $\tilde{\chi}_- \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R},[0,1])$ be equal to 1 on \mathbb{R}_- and equal to 0 on $\sup (\chi_+)$. According to Theorem 5.7 and Propositions 5.12 and 5.13 we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \Theta_{j,\lambda}^{+}(z) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})} &\lesssim \frac{\left\| \Phi_{j,\lambda,2} \right\|_{A,N}}{\alpha_{\lambda}} \left\| \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle^{\delta-1} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{-}}(A_{\lambda}) \Phi_{j,\lambda,1} \chi_{+}(A_{\lambda}) \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle \right\| \\ &\lesssim \frac{\left\| \Phi_{j,\lambda,2} \right\|_{A,N}}{\alpha_{\lambda}} \left\| \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle^{\delta-1} \tilde{\chi}_{-}(A_{\lambda}) \Phi_{j,\lambda,1} \chi_{+}(A_{\lambda}) \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle \right\| \\ &\lesssim \frac{\left\| \Phi_{j,\lambda,2} \right\|_{A,N}}{\alpha_{\lambda}} \left\| \Phi_{j,\lambda,1} \right\|_{A,N}. \end{split}$$

Finally we have proved that there exists $C \ge 0$ such that for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$, $z \in \mathbb{C}_{I,+}$ and $j \in [1, N]$ we have

$$\left\| \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle^{\delta-1} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{-}}(A_{\lambda}) R_{j,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z) \left\langle A_{\lambda} \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\| \leqslant \frac{C}{\alpha_{\lambda}} \left\| \Phi_{j,\lambda} \right\|_{A,N}.$$

The operators $\langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{-\delta} R_{j,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z) \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{+}}(A_{\lambda}) \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta-1}$ and $\langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta_{1}} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{-}}(A_{\lambda}) R_{j,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z) \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} \langle A_{\lambda} \rangle^{\delta_{2}}$ are treated similarly, and we conclude with Lemma 5.4.

Definition 5.15. Let H be a maximal dissipative operator on \mathcal{H} . Let A be an operator on \mathcal{H} and $N \in \mathbb{N}$. We say that the pair of (non necessarily bounded) operators $\Phi = (\Phi_1, \Phi_2)$ belongs to $\mathcal{C}_N(H, A)$ if the operators $\Phi_1(H - i)^{-1}$, $(H - i)^{-1}\Phi_2$ and $\Phi_1(H - i)^{-1}\Phi_2$ belong to $\mathcal{C}_N(A)$. In this case we set

$$\|\Phi\|_{H,A,N} = \|\Phi_1(H-i)^{-1}\Phi_2\|_{A,N} + \|\Phi_1(H-i)^{-1}\|_{A,N} \|(H-i)^{-1}\Phi_2\|_{A,N}.$$

This is an abstract condition which will be fulfilled (and standard to check) for the kind of differential operators we consider in this paper.

Theorem 5.16. Under the assumptions of Theorem 5.14, if for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$ the pairs of operators $\Phi_{1,\lambda}, \ldots, \Phi_{N,\lambda}$ belong to $C_N(H_\lambda, A_\lambda)$ then in all the estimates we can replace $\prod_{k=1}^n \|\Phi_{k,\lambda}\|_{A_\lambda,N}$ by $\prod_{k=1}^n \|\Phi_{k,\lambda}\|_{H_\lambda,A_\lambda,N}$ if z stays in a bounded subset of $\mathbb{C}_{I,+}$.

This new version of Theorem 5.14 allows unbounded operators $\Phi_{k,\lambda}$. Moreover, even for inserted factors which belong to $\mathcal{C}_N(A_\lambda)$, the estimate of Theorem 5.16 may be better than that of Theorem 5.14. In the application this will be useful to see the inserted factors of Proposition 5.9 not only as bounded operators on L^2 but also as operators acting on suitable Sobolev spaces. This will be crucial at low frequency when these factors will be rescaled (see Proposition 7.12 below).

Proof. Let $\lambda \in \Lambda$, $z \in \mathbb{C}_{L+}$ and $k \in [1, N]$. According to the resolvent equality we have

$$\begin{split} R_{k,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z) &= (z-i)\Phi_{k,\lambda,1}(H_{\lambda}-i)^{-1}\Phi_{k,\lambda,2} + (z-i)^2\Phi_{k,\lambda,1}(H_{\lambda}-i)^{-2}\Phi_{k,\lambda,2} \\ &\quad + (z-i)^2\Phi_{k,\lambda,1}(H_{\lambda}-i)^{-1}(H_{\lambda}-z)^{-1}(H_{\lambda}-i)^{-1}\Phi_{k,\lambda,2}. \end{split}$$

Replacing each factor $R_{k,\lambda}^{\Phi}(z)$ by any of the term in the right hand side and applying Theorem 5.14 with Proposition 5.11 we obtain the estimates of Theorem 5.16.

Theorems 5.14 and 5.16 give estimates for products of resolvents with inserted factors. In particular we are now able to prove results for the derivatives of the "resolvent" R defined in (1.8). In the rest of this paper we use these two results to prove Theorems 1.2, 1.3, 1.4 and 1.5.

6. Intermediate frequency estimates

The main goal of this section is to prove Proposition 6.2 below. Theorem 1.2 will be a direct consequence of this statement.

We denote by A the (self-adjoint realization of the) generator of L^2 dilations, namely

$$A = -\frac{i}{2}(x \cdot \nabla + \nabla \cdot x) = -i(x \cdot \nabla) - \frac{id}{2}.$$
 (6.1)

Let us record the properties of A we need in this paper:

Proposition 6.1. (i) For $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$, $u \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we have

$$(e^{i\theta A}u)(x) = e^{\frac{d\theta}{2}}u(e^{\theta}x).$$

(ii) For $j \in [1, d]$ and $\gamma \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ we have on $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$:

$$[\partial_i, iA] = \partial_i$$
 and $[\gamma, iA] = -(x \cdot \nabla)\gamma$

(iii) For $p \in [1, +\infty]$, $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$ and $u \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ we have

$$\left\|e^{i\theta A}u\right\|_{L^p} = e^{\theta\left(\frac{d}{2} - \frac{d}{p}\right)} \left\|u\right\|_{L^p}.$$

Let $(a_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ be a sequence of functions in $C_b^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. For $j,k\in\mathbb{N}$ with $j\leqslant k$ we set

$$\mathcal{R}_{j,k}(z) = R(z)a_{j+1}(x)R(z)a_{j+2}(x)\dots R(z)a_k(z)R(z).$$

Given $\alpha_i, \ldots, \alpha_k \in \mathbb{N}$ we also define

$$\Theta_{j;\alpha_j,...,\alpha_k}(z) = (H_z + 1)^{-\alpha_j} a_{j+1}(x) (H_z + 1)^{-\alpha_{j+1}} \dots a_k(x) (H_z + 1)^{-\alpha_k}.$$

In the self-adjoint case the resolvent $(H_0-z^2)^{-1}$ can be replaced by a spectrally localized version $(H_0-z^2)^{-1}\chi(H_0)$ with $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, which is technically useful since $\chi(H_0)$ is a smoothing operator. Here the non self-adjointness of H_z prevents us from using such a localization. The operators $\Theta_{j;\alpha_j,\ldots,\alpha_k}(z)$ will be a suitable replacement of $\chi(H_0)$ in the end of the proof of Proposition 6.2.

Proposition 6.2. Let K be a compact subset of $\mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $\delta > n + \frac{1}{2}$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d$ with $|\alpha| \leq 1$. Then there exists $C \geq 0$ such that for all $z \in K \cap \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} \mathcal{R}_{0,n}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant C.$$

Note that according to Proposition 5.9, the derivatives $R^{(n)}(z)$ which appear in Theorem 1.2 are linear combinations of terms of the form $\mathcal{R}_{0,m}(z)$ with a_i equal to 1 or a.

Before giving a full proof of this proposition, we briefly outline its main ideas. We check that A is conjugate to the dissipative operator H_z up to any order uniformly in $z \in K \cap \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$ and then we prove that multiplication by a_k belongs to $\mathcal{C}_N(A)$ for any $N \in \mathbb{N}$. According to Theorem 5.14 there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in K_{+,+}$ we have

$$\left\| \langle A \rangle^{-\delta} \mathcal{R}_{j,k}(z) \langle A \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant C. \tag{6.2}$$

Finally, as usual, it remains to replace the weight $\langle A \rangle^{-\delta}$ by $\langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$.

- Proof. Let $\mu_0 > 0$. According to Proposition 3.4 we can assume without loss of generality that Im $z \leq \mu_0$ for all $z \in K \cap \mathbb{C}_+$. We prove the result for $z \in K \cap \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$. Reversing the order of the inserted factors and taking the adjoint give the result for $z \in K \cap \mathbb{C}_{-,+}$. If μ_0 is small enough, there exists a compact subinterval J of \mathbb{R}_+^* such that $\operatorname{Re}(z^2) \in J$ for all $z \in K \cap \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$. So let us prove that the operator A is conjugate to H_z on J and up to order N uniformly in $z \in K \cap \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$. In fact it is enough to prove that for any E > 0 there exists a neighborhood J_E of E in \mathbb{R} such that E is conjugate to E on E.
- We first check that the generator of dilations A satisfies the first four assumptions (a)-(d) to be uniformly conjugate to the family of dissipative operators $(H_z)_{z \in K \cap \mathbb{C}_{+,+}}$. The real part of H_z is $\text{Re}(H_z) = H_0 + \text{Im}(z)a$. Its domain is $H^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. For (a) we only have to remark that $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset H^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \mathcal{D}(A)$ is dense in $H^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Assumption (b) easily follows from Proposition 6.1, and all the commutators involved in assumptions (c_n) and (d_n) can be computed explicitly using again Proposition 6.1.
- ullet For the positive commutator assumption (e) we apply the usual trick. According to Proposition 6.1 we can write

$$[\operatorname{Re}(H_z), iA] = 2\operatorname{Re}(H_z) + W$$

where

$$W = -2\operatorname{Im}(z)a - \operatorname{Im}(z)(x \cdot \nabla)a + \sum_{j,k=1}^{d} \gamma_{j,k}(x)D_{j}D_{k} + \sum_{k=1}^{d} b_{k}(x)D_{k}$$

for some $\gamma_{j,k}, b_k \in S^{-\rho}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $j,k \in [1,d]$. Let E > 0, $\sigma > 0$ and $E_{\sigma} = [E - \sigma, E + \sigma]$. Composing with the projection $\mathbb{1}_{E_{\sigma}}(\text{Re}(H_z))$ on both sides of the commutator and using, as usual for Mourre

estimates, that $\mathbb{1}_{E_{\sigma}}(B)B \geqslant (E-\sigma)\mathbb{1}_{E_{\sigma}}(B)$ for any self-adjoint operator B, we get

$$\mathbb{1}_{E_{\sigma}}\left(\operatorname{Re}(H_{z})\right)\left[\operatorname{Re}(H_{z}), iA\right] \mathbb{1}_{E_{\sigma}}\left(\operatorname{Re}(H_{z})\right)$$

$$\geqslant 2(E - \sigma)\mathbb{1}_{E_{\sigma}}\left(\operatorname{Re}(H_{z})\right) + \chi_{E,\sigma}\left(\operatorname{Re}(H_{z})\right)Q\chi_{E,\sigma}\left(\operatorname{Re}(H_{z})\right). \quad (6.3)$$

Here $\chi_{E,\sigma} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R},[0,1])$ is supported in $E_{2\sigma}$ and is equal to 1 on E_{σ} , and

$$Q = \mathbb{1}_{E_{\sigma}} (\operatorname{Re}(H_z)) W \mathbb{1}_{E_{\sigma}} (\operatorname{Re}(H_z))$$

is compact. According to the Helffer-Sjöstrand formula (5.5) and the resolvent equation between $Re(H_z)$ and H_0 we have in $\mathcal{L}(L^2)$:

$$\chi_{E,\sigma}(\operatorname{Re}(H_z)) = \chi_{E,\sigma}(H_0) + \frac{\operatorname{Im}(z)}{\pi} \int_{\zeta = x + iy \in \mathbb{C}} \frac{\partial \tilde{\chi}_{E,\sigma}}{\partial \overline{\zeta}}(\zeta) (H_0 - \zeta)^{-1} a (\operatorname{Re}(H_z) - \zeta)^{-1} dx dy$$
$$= \chi_{E,\sigma}(H_0) + \underset{\operatorname{Im} z \to 0}{O} (\operatorname{Im}(z)).$$

We know from [KT06] that E is not an eigenvalue of H_0 . If we choose $\sigma > 0$ and $\mu_0 > 0$ small enough, then for $z \in \mathbb{C}_{+,+} \cap K$ with $\text{Im } z \leqslant \mu_0$ we have

$$\mathbb{1}_{E_{\sigma}}(\operatorname{Re}(H_z))[\operatorname{Re}(H_z), iA]\mathbb{1}_{E_{\sigma}}(\operatorname{Re}(H_z)) \geqslant (E - \sigma)\mathbb{1}_{E_{\sigma}}(\operatorname{Re}(H_z)).$$

This follows from the usual trick that $\chi(B)$ goes weakly to 0 as the support of χ shrinks to a point which is not an eigenvalue of B and also from the compactness of Q. This proves that assumption (e) holds on E_{σ} .

- Since multiplication by a belongs to $\mathcal{C}_N(A)$ uniformly in $z \in K \cap \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$ for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$ we can apply Theorem 5.16 to obtain (6.2) for $z \in K \cap \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$.
- We prove by induction on $m \in \mathbb{N}$ that $\mathcal{R}_{0,n}$ can be written as a sum of terms either of the form

$$(1+z^2)^{\beta}\Theta_{0;\alpha_0,\dots,\alpha_n}(z)$$

with $\beta \in \mathbb{N}$, $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, or

$$(1+z^2)^{\beta}\Theta_{0;\alpha_0,\dots,\alpha_j}(z)\mathcal{R}_{j,k}(z)\Theta_{k;\alpha_k,\dots,\alpha_n}(z)$$
(6.4)

where $\beta \in \mathbb{N}$, $j, k \in [0, n]$, $j \leq k$, $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_{j-1}, \alpha_{k+1}, \ldots, \alpha_n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, $\alpha_j, \alpha_k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\sum_{l=0}^{j} \alpha_l \geqslant m \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{l=k}^{n} \alpha_l \geqslant m.$$

It is clear when m = 0, and for the inductive step we only have to consider a term like (6.4). If j = k we only have to write

$$R(z) = (H_z + 1)^{-1} + (1 + z^2)(H_z + 1)^{-2} + (1 + z^2)^2(H_z + 1)^{-1}R(z)(H_z + 1)^{-1}.$$

if i + 1 = k we have

$$\mathcal{R}_{j,k}(z) = (H_z + 1)^{-1} \left(1 + (1+z^2)R(z) \right) a_k(x) \left(1 + (1+z^2)R(z) \right) (H_z + 1)^{-1}$$

and finally if $j + 2 \leq k$:

$$\mathcal{R}_{j,k}(z) = (H_z + 1)^{-1} \left(1 + (1+z^2)R(z) \right) a_{j+1}(x) \mathcal{R}_{j+1,k-1}(z) a_k(x)$$

$$\times \left(1 + (1+z^2)R(z) \right) (H_z + 1)^{-1}.$$

For any $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ it is clear that $\langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \Theta_{0;\alpha_0,\ldots,\alpha_n}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$ is bounded on L^2 uniformly in $z \in K \cap \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$. For a term of the form (6.4) we remark that for m large enough the operators

$$\left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} \Theta_{0;\alpha_{0},...,\alpha_{j}}(z) \left\langle A \right\rangle^{\delta} \quad \text{and} \quad \left\langle A \right\rangle^{\delta} \Theta_{k;\alpha_{k},...,\alpha_{n}}(z) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta}$$

are bounded uniformly in $z \in K \cap \mathbb{C}_+$. For instance for the first one we use on one hand that $\langle x \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} \Theta_{0;\alpha_0,...,\alpha_j}(z) \langle D \rangle^{2m-|\alpha|} \langle x \rangle^{\delta}$ is uniformly bounded, and on the other hand that $\langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \langle D \rangle^{-2m+|\alpha|} \langle A \rangle^{\delta}$ is bounded, which follows from an interpolation argument. Then we conclude with (6.2).

7. Low frequency estimates

In this section we prove Theorems 1.3 and 1.4. We will first consider a globally small perturbation of $-\Delta$, and then use a perturbation argument to deal with the general case.

Let $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, [0, 1])$. We set

$$P_0 = -\operatorname{div}\left(\chi I_d + (1 - \chi)G\right)\nabla$$
 and $K_0 = H_0 - P_0 = -\operatorname{div}\left(\chi(G - I_d)\right)\nabla$.

These two operators can be written

$$P_0 = \sum_{j,k=1}^{d} D_j \gamma_{j,k} D_k, \qquad K_0 = \sum_{j,k=1}^{d} D_j \gamma_{j,k}^0 D_k,$$

where for $j, k \in [1, d]$ the coefficients $\gamma_{j,k}^0$ are compactly supported. Moreover χ can be chosen in such a way that the coefficients $\gamma_{j,k} - \delta_{j,k}$ are small in $S^{-\rho}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, in a sense to be made precise in Theorem 7.1 below.

Let
$$a_{\iota} = (1 - \chi)a$$
, $a_0 = \chi a$, and for $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$:

$$P_z = P_0 - iza_t, K_z = K_0 - iza_0. (7.1)$$

The operator P_0 is self-adjoint and non-negative on L^2 with domain H^2 . P_z is maximal dissipative on H^2 for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$, self-adjoint for $z \in i\mathbb{R}_+^*$ and $P_z = P_{-\overline{z}}^*$ when $z \in \mathbb{C}_{-,+}$. Thus for $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we can define

$$R_{\iota}(z) = (P_z - z^2)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(L^2).$$

On the other hand K_0 is symmetric and K_z is dissipative for $z \in \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$. These operators are at least defined on H^2 .

Let us fix an integer \overline{d} greater than $\frac{d}{2}$. For $\nu \in [0, \frac{d}{2}]$, $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\phi \in S^{-\nu-\rho}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ we set

$$\|\phi\|_{\nu,N} = \sup_{|\alpha| \leqslant \overline{d}} \sup_{0 \leqslant m \leqslant N} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left| \langle x \rangle^{\nu + \rho + |\alpha|} \left(\partial^{\alpha} (x \cdot \nabla)^m \phi \right) (x) \right|. \tag{7.2}$$

Then for $N \in \mathbb{N}$ we put

$$\mathcal{N}_{N} = \sum_{j,k=1}^{d} \|\gamma_{j,k} - \delta_{j,k}\|_{0,N} + \|a_{\iota}\|_{1,N}.$$
(7.3)

In order to obtain Theorem 1.3, we first prove an analogous result for R_{ι} :

Theorem 7.1. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$.

(i) Let δ be greater than $n+\frac{1}{2}$ if $n\geqslant\frac{d}{2}$ and greater than n+1 otherwise. Then if \mathcal{N}_1 is small enough there exists $C\geqslant 0$ such that for all $\alpha\in\mathbb{N}^d$ with $|\alpha|\leqslant 1$ and $z\in\mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} R_{\iota}^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^{2})} \leqslant C \left(1 + |z|^{d-2+|\alpha|-n-\varepsilon} \right). \tag{7.4}$$

(ii) Assume that d is odd or $n \neq d-2$. Let $\delta_1, \delta_2 > n + \frac{1}{2}$ be such that $\delta_1 + \delta_2 > \min(2(n+1), d)$. Then there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta_1} R_{\iota}^{(n)}(z)(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta_2} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant C \left(1 + |z|^{d-2-n} \right).$$

The proof of Theorem 7.1 will be given after Proposition 7.12. For this, we are going to use a scaling argument. For $\phi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $\lambda > 0$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we set

$$\phi_{\lambda}(x) = \phi\left(\frac{x}{\lambda}\right). \tag{7.5}$$

For $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we set

$$\tilde{P}_z^0 = \frac{1}{|z|^2} e^{-iA \ln|z|} P_0 e^{iA \ln|z|} = \sum_{j,k=1}^d D_j \gamma_{j,k,|z|} D_k$$

and

$$\tilde{P}_z = \frac{1}{|z|^2} e^{-iA \ln|z|} P_z e^{iA \ln|z|} = \tilde{P}_z^0 - i \frac{\hat{z}}{|z|} a_{\iota,|z|}$$
(7.6)

(where \hat{z} stands for z/|z|, we recall that $e^{iA \ln|z|} u(x) = |z|^{d/2} u(|z|x)$). For $z \in \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$ the operator \tilde{P}_z is maximal dissipative on H^2 , and as before we can consider for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$

$$\tilde{R}_{\iota}(z) = \left(\tilde{P}_z - \hat{z}^2\right)^{-1},$$

so that

$$R_{\iota}(z) = \frac{1}{|z|^2} e^{iA \ln|z|} \tilde{R}_{\iota}(z) e^{-iA \ln|z|}.$$

We are going to use the Mourre method to obtain uniform estimates of $\tilde{R}_{\iota}(z)$ when $z \in \mathbb{C}_{+}$ is close to 1. To this end we first give some properties for operators of multiplication by functions of the form ϕ_{λ} when $\lambda > 0$ goes to 0.

Before going further, we introduce some notation we shall use in this section. Let $(\nu_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}} \in \{0,1\}^{\mathbb{N}}$. For $j\in\mathbb{N}^*$ and $z\in\mathbb{C}_+$ we define the operator Φ_j as the multiplication by $a_i^{\nu_j}$ and Φ_0 is of the form D^{α} with $|\alpha|=\nu_0$. Then we set

$$\tilde{\Phi}_{j}(z) = e^{-iA \ln|z|} \Phi_{j} e^{iA \ln|z|} = \begin{cases} |z|^{\nu_{0}} D^{\alpha} & \text{if } j = 0, \\ a_{\iota,|z|}^{\nu_{j}} & \text{if } j \in \mathbb{N}^{*} \end{cases}$$

(here again and everywhere in the sequel, the index |z| corresponds to (7.5) with $\lambda = |z|$). These operators have a very particular form, but the only properties we need are that of Corollary 7.5 below. For $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ and $j, k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $j \leq k$ we set

$$\mathcal{R}_{j,k}^{\iota}(z) = R_{\iota}(z)\Phi_{j+1}R_{\iota}(z)\dots\Phi_{k}R_{\iota}(z)$$

and

$$\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{j,k}^{\iota}(z) = \tilde{R}_{\iota}(z)\tilde{\Phi}_{j+1}(z)\tilde{R}_{\iota}(z)\dots\tilde{\Phi}_{k}(z)\tilde{R}_{\iota}(z).$$

For $\alpha_i, \ldots, \alpha_k \in \mathbb{N}$ we also define

$$\tilde{\Theta}_{j;\alpha_j,\dots,\alpha_k}(z) = (\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-\alpha_j} \tilde{\Phi}_{j+1}(z) (\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-\alpha_{j+1}} \dots \tilde{\Phi}_k(z) (\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-\alpha_k}$$

$$(7.7)$$

(this is well-defined since \tilde{P}_z is maximal dissipative with non-negative real part). Finally, for all $j, k \in \mathbb{N}$ with $j \leq k$ we set

$$\mathcal{V}_{j,k} = \sum_{l=j+1}^{k} \nu_l. \tag{7.8}$$

We recall that these notations are recorded in Appendix A.

7.1. Some properties of the rescaled operators. In this paragraph we derive some properties of the rescaled operators \tilde{P}_z and $\tilde{\Phi}_j$. Most of them rely on the following proposition, in which we show that the spatial decay of (1.2) induces some differentiation-like properties for the rescaled coefficients $\gamma_{j,k,|z|}$ and $a_{\iota,|z|}$.

Proposition 7.2. Let $\nu \in \left[0, \frac{d}{2}\right[$ and $s \in \left]-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}\right[$ be such that $s - \nu \in \left]-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}\right[$. Then there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for $\phi \in S^{-\nu-\rho}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $u \in H^s$ and $\lambda > 0$ we have

$$\|\phi_{\lambda}u\|_{\dot{H}^{s-\nu}} \leqslant C\lambda^{\nu} \|\phi\|_{\nu,0} \|u\|_{\dot{H}^{s}}$$

and

$$\|\phi_{\lambda}u\|_{H^{s-\nu}} \leqslant C\lambda^{\nu} \|\phi\|_{\nu,0} \|u\|_{H^{s}}.$$

Corollary 7.3. Let $s \in \left] - \frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2} \right[$. Then there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for $\phi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ which satisfies $\phi - 1 \in S^{-\rho}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $u \in H^s$ and $\lambda > 0$ we have

$$\|\phi_{\lambda}u\|_{H^s} \leqslant C\left(1 + \|\phi - 1\|_{0,0}\right) \|u\|_{H^s}.$$

Proof. For $u \in H^s$ and $\lambda > 0$ we have

$$\|\phi_{\lambda}u\|_{H^s} \leq \|(\phi-1)_{\lambda}u\|_{H^s} + \|u\|_{H^s}$$

so we only have to apply Proposition 7.2 to $\phi - 1$.

Proposition 7.2 mostly relies on the following result (see for instance [LRG06], Lemmas 1 and 5):

Lemma 7.4. (i) Let $s \in \left] - \frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2} \right[$ and $\nu \in \left] 0, \frac{d}{2} \right[$ be such that $s - \nu \in \left] - \frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2} \right[$. Then there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $\phi \in \dot{H}^{\frac{d}{2} - \nu}$ and $u \in \dot{H}^s$ we have

$$\|\phi u\|_{\dot{H}^{s-\nu}} \leqslant C \|\phi\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}} \|u\|_{\dot{H}^{s}}.$$

(ii) Let $s \in \left]0, \frac{d}{2}\right[$. Then there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $\phi \in \dot{H}^{\frac{d}{2}} \cap L^{\infty}$ and $u \in \dot{H}^{s}$ we have

$$\|\phi u\|_{\dot{H}^s} \leqslant C\left(\|\phi\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{d}{2}}} + \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}}\right) \|u\|_{\dot{H}^s}.$$

Proof of Proposition 7.2. • First assume that $s - \nu \leq 0 \leq s$. Then according to Sobolev embeddings and Hölder inequality we have

$$\|\phi_{\lambda}u\|_{H^{s-\nu}}\lesssim \|\phi_{\lambda}u\|_{L^{\frac{2d}{d+2(\nu-s)}}}\lesssim \|\phi_{\lambda}\|_{L^{\frac{d}{\nu}}}\,\|u\|_{L^{\frac{2d}{d-2s}}}\lesssim \lambda^{\nu}\,\|\phi\|_{\nu,0}\,\|u\|_{H^{s}}\,.$$

We proceed similarly in homogeneous Sobolev spaces.

• Now we assume that $s \ge s - \nu \ge 0$. The case $s - \nu \le s \le 0$ will follow by taking the adjoint. We first remark that for all $\lambda > 0$ we have

$$\|\phi_{\lambda}\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}} = \lambda^{\nu} \|\phi\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}}.$$
(7.9)

Let $\chi_0 \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, [0, 1])$ and $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}, [0, 1])$ be such that $\chi_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \chi_k = 1$, where for $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ we have set $\chi_k(x) = \chi(2^{-k}x)$. According to (7.9) applied to $\chi_k \phi$ we have for all $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$

$$\|\chi_k \phi\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}} = 2^{k\nu} \|\chi \phi(2^k \cdot)\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}} \leqslant 2^{k\nu} \|\chi \phi(2^k \cdot)\|_{H^{\overline{d}}}$$

(we recall that \overline{d} was fixed before (7.2)). And since χ is compactly supported we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \chi \phi(2^k \cdot) \right\|_{H^{\overline{d}}} &\lesssim \left\| \phi(2^k \cdot) \right\|_{H^{\overline{d}}(\operatorname{supp} \chi)} \lesssim \sum_{|\alpha| \leqslant \overline{d}} 2^{k|\alpha|} \left\| (\partial^{\alpha} \phi)(2^k \cdot) \right\|_{L^2(\operatorname{supp} \chi)} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{|\alpha| \leqslant \overline{d}} 2^{k|\alpha|} \left\| (\partial^{\alpha} \phi)(2^k \cdot) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\operatorname{supp} \chi)} \lesssim 2^{-k(\nu + \rho)} \left\| \phi \right\|_{\nu, 0}. \end{split}$$

And finally:

$$\|\phi\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}} \leqslant \|\chi_0 \phi\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|\chi_k \phi\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{d}{2}-\nu}} \lesssim \|\phi\|_{\nu,0}.$$

Moreover the norm of ϕ_{λ} in L^{∞} does not depend on $\lambda > 0$, so we get the first assertion according to Lemma 7.4.

• To prove the second assertion, we only have to estimate the L^2 -norm of $\phi_{\lambda}u$. The first statement of the proposition applied with $s = \nu$ gives

$$\|\phi_{\lambda} u\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \lambda^{\nu} \|\phi\|_{\nu,0} \|u\|_{\dot{H}^{\nu}}.$$

Since $||u||_{\dot{H}^{\nu}} \leq ||u||_{H^s}$, this concludes the proof.

Given $\mu \in \mathbb{N}^d$, we set

$$\operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu} := \operatorname{ad}_{x_{1}}^{\mu_{1}} \dots \operatorname{ad}_{x_{d}}^{\mu_{d}}.$$

As a direct consequence of Proposition 7.2 we obtain the following properties on the operators $\tilde{\Phi}_i(z)$:

Corollary 7.5. Let $\mu \in \mathbb{N}^d$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

(i) There exists $C \ge 0$ such that for all $s \in \left] - \frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2} - 1\right[$, $j \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\|\operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu}\operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n}\tilde{\Phi}_{j}(z)\right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{s+1},H^{s})}\leqslant C\left|z\right|^{\nu_{j}}.$$

(ii) There exists $C \ge 0$ such that for all $s \in]-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}[$ and $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu} \operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n} \tilde{\Phi}_{0}(z) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{s+1}, H^{s})} \leqslant C |z|^{\nu_{0}}.$$

This corollary records all the properties we need about the operators $\tilde{\Phi}_j(z)$. From now on, we will only use that they behave like differentiations, keeping in mind the restriction on the Sobolev index s. Notice that this restriction is slightly weaker on $\tilde{\Phi}_0$. Here this simply comes from the fact that $\tilde{\Phi}_0$ is really a derivative and maps H^{s+1} to H^s for any $s \in \mathbb{R}$. The good behavior of the commutators with A and x will be useful to apply Mourre theory and in the proof of Proposition 7.11 below.

In the following proposition we estimate the difference between the commutators of \tilde{P}_z and $-\Delta$ with A and x. We will see that it only depends on the semi-norms \mathcal{N} introduced in (7.3). This will be used to apply Mourre theory and in the proof of Proposition 7.9.

Proposition 7.6. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $\mu \in \mathbb{N}^d$ and $s \in \left] - \frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2} \right[$. Then there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu} \operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n} (\tilde{P}_{z}^{0} + \Delta) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{s+1}, H^{s-1})} + \left\| \operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu} \operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n} (\hat{z} |z|^{-1} a_{\iota, |z|}) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{s+1}, H^{s-1})} \leqslant C \mathcal{N}_{n}.$$

Proof. For $j, k \in [1, d]$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we set

$$\gamma_{j,k}^{(n)} = (2 - x \cdot \nabla)^n \gamma_{j,k} \quad \text{and} \quad a_{\iota}^{(n)} = (-x \cdot \nabla)^n a_{\iota}.$$
(7.10)

Using Proposition 6.1 we can check by induction on $n \in \mathbb{N}$ that for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n}(\tilde{P}_{z}^{0}) = \sum_{i,k} D_{j} \gamma_{j,k,|z|}^{(n)} D_{k} \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n} \left(a_{\iota,|z|} \right) = a_{\iota,|z|}^{(n)}.$$

According to Proposition 7.2, for $s \in \left] - \frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}[, z \in \mathbb{C}_+ \text{ and } u \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \text{ we have } \right]$

$$\left\| \operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n} (\tilde{P}_{z}^{0} + \Delta) u \right\|_{H^{s-1}} \lesssim \sum_{j,k} \left\| \left(\gamma_{j,k}^{(n)} - 2^{n} \delta_{j,k} \right) D_{k} u \right\|_{H^{s}} \lesssim \sum_{k} \mathcal{N}_{n} \left\| D_{k} u \right\|_{H^{s}} \lesssim \mathcal{N}_{n} \left\| u \right\|_{H^{s+1}}$$

(note that $\gamma_{j,k}^{(n)} - 2^n \delta_{j,k} = (2 - x \cdot \nabla)^n (\gamma_{j,k} - \delta_{j,k})$). On the other hand, if $s \in \left] -\frac{d}{2} + 1, \frac{d}{2} \right[$ we have

$$\left\|\operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n}(\hat{z}\left|z\right|^{-1}a_{\iota})u\right\|_{H^{s-1}}\lesssim\mathcal{N}_{n}\left\|u\right\|_{H^{s}}\leqslant\mathcal{N}_{n}\left\|u\right\|_{H^{s+1}},$$

and if $s \in]-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}-1[:$

$$\left\| \operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n} (\hat{z} |z|^{-1} a_{\iota}) u \right\|_{H^{s-1}} \leq \left\| \operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n} (\hat{z} |z|^{-1} a_{\iota}) u \right\|_{H^{s}} \lesssim \mathcal{N}_{n} \|u\|_{H^{s+1}}.$$

This proves the proposition when $\mu = 0$. Now let $l, p \in [1, d]$. We have

$$\left[\operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n}(\tilde{P}_{z}^{0}+\Delta),x_{l}\right]=-i\sum_{i}D_{j}\gamma_{j,l,|z|}^{(n)}-i\sum_{k}\gamma_{l,k,|z|}^{(n)}D_{k}+i2^{n+1}D_{l},$$

$$\left[\left[\operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n}(\tilde{P}_{z}^{0}+\Delta),x_{l}\right],x_{p}\right]=-2\gamma_{l,p,|z|}^{(n)},$$

and hence $\operatorname{ad}_x^{\mu}\operatorname{ad}_{iA}^n(\tilde{P}_z^0)=0$ if $|\mu|\geqslant 3$. These operators can be estimated as $\operatorname{ad}_{iA}^n(\tilde{P}_z^0+\Delta)$. Since $\operatorname{ad}_x^{\mu}\operatorname{ad}_{iA}^n(\hat{z}|z|^{-1}a_\iota)=0$ if $|\mu|\geqslant 1$, this concludes the proof.

Remark 7.7. Using Corollary 7.3 we can similarly prove that there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\|\operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu}\operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n}\tilde{P}_{z}^{0}\right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{s+1},H^{s-1})} \leqslant C\mathcal{N}_{n}.$$

Remark 7.8. With the same proof we can prove that if \mathcal{N}_0 is small enough then for all $u \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ we have

$$||(P_0 + \Delta)u|| \le \frac{1}{2}||\Delta u||_{L^2}$$

and in particular

$$||\Delta u||_{L^2} \lesssim ||P_0 u||_{L^2}$$
.

Proposition 7.9. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $\mu \in \mathbb{N}^d$ and $s \in]-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}[$. If \mathcal{N}_0 is small enough there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ and $u \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ we have

$$\left\| \operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu} \operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n} \left(\left(\tilde{P}_{z} + 1 \right)^{-1} \right) u \right\|_{H^{s+1}} \leqslant C \left\| u \right\|_{H^{s-1}}.$$

This statement means that if \tilde{P}_z is close to $-\Delta$ then the resolvent $(\tilde{P}_z+1)^{-1}$ has (uniformly) the same elliptic property as $(-\Delta+1)^{-1}$. Of course this holds with the same restriction on the Sobolev index s as in Proposition 7.6.

Proof. According to Proposition 7.6, if \mathcal{N}_0 is small enough then $(\tilde{P}_z + 1)$ is close to $(-\Delta + 1)$ in $\mathcal{L}(H^{s+1}, H^{s-1})$ uniformly in $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$, which gives the result if $\mu = 0$ and n = 0. Now the operator $\mathrm{ad}_x^{\mu}\mathrm{ad}_{iA}^n\left(\left(\tilde{P}_z + 1\right)^{-1}\right)$ can be written as a linear combination of terms of the form

$$(\tilde{P}_z+1)^{-1} \operatorname{ad}_x^{\mu_1} \operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n_1} (\tilde{P}_z) (\tilde{P}_z+1)^{-1} \dots \operatorname{ad}_x^{\mu_k} \operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n_k} (\tilde{P}_z) (\tilde{P}_z+1)^{-1},$$

where $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $n_1, \ldots, n_k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_k \in \mathbb{N}^d$ are such that $n_1 + \cdots + n_k = n$ and $\mu_1 + \cdots + \mu_k = \mu$. We have proved that $(\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-1}$ is uniformly bounded in $\mathcal{L}(H^{s-1}, H^{s+1})$ and according to Remark 7.7 the operator $\operatorname{ad}_x^{\mu_l} \operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{n_l} (\tilde{P}_z)$ is uniformly bounded in $\mathcal{L}(H^{s+1}, H^{s-1})$ for all $l \in [1, k]$.

We now give uniform estimates for the operators $\tilde{\Theta}_{j;\alpha_j,...,\alpha_k}(z)$ defined in (7.7). Because of the restrictions in the Sobolev spaces in Corollary 7.5 and Proposition 7.9, this is not a simple count of gains and losses of regularity. However we can take advantage of the fact that we have at least one resolvent between each differentiation $\tilde{\Phi}_j$.

Proposition 7.10. Let $\rho > 0$ be given by (1.2). Let $s \in \left[0, \frac{d}{2} + 1[, s^* \in \left] - \frac{d}{2} - 1, 0\right], n \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and } \mu \in \mathbb{N}^d$. Let $j, k \in \mathbb{N}$ be such that $j \leq k$, and $\alpha_j, \ldots, \alpha_k \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Then there exist $\sigma_0 \in]0, \min(1, \rho)/2[$ and $C \geq 0$ such that for $\sigma \in [0, \sigma_0]$ which satisfies $2 \sum_{l=j}^k \alpha_l - (1+\sigma)\mathcal{V}_{j,k} \geq (s-s^*)$ and $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu} \operatorname{ad}_{A}^{n} \tilde{\Theta}_{j;\alpha_{j},\dots,\alpha_{k}}(z) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{s^{*}},H^{s})} \leq C \left| z \right|^{(1+\sigma)\mathcal{V}_{j,k}}.$$

Moreover this also holds when $\alpha_j = 0$ if $s < \frac{d}{2} - 1$, and when $\alpha_k = 0$ if $s^* > -\frac{d}{2} + 1$.

Proof. We have $s-2\delta_{0,\alpha_j}<\frac{d}{2}-1$ and $s^*+2\delta_{0,\alpha_k}>-\frac{d}{2}+1$, so we can consider $\sigma_0\in]0,\min(1,\rho)/2[$ such that

$$S := \max (0, s - 2\delta_{0,\alpha_j} + 1 + \sigma_0) < \frac{d}{2} \quad \text{and} \quad s^* + 2\delta_{0,\alpha_k} - 1 - \sigma_0 > -\frac{d}{2}.$$

Let $\sigma \in [0, \sigma_0]$. For $p \in [j, k]$ we set

$$\tilde{s}_p = s^* + 2\sum_{l=p}^k \alpha_l - (1+\sigma)\mathcal{V}_{p,k}$$
 and $s_p = \min(S, \tilde{s}_p)$.

Note that the sequence $(s_p)_{j \leq p \leq k}$ is non-increasing and $s_p > -\frac{d}{2} + (1 + \sigma_0)$ for all $p \in [\![j,k]\!]$. The operator $\mathrm{ad}_x^\mu \mathrm{ad}_A^n \tilde{\Theta}_{j;\alpha_j,\ldots,\alpha_k}(z)$ can be written as a linear combination of terms of the form

$$\prod_{l=i}^{k-1} \left(\operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu_{l}} \operatorname{ad}_{A}^{n_{l}} (\tilde{P}_{z}+1)^{-\alpha_{l}} \operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\tilde{\mu}_{l}} \operatorname{ad}_{A}^{\tilde{n}_{l}} \tilde{\Phi}_{l+1}(z) \right) \times \operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu_{k}} \operatorname{ad}_{A}^{n_{k}} (\tilde{P}_{z}+1)^{-\alpha_{k}}$$

where $\mu_k + \sum_{l=j}^{k-1} (\tilde{\mu}_l + \mu_l) = \mu$ and $n_k + \sum_{l=j}^{k-1} (\tilde{n}_l + n_l) = n$. According to Proposition 7.9 we have

$$\left\|\operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu_{k}}\operatorname{ad}_{A}^{n_{k}}\left(\tilde{P}_{z}+1\right)^{-\alpha_{k}}\right\|_{\mathcal{L}\left(H^{s^{*}},H^{s_{k}}\right)}\lesssim1.$$

Let $p \in [j+1, k-1]$. Since s_{p+1} and $s_{p+1}-(1+\sigma)\nu_{p+1}$ belong to $]-\frac{d}{2}, \frac{d}{2}[$, we have according to Corollary 7.5 and Proposition 7.9

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu_{p}} \operatorname{ad}_{A}^{n_{p}} \left(\tilde{P}_{z} + 1 \right)^{-\alpha_{p}} \operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\tilde{\mu}_{p}} \operatorname{ad}_{A}^{\tilde{n}_{p}} \tilde{\Phi}_{p+1}(z) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{s_{p+1}}, H^{s_{p}})} \\ & \leqslant \left\| \operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu_{p}} \operatorname{ad}_{A}^{n_{p}} \left(\tilde{P}_{z} + 1 \right)^{-\alpha_{p}} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{s_{p+1}-(1+\sigma)\nu_{p+1}}, H^{s_{p}})} \left\| \operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\tilde{\mu}_{p}} \operatorname{ad}_{A}^{\tilde{n}_{p}} \tilde{\Phi}_{p+1}(z) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{s_{p+1}}, H^{s_{p+1}-(1+\sigma)\nu_{p+1}})} \\ & \lesssim \left| z \right|^{(1+\sigma)\nu_{p+1}}. \end{split}$$

Similarly we have

$$\left\|\operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu_{j}}\operatorname{ad}_{A}^{n_{j}}\left(\tilde{P}_{z}+1\right)^{-\alpha_{j}}\operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\tilde{\mu}_{j}}\operatorname{ad}_{A}^{\tilde{n}_{j}}\tilde{\Phi}_{j+1}(z)\right\|_{\mathcal{L}\left(H^{s_{j+1}},H^{s}\right)} \lesssim \left|z\right|^{(1+\sigma)\nu_{j+1}}.$$

Here we have used the assumption that $s_i \geq s$.

Proposition 7.10 will be used to estimate the terms that we called E_z in Section 2. Now we go slightly further and estimate the terms called W_z . The main difference with the previous proposition is that we now have to add a factor $\langle A \rangle^{\delta}$. This is necessary to compensate the weight $\langle A \rangle^{-\delta}$ which we need to use Mourre theory.

Proposition 7.11. Let $s \in \left[\nu_0, \frac{d}{2} + 1\right]$ be such that $s - \nu_0 \neq \frac{d}{2}$ and $\delta > s$. Let $j, k \in [0, N]$ and $\alpha_j, \ldots, \alpha_k \in \mathbb{N}$ be such that $m := \sum_{l=j}^k \alpha_l$ is large enough (say $m \geqslant \delta + 2 + s$).

(i) If $\alpha_j, \ldots, \alpha_{k-1} \in \mathbb{N}^*$ there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} e^{iA \ln|z|} \tilde{\Phi}_0(z) \tilde{\Theta}_{j;\alpha_j,\dots,\alpha_k}(z) \langle A \rangle^{\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant C |z|^{\min\left(s-\nu_0,\frac{d}{2}\right)+\nu_0+\mathcal{V}_{j,k}}.$$

(ii) If $\alpha_{j+1}, \ldots, \alpha_k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \left\langle A \right\rangle^{\delta} \tilde{\Theta}_{j;\alpha_{j},\dots,\alpha_{k}}(z) e^{-iA \ln|z|} \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^{2})} \leqslant C |z|^{\min\left(s,\frac{d}{2}\right) + \mathcal{V}_{j,k}}.$$

Proof. • We prove the first estimate. The second is proved similarly. Let $\tilde{s} = \min\left(s - \nu_0, \frac{d}{2}\right)$. Since $\delta > \tilde{s}$, multiplication by $\langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$ is bounded from $L^{\frac{2d}{d-2\tilde{s}}}$ to L^2 . According to Sobolev embeddings and Proposition 6.1 we have

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} e^{iA \ln|z|} \left(1 + |x|^{\delta} \right) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{s-\nu_0}, L^2)} \leq \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} e^{iA \ln|z|} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}\left(L^{\frac{2d}{d-2\tilde{s}}}, L^2\right)} + \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} e^{iA \ln|z|} |x|^{\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)}$$

$$\lesssim \left\| e^{iA \ln|z|} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}\left(L^{\frac{2d}{d-2\tilde{s}}}\right)} + |z|^{\delta} \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} |x|^{\delta} e^{iA \ln|z|} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)}$$

$$\lesssim |z|^{\tilde{s}}. \tag{7.11}$$

• For $\tilde{\Phi}_0(z)$ we have

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \, \tilde{\Phi}_0(z) \, \langle x \rangle^{\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^s, H^{s-\nu_0})} \lesssim |z|^{\nu_0} \, .$$

• Now we prove that for all $\delta \ge 0$ (in this analysis we no longer use the assumption $\delta > s$):

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \, \tilde{\Theta}_{j;\alpha_j,\dots,\alpha_k}(z) \, \langle A \rangle^{\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2,H^s)} \lesssim |z|^{\nu_{j,k}} \,. \tag{7.12}$$

It is enough to prove this when δ is an integer, and then the general case will follow by interpolation, using the following argument: if p is a fixed integer, the estimate (7.12) implies that for some $N \ge 0$, we have

$$\left\| \left(\langle D \rangle^{s-\nu_0} \langle x \rangle^{-i\operatorname{Im}(\delta)} \langle D \rangle^{\nu_0 - s} \right) \langle D \rangle^{s-\nu_0} \langle x \rangle^{-\operatorname{Re}(\delta)} \tilde{\Theta}_{j;\alpha_j,\dots,\alpha_k}(z) \langle A \rangle^{\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \lesssim (1 + |\operatorname{Im}(\delta)|)^N |z|^{\mathcal{V}_{j,k}}, \quad (7.13)$$

when $Re(\delta) = p$. Indeed, by the Calderòn-Vaillancourt Theorem

$$\left\| \langle D \rangle^{s-\nu_0} \langle x \rangle^{-i\operatorname{Im}(\delta)} \langle D \rangle^{\nu_0 - s} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \lesssim (1 + |\operatorname{Im}(\delta)|)^N$$

since $\langle x \rangle^{-i\operatorname{Im}(\delta)}$ is a zero order symbol with seminorms growing polynomially in $\operatorname{Im}(\delta)$. Then, the result will follow from a routine argument using the Hadamard three lines theorem and the estimate (7.12) when δ is an integer which we assume from now on.

• The operator $\Theta_{j;\alpha_j,...,\alpha_k}(z)$ can be rewritten as

$$\tilde{\Theta}_{j_1,\dots,j_m}^b(z) := (\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-1} b_{j_1,|z|}(x) (\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-1} b_{j_2,|z|}(x) \dots (\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-1} b_{j_m,|z|}(x)$$

where $j_1, \ldots, j_m \in \{0, 1\}$, $b_0(x) = 1$, $b_1(x) = a_{\iota}(x)$ and $\sum_{l=1}^m j_l = \mathcal{V}_{j,k}$. We prove by induction on $\delta \in \mathbb{N}$ that if $m \ge \delta + 1 + s$ then for all $\mu \in \mathbb{N}^d$ we have

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \operatorname{ad}_{x}^{\mu} \left(\tilde{\Theta}_{j;\alpha_{j},\dots,\alpha_{k}}(z) \langle A \rangle^{\delta} \right) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^{2},H^{s-\nu_{0}})} \lesssim |z|^{j_{1}+\dots+j_{m}}.$$
 (7.14)

Note that (7.14) gives (7.12) when $\mu = 0$. Statement (7.14) is a consequence of Corollary 7.5 and Proposition 7.10 when $\delta = 0$. Let us consider the general case. We have

$$\tilde{\Theta}_{j_1,...,j_m}^b(z)A^{\delta} = \sum_{l=0}^{\delta} C_{\delta}^l \tilde{\Theta}_{j_1,...,j_{m-1}}^b A^{\delta-l} \operatorname{ad}_A^l ((\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-1} b_{j_m,|z|}(x)).$$

When $l \neq 0$ we can apply the inductive assumption to $\tilde{\Theta}_{j_1,\ldots,j_{m-1}}^b A^{\delta-l}$. With Proposition 7.10 this proves that the corresponding term in the right-hand side satisfies estimate (7.14). We now consider the term corresponding to l = 0. More precisely it is enough to consider

$$\tilde{\Theta}_{j_1,\dots,j_{m-1}}^b A^{\delta-1} x_q D_q (\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-1} b_{j_m,|z|}(x)$$
(7.15)

for some $q \in [1, d]$. The operator $D_q(\tilde{P}_z + 1)^{-1}b_{j_m}(x)$ and its commutators with x are of size $|z|^{j_m}$ as operators on L^2 . On the other hand

$$\tilde{\Theta}_{j_1,...,j_{m-1}}^b A^{\delta-1} x_q = x_q \tilde{\Theta}_{j_1,...,j_{m-1}}^b A^{\delta-1} + \operatorname{ad}_{x_q} \left(\tilde{\Theta}_{j_1,...,j_{m-1}}^b A^{\delta-1} \right)$$

and hence, according to the inductive assumption, the term (7.15) also satisfies (7.14). This gives the inductive step, proves (7.14), and concludes the proof of the proposition.

Concerning the weight we need in Proposition 7.11 and hence in Theorem 1.3, we emphasize that in one case we need a weight $\langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$ to map $L^{\frac{2d}{d-2\bar{s}}}$ to L^2 and in the second case we need it to compensate the factor $|x|^{\delta}$ which comes from A^{δ} , but we do not have to do both at the same time.

7.2. Low frequency estimates for a small perturbation of the Laplacian. After the preliminary work of Section 7.1, we are able to apply the general theory of Section 5 to the rescaled resolvent $\tilde{R}_{\iota}(z)$ and prove the estimates of Theorem 7.1.

Proposition 7.12. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta > n + \frac{1}{2}$. If \mathcal{N}_1 is small enough there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $j, k \in \mathbb{N}$ with $j \leqslant k$ and $k - j \leqslant n + 1$ we have

$$\forall z \in \mathbb{C}_{+}, \quad \left\| \langle A \rangle^{-\delta} \, \tilde{\Phi}_{0}(z) \tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{j,k}^{\iota}(z) \, \langle A \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^{2})} \leqslant C \, |z|^{\nu_{0} + \mathcal{V}_{j,k}} \,.$$

Proof. Let $J \subset \mathbb{R}_+^*$ be a compact neighborhood of 1. We have to prove that A is uniformly conjugate to \tilde{P}_z on J with constant lower bound, that \tilde{P}_z is uniformly (n+1)-smooth with respect to A and that for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ the pair $(\tilde{\Phi}_k(z), \mathrm{Id})$ belongs to $C_{n+1}(\tilde{P}_z, A)$ with

$$\left\| \tilde{\Phi}_k(z) \right\|_{\tilde{P}_z, A, n+1} \leqslant C |z|^{\nu_k}$$

(see Definition 5.15). This last statement is a direct consequence of Corollary 7.5 and Proposition 7.9. Assumptions (a) and (b) of Definition 5.1 can be checked as for intermediate frequencies, and assumptions (c_N) and (d_N) of Definition 5.3 are consequences of Proposition 7.6. Let us now check the main assumption of Definition 5.1. Let $\operatorname{Re}(\tilde{P}_z) = \tilde{P}_z^0 + \operatorname{Im}(\hat{z}) |z|^{-1} a_\iota$ be the real part of \tilde{P}_z . Using notation (7.10) we have for $m \in \{0,1\}$ and $u \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$

$$\left\langle \operatorname{ad}_{iA}^{m} \left(\tilde{P}_{z}^{0} \right) u, u \right\rangle_{L^{2}} - 2^{m} \left\| \nabla u \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \sum_{j,k} \left\langle \left(\gamma_{j,k,|z|}^{(m)} - 2^{m} \delta_{j,k} \right) D_{k} u, D_{j} u \right\rangle \gtrsim -\mathcal{N}_{m} \left\| \nabla u \right\|^{2}.$$

This proves that if \mathcal{N}_1 is small enough we have

$$\operatorname{ad}_{iA}(\tilde{P}_z^0) \geqslant -\Delta \geqslant \frac{1}{2}\tilde{P}_z^0$$

in the sense of quadratic forms on $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. It remains true on H^2 which is the domain of the closures of these operators. On the other hand for $m \in \{0,1\}$ we have $\operatorname{Im}(\hat{z}) |z|^{-1} \|a_{\iota,|z|}^{(m)}u\|_{L^2} \le C\mathcal{N}_m \|u\|_{H^1}$, so if \mathcal{N}_1 is small enough we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{1}_{J} \big(\operatorname{Re}(\tilde{P}_{z}) \big) & \operatorname{ad}_{iA} \big(\operatorname{Re}(\tilde{P}_{z}) \big) \mathbb{1}_{J} \big(\operatorname{Re}(\tilde{P}_{z}) \big) \geqslant \frac{1}{4} \mathbb{1}_{J} \big(\operatorname{Re}(\tilde{P}_{z}) \big) \tilde{P}_{z}^{0} \mathbb{1}_{J} \big(\operatorname{Re}(\tilde{P}_{z}) \big) \\ & \geqslant \frac{1}{8} \mathbb{1}_{J} \big(\operatorname{Re}(\tilde{P}_{z}) \big) \operatorname{Re}(\tilde{P}_{z}) \mathbb{1}_{J} \big(\operatorname{Re}(\tilde{P}_{z}) \big) \\ & \geqslant \frac{\inf J}{8} \mathbb{1}_{J} \big(\operatorname{Re}(\tilde{P}_{z}) \big). \end{split}$$

Thus we can apply Theorem 5.16 to obtain the result for $z \in \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$. We can similarly prove an analogous result with inserted factors in reversed order and take the adjoint to get the result for $z \in \mathbb{C}_{-,+}$. It only remains to remark that the result is clear when Re(z) = 0.

Proposition 7.13. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$.

(i) Let δ be greater than $n+\frac{1}{2}$ if $n\geqslant \frac{d}{2}$ and greater than n+1 otherwise. Then there exists $C\geqslant 0$ such that for all $z\in\mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} \Phi_0 \mathcal{R}_{0,n}^{\iota}(z) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant C \left(1 + \left| z \right|^{d-\varepsilon - 2(n+1) + \nu_0 + \mathcal{V}_{0,n}} \right).$$

(ii) Assume that $2n \neq d-2$ or $\mathcal{V}_{0,n} \neq 0$. Let $\delta_1, \delta_2 > n + \frac{1}{2}$ be such that $\delta_1 + \delta_2 > \min(2(n+1), d)$. Then there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta_1} \mathcal{R}_{0,n}^{\iota}(z) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta_2} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant C \left(1 + |z|^{d-2(n+1)+\mathcal{V}_{0,n}} \right).$$

Proof. We prove both statements at the same time, using the notation $\delta_1 = \delta_2 = \delta$ for the first case. We have $\nu_0 = 0$ and $\Phi_0 = 1$ in the second case. We recall that for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\langle x \rangle^{-\delta_1} \Phi_0 \mathcal{R}_{0,n}^{\iota}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta_2} = |z|^{-2(n+1)} \langle x \rangle^{-\delta_1} e^{iA \ln|z|} \tilde{\Phi}_0(z) \tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{0,n}^{\iota}(z) e^{-iA \ln|z|} \langle x \rangle^{-\delta_2}. \tag{7.16}$$

As we did for $\mathcal{R}_{0,n}(z)$ in the proof of Proposition 6.2, we can check by induction on $m \in \mathbb{N}$ that $\tilde{\Phi}_0(z)\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{0,n}^{\iota}(z)$ can be written as a sum of terms either of the form $(1+\hat{z}^2)^{\beta}\tilde{\Phi}_0(z)\tilde{\Theta}_{0;\alpha_0,\dots,\alpha_n}(z)$ with $\beta \in \mathbb{N}, \alpha_0,\dots,\alpha_n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, or

$$\left(1+\hat{z}^2\right)^{\beta}\tilde{\Phi}_0(z)\tilde{\Theta}_{0;\alpha_0,\dots,\alpha_j}(z)\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{j,k}^{\iota}(z)\tilde{\Theta}_{k;\alpha_k,\dots,\alpha_n}(z) \tag{7.17}$$

where $\beta \in \mathbb{N}$, $j, k \in [0, n]$, $j \leq k$, $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_{j-1}, \alpha_{k+1}, \ldots, \alpha_n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, $\alpha_j, \alpha_k \in \mathbb{N}$, $\sum_{l=0}^{j} \alpha_l \geq m$ and $\sum_{l=k}^{n} \alpha_l \geq m$.

• Let $s_1 \in [0, \frac{d}{2} + 1[\setminus \{\frac{d}{2}\}, \tilde{s}_1 = \min(s_1 - \nu_0, \frac{d}{2}), s_2 = \tilde{s}_2 \in [0, \frac{d}{2}[$, and assume that $\delta_1 > \tilde{s}_1$ and $\delta_2 > \tilde{s}_2$. We have $H^{s_1 - \nu_0} \subset L^{\frac{2d}{d - 2\tilde{s}_1}}$ and $L^{\frac{2d}{d + 2\tilde{s}_2}} \subset H^{-s_2}$ with continuous embeddings. Moreover multiplication by $\langle x \rangle^{-\delta_1}$ is bounded from $L^{\frac{2d}{d - 2\tilde{s}_1}}$ to L^2 and multiplication by $\langle x \rangle^{-\delta_2}$ is bounded from L^2 to $L^{\frac{2d}{d + 2\tilde{s}_2}}$. Let σ_0 be given by Proposition 7.10 and $\sigma \in [0, \sigma_0]$ (we take $\sigma = 0$ if $\nu_0 \neq 0$). Assume that $s_1 + s_2 \leq 2(n+1) - (1+\sigma)\mathcal{V}_{0,n}$. According to Proposition 6.1 and Proposition 7.10 we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta_{1}} \, e^{iA \ln |z|} \tilde{\Phi}_{0}(z) \tilde{\Theta}_{0;\alpha_{0},...,\alpha_{n}}(z) e^{-iA \ln |z|} \, \langle x \rangle^{-\delta_{2}} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^{2})} \\ & \leqslant \left\| e^{iA \ln |z|} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}\left(L^{\frac{2d}{d-2\tilde{s}_{1}}}\right)} \left\| \tilde{\Phi}_{0}(z) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{s_{1}},H^{s_{1}-\nu_{0}})} \left\| \tilde{\Theta}_{0;\alpha_{0},...,\alpha_{n}}(z) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{-s_{2}},H^{s_{1}})} \left\| e^{-iA \ln |z|} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}\left(L^{\frac{2d}{d+2\tilde{s}_{2}}}\right)} \\ & \leqslant C \, |z|^{\tilde{s}_{1}+\tilde{s}_{2}+\nu_{0}+(1+\sigma)\mathcal{V}_{0,n}} \, . \end{split}$$

• We now consider a term of the form (7.17) with m large enough. According to Proposition 7.12 we have

$$\left\| \left\langle A \right\rangle^{-\delta_1} \tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{j,k}^{\iota}(z) \left\langle A \right\rangle^{-\delta_2} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \lesssim \left| z \right|^{\mathcal{V}_{j,k}}.$$

Then we apply Proposition 7.11 and obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta_1} \, e^{iA \ln|z|} \tilde{\Phi}_0(z) \tilde{\Theta}_{0;\alpha_0,\dots,\alpha_j}(z) \tilde{\mathcal{R}}^{\iota}_{j,k}(z) \tilde{\Theta}_{k;\alpha_k,\dots,\alpha_n}(z) e^{-iA \ln|z|} \, \langle x \rangle^{-\delta_2} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \\ &\lesssim |z|^{\tilde{s}_1 + \nu_0 + \mathcal{V}_{0,j}} \, |z|^{\mathcal{V}_{j,k}} \, |z|^{\tilde{s}_2 + \mathcal{V}_{k,n}} \lesssim |z|^{\tilde{s}_1 + \tilde{s}_2 + \nu_0 + \mathcal{V}_{0,n}} \, . \end{aligned}$$

• Let us now choose σ , s_1 and s_2 more precisely. In case (i) we set $\sigma = 0$,

$$s_2 = \min\left(n + 1 - \frac{\nu_0 + \mathcal{V}_{0,n}}{2}, \frac{d - \varepsilon}{2}\right), \text{ and } s_1 = s_2 + \nu_0.$$

Then the conditions on s_1 and s_2 are satisfied and we have

$$\tilde{s}_1 + \tilde{s}_2 + \nu_0 + \mathcal{V}_{0,n} = \min(2(n+1), d - \varepsilon + \nu_0 + \mathcal{V}_{0,n})$$

which, together with (7.16), gives the first statement of the proposition.

• In case (ii) we set $\sigma = 0$ if $2n + 2 - \mathcal{V}_{0,n} \neq d$ and we choose any $\sigma \in]0, \sigma_0]$ otherwise, so that $2n + 2 - (1 + \sigma)\mathcal{V}_{0,n} \neq d$ in any case. Then, if $2n + 2 - (1 + \sigma)\mathcal{V}_{0,n} < d$ we choose $s_1 \in [0, \min\left(\delta_1, \frac{d}{2}\right)[$ and $s_2 \in [0, \min\left(\delta_2, \frac{d}{2}\right)[$ such that $s_1 + s_2 = 2n + 2 - (1 + \sigma)\mathcal{V}_{0,n}$. If $2n + 2 - (1 + \sigma)\mathcal{V}_{0,n} > d$ we consider

$$s_1 = s_2 \in \left[\frac{d}{2}, \min\left(\delta_1, \delta_2, \frac{d}{2} + 1, \frac{2n + 2 - (1 + \sigma)\mathcal{V}_{0,n}}{2} \right) \right].$$

Thus we have $\tilde{s}_1 + \tilde{s}_2 + (1+\sigma)\mathcal{V}_{0,n} = \min\left(2(n+1), d+\mathcal{V}_{0,n}\right)$ and statement (ii) is proved. \square

Finally we can prove Theorem 7.1:

Proof of Theorem 7.1. Let us write $\Phi_0 R^{(m)}(z)$ as a linear combination of terms as given by Proposition 5.9. We consider such a term $\Phi_0 T(z)$ and use the notation of Proposition 5.9. $\Phi_0 T(z)$ is then of the form $z^k \Phi_0 \mathcal{R}_{0,n}(z)$ with $\mathcal{V}_{0,n} = j_1 + \cdots + j_n$. According to Proposition 7.13 we have

$$\left\|\left\langle x\right\rangle^{-\delta}\Phi_{0}T(z)\left\langle x\right\rangle^{-\delta}\right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^{2})}\lesssim\left|z\right|^{k}\left(1+\left|z\right|^{d-\varepsilon-2(n+1)+\nu_{0}+\mathcal{V}_{0,n}}\right)\lesssim1+\left|z\right|^{m-2+\nu_{0}-\varepsilon}.$$

For the second part we have $\nu_0 = 0$. If $2(n+1) \neq d$ or $\mathcal{V}_{0,n} \neq 0$, then we apply the second part of Proposition 7.13 to conclude. If 2(n+1) = d and $\mathcal{V}_{0,n} = 0$ then $m \neq d-2$ (since d is even) and hence k > 0. Then as above

$$\left\|\left\langle x\right\rangle^{-\delta}T(z)\left\langle x\right\rangle^{-\delta}\right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)}\lesssim |z|^k\left(1+|z|^{d-\varepsilon-2(n+1)}\right)\lesssim |z|^k\left(1+|z|^{-\varepsilon}\right)\lesssim |z|^{k-\varepsilon}\lesssim 1.$$

7.3. **General long-range perturbations.** We now use Theorem 7.1 to prove Theorems 1.3 and 1.4. Here we basically follow the same strategy as in [Boull] but this approach has to be modified since we are dealing with non-self-adjoint operators.

For $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ and $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ we set

$$S_{\psi}(z) = K_z R_{\iota}(z) \psi(H_0).$$

According to the resolvent equation

$$R(z) = R_{\iota}(z) - R(z)K_{z}R_{\iota}(z)$$

we have

$$R(z)\psi(H_0) = R_{\iota}(z)\psi(H_0) - R(z)S_{\psi}(z). \tag{7.18}$$

Proposition 7.14. Let $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, [0, 1]), n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$.

(i) Let δ be greater than $n+\frac{1}{2}$ if $n\geqslant\frac{d}{2}$ and greater than n+1 otherwise, and $M\geqslant 0$. Then there exists $C\geqslant 0$ such that for all $z\in\mathbb{C}_+$ with $|z|\leqslant 1$ we have

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{M} S_{\psi}^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^{2}, H^{-1})} \leqslant C \left(1 + |z|^{d-1-n-\varepsilon} \right). \tag{7.19}$$

(ii) Assume that d is odd or $n \neq d-2$. Let $\delta_2 > n + \frac{1}{2}$. Then there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ with $|z| \leqslant 1$ we have

$$\left\| \left\langle x \right\rangle^M S_{\psi}^{(n)}(z) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta_2} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2, H^{-1})} \leqslant C \left(1 + |z|^{d-2-n} \right).$$

We will see later the importance in (7.19) of having the estimates in term of $|z|^{d-1-n-\varepsilon}$ rather than $|z|^{d-2-n-\varepsilon}$. The basic reason why we have such bounds is that, in the expression of K_z defined in (7.1), one term carries an additional power of z and the other one carries derivatives D_k which allows to use the estimates (7.4) with $|\alpha| = 1$.

Proof. The result follows from Theorem 7.1 and the boundedness of $\psi(H_0)$ as an operator on $L^{2,\delta}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$. The reason why we obtain estimates in the $\mathcal{L}(L^2, H^{-1})$ topology is due to the fact we see $\langle x \rangle^M D_j \gamma_{j,k}^0 D_k R_\iota(z) \psi(H_0)$ as bounded from $L^{2,-\delta}$ to H^{-1} (rather than L^2) because of the derivatives D_j in the expression of K_0 (see (7.1)).

Then we prove that if ψ is well-chosen then $S_{\psi}(z)$ is in fact uniformly small (for |z| small) in some suitable sense:

Proposition 7.15. Let $\varepsilon_1 > 0$, $\delta > 2$ and $M \geqslant 0$. There exist a bounded neighborhood \mathcal{U} of 0 in \mathbb{C} and $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ equal to 1 in a neighborhood of 0 such that for all $z \in \mathcal{U} \cap \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^M S_{\psi}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant \varepsilon_1.$$

Proof. • Let $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$, $\mu > 0$ and $z = \tau + i\mu$. We can write

$$\langle x \rangle^{M} S_{\psi}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} = \langle x \rangle^{M} K_{0} R_{\iota}(i\mu) \psi(H_{0}) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} + \langle x \rangle^{M} K_{0} (R_{\iota}(z) - R_{\iota}(i\mu)) \psi(H_{0}) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} - iz \langle x \rangle^{M} a_{0} R_{\iota}(z) \psi(H_{0}) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$$

$$(7.20)$$

and estimate each term of the right-hand side.

• Let us estimate the first term. According to the Hardy inequality we have for $u \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^M K_0 u \right\|_{L^2} \lesssim \sum_{j,k=1}^d \left\| \langle x \rangle^M (D_j \gamma_{j,k}^0) D_k u \right\|_{L^2} + \left\| \langle x \rangle^M \gamma_{j,k}^0 D_j D_k u \right\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|u\|_{\dot{H}^2}.$$

Thanks to Remark 7.8 we get

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^M K_0 u \right\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|P_0 u\|_{L^2}.$$

Since for all $\mu \in]0,1]$ we also have

$$P_0 R_{\iota}(i\mu) = 1 - \mu a_{\iota} R_{\iota}(i\mu) - \mu^2 R_{\iota}(i\mu)$$

we obtain

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{M} K_{0} R_{\iota}(i\mu) \psi(H_{0}) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^{2})} \lesssim \left\| P_{0} R_{\iota}(i\mu) \psi(H_{0}) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|$$

$$\lesssim \left\| \psi(H_{0}) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\| + \mu \left\| a_{\iota} R_{\iota}(i\mu) \psi(H_{0}) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\| + \mu^{2} \left\| R_{\iota}(i\mu) \psi(H_{0}) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|$$

$$\lesssim \left\| \psi(H_{0}) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\| \left(1 + \mu^{2} \left\| R_{\iota}(i\mu) \right\| \right) + \mu \left\| \sqrt{a_{\iota}} R_{\iota}(i\mu) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|$$

We have

$$\mu^2 \|R_\iota(i\mu)\| \leqslant 1,$$

and according to Proposition 3.7 applied to R_{ι} and Theorem 7.1:

$$\mu \left\| \sqrt{a_{\iota}} R_{\iota}(i\mu) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\| \leqslant \sqrt{\mu} \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} R_{\iota}(i\mu) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \lesssim \sqrt{\mu},$$

so

$$\left\| \left\langle x \right\rangle^{M} K_{0} R_{\iota}(i\mu) \psi(H_{0}) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^{2})} \lesssim \left\| \psi(H_{0}) \left\langle x \right\rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^{2})} + \sqrt{\mu}.$$

Since 0 is not an eigenvalue of H_0 , the right-hand side goes to 0 if the support of ψ shrinks to $\{0\}$, and hence the left-hand side is less than $\varepsilon_1/3$ if ψ is well-chosen and μ is small enough.

- According to Theorem 7.1, and since a_0 is compactly supported, the third term can indeed be made as small as we wish if |z| is chosen small.
- It remains to estimate the second term of (7.20). Since the operators $\langle x \rangle^{\delta} \psi(H_0) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$ and $\langle x \rangle^{M} K_0(P_{i\mu} + 1)^{-1} \langle x \rangle^{\delta}$ have bounded closures on L^2 (whose norms are uniform in $\mu \in]0,1]$), we only have to estimate

$$\langle x \rangle^{-\delta} (P_{i\mu} + 1) (R_{\iota}(z) - R_{\iota}(i\mu)) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$$

in $\mathcal{L}(L^2)$ to conclude. We have

$$(P_{i\mu} + 1)(R_{\iota}(z) - R_{\iota}(i\mu))$$

$$= 1 + (1 + z^{2})R_{\iota}(z) + i\tau a_{\iota}R_{\iota}(z) - 1 - (1 - \mu^{2})R_{\iota}(i\mu)$$

$$= (1 + z^{2}) \int_{0}^{\tau} \frac{d}{ds}R_{\iota}(s + i\mu) ds + (z^{2} + \mu^{2})R_{\iota}(i\mu) + i\tau a_{\iota}R_{\iota}(z),$$

and hence we can conclude with Theorem 7.1.

Now we can prove low frequency resolvent estimates in the general setting:

Proof of Theorems 1.3 and 1.4. For $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we set $B(z) = (H_0 - z^2)^{-1}(1 - \psi)(H_0)$. For any $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$, the function B and all its derivatives are bounded on $L^{2,\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ uniformly in $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ close enough to 0. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. If n > 0 we assume that the first estimate of Theorem 1.3 is proved for all $m \in [0, n-1]$ and we proceed by induction. Let $\sigma > n + \frac{1}{2}$ if $n \ge \frac{d}{2}$ and $\sigma > \max(n+1,2)$ otherwise. Let $\varepsilon_1 > 0$. Let \mathcal{U} and ψ be given by Proposition 7.15 applied with $M = \sigma$. We can

assume that $\overline{\mathcal{U}} \cap \text{supp}(1 - \psi) = \emptyset$. According to (7.18) and the resolvent identity between H_0 and H_z we have

$$R^{(n)}(z) = \frac{d^n}{dz^n} \left(R_\iota(z) \psi(H_0) - R(z) S_\psi(z) + B(z) + iz R(z) a B(z) \right)$$

$$= R_\iota^{(n)}(z) \psi(H_0) - R^{(n)}(z) S_\psi(z) + iz R^{(n)}(z) a B(z) + B^{(n)}(z)$$

$$+ \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} C_n^k R^{(k)}(z) \frac{d^{n-k}}{dz^{n-k}} \left(S_\psi(z) + iz a B(z) \right)$$
(7.21)

Here we observe that bounds on

$$R^{(k)}(z)\frac{d^{n-k}}{dz^{n-k}}S_{\psi}(z) = R^{(k)}(z)\langle x\rangle^{-\delta}\langle x\rangle^{\delta}\frac{d^{n-k}}{dz^{n-k}}S_{\psi}(z)$$

will rest on Proposition 7.14 after the simple observation that $L^2 \to L^2$ estimates on $R^{(k)}(z)\langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$, as $z \to 0$, can be easily be converted in $H^{-1} \to L^2$ estimates by using the resolvent identity to write

$$R(z)\langle x\rangle^{-\delta} = R(i)\langle x\rangle^{-\delta} + R(z)\langle x\rangle^{-\delta} (1 + a + z^2 + iza) \left(\langle x\rangle^{\delta} R(i)\langle x\rangle^{-\delta}\right)$$

where the first term and the last bracket in the right hand side are bounded from H^{-1} to L^2 (and even H^1) by standard elliptic regularity. Then, according to Theorem 7.1, Proposition 7.15, Proposition 7.14 and the inductive assumption, there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathcal{U} \cap \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} R^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\sigma} \right\| \leqslant C \left(1 + |z|^{d-2-n-\varepsilon} \right) + C(\varepsilon_1 + |z|) \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} R^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\sigma} \right\|.$$

If ε_1 and |z| are small enough we get

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} R^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\sigma} \right\| \leqslant C \left(1 + |z|^{d-2-n-\varepsilon} \right).$$

Then, according to (7.18) and Proposition 7.14:

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} R^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\| (1 - C |z|)$$

$$\leq C \left(1 + |z|^{d-2-n-\varepsilon} \right) + C \left\| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} R^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\sigma} \right\| \left\| \langle x \rangle^{\sigma} S_{\psi}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|$$

$$\leq C \left(1 + |z|^{d-2-n-\varepsilon} \right),$$

which gives the result for |z| small enough. Theorem 1.4 and the second estimate of Theorem 1.3 are proved similarly by using crucially in the latter case the bounds (7.19).

8. High frequency estimates

Let us now discuss high frequency estimates. For h > 0 and $\sigma \in \mathbb{C}_+$ we set

$$H_h^{\sigma} = h^2 H_0 - ih\sigma a(x). \tag{8.1}$$

For $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$, $h = |z|^{-1}$ and $\sigma = hz$ we have

$$R(z) = h^2 (H_h^{\sigma} - \sigma^2)^{-1}.$$
 (8.2)

To prove Theorem 1.5 we use again the uniform and dissipative version of Mourre's commutators method developed in Section 5. We are now in a semiclassical setting, and the proof relies on semiclassical pseudo-differential calculus. We recall that for a suitable symbol q on the phase space $\mathbb{R}^{2d} \simeq T^*\mathbb{R}^d$ the pseudo-differential operator $\operatorname{Op}_h^w(q)$ is defined for $u \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ by

$$\operatorname{Op}_{h}^{w}(q)u(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi h)^{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{-\frac{i}{h}\langle x - y, \xi \rangle} q\left(\frac{x + y}{2}, \xi\right) u(y) \, dy \, d\xi.$$

In particular the semiclassical generator of dilations

$$A_h = -\frac{ih}{2} (x \cdot \nabla + \nabla \cdot x)$$

is the quantization of the symbol $f_0:(x,\xi)\mapsto \langle x,\xi\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^d}$ and the principal symbol of h^2H_0 is

$$p:(x,\xi)\mapsto \langle G(x)\xi,\xi\rangle_{\mathbb{P}^d}$$
.

We refer to [Zwo12, Rob87, Mar02, DS99] for detailed presentations of semiclassical analysis.

According to Proposition 3.4 it is sufficient to prove Theorem 1.5 for $\operatorname{Im} z \in]0,1]$, and as before (see the proof of Proposition 6.2) it suffices to consider the case where z (and hence σ) belongs to $\mathbb{C}_{+,+}$. According to Proposition 5.9, it will be a consequence of Theorem 5.16 if we prove that A_h is uniformly conjugated to H_h^{σ} on a neighborhood of 1 with lower bound of size c_0h for some $c_0 > 0$, if H_h^{σ} is uniformly N-smooth with respect to A_h for any $N \in \mathbb{N}$, and if moreover the multiplication by a is in $\mathcal{C}_N(A_h)$ uniformly in h (see Definition 5.15).

For $w \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$ we denote by $\phi^t(w) = (X(t, w), \Xi(t, w)), t \in \mathbb{R}$, the solution of the Hamiltonian equations generated by the symbol p with initial condition w:

$$\phi^0(w) = w, \quad \partial_t X(t, w) = \nabla_{\varepsilon} p(\phi^t(w)) \quad \text{and} \quad \partial_t \Xi(t, w) = -\nabla_x p(\phi^t(w)).$$

In this particular case $\{\phi^t(w), t \in \mathbb{R}\}$ is also the geodesic for the metric $G(x)^{-1}$ starting from w. We also recall that p is preserved by the flow. Moreover for any $q \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ the Poisson bracket $\{p,q\} = \nabla_{\xi} p \cdot \nabla_x q - \nabla_x p \cdot \nabla_{\xi} q$ is the derivative $\partial_t (q \circ \phi^t)|_{t=0}$ of q along the flow.

Let us also introduce the forward and backward trapped sets

$$\Omega_b^{\pm} = \left\{ w \in \mathbb{R}^{2d} : \sup_{t \geqslant 0} |X(\pm t, w)| < \infty \right\}$$

and the forward and backward non-trapped sets

$$\Omega_{\infty}^{\pm} = \left\{ w \in \mathbb{R}^{2d} : |X(\pm t, w)| \xrightarrow[t \to +\infty]{} + \infty \right\}.$$

Then the trapped and non-trapped sets are respectively defined by

$$\Omega_b = \Omega_b^- \cap \Omega_b^+$$
 and $\Omega_\infty = \Omega_\infty^- \cap \Omega_\infty^+$.

For $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ we also define $\Omega_b^{\pm}(I) = \Omega_b^{\pm} \cap p^{-1}(I)$. The sets $\Omega_b(I)$, $\Omega_{\infty}^{\pm}(I)$ and $\Omega_{\infty}(I)$ are defined similarly. Although it is not clear from the definitions, it turns out that a classical trajectory is either trapped (bounded) or non-trapped in the future. The same holds for negative times. This will be the meaning of Proposition 8.3 below.

We recall that the geodesic flow is said to be non-trapping if $\Omega_b(\mathbb{R}_+^*) = \emptyset$, and we say that every bounded geodesic goes through the damping region (or that we have geometric control) if

$$\forall w \in \Omega_b(\mathbb{R}^*_+), \exists t \in \mathbb{R}, \quad a(X(t, w)) > 0.$$
(8.3)

The idea to prove Theorem 1.5 is close to that of Theorem 4.2 in [Roy10b]. We review the proof since we consider here a geodesic flow, everything has to be uniform in σ and there are the factors a(x) between the resolvents. We also correct a mistake of the first proof (about trajectories in $\Omega_b^{\pm} \setminus \Omega_b$, see the proof of Lemma 8.7).

As in [GM88] the proof of Theorem 1.5 relies on the construction of an escape function, whose quantization provides a conjugate operator for the Schrödinger operator. For high frequencies we really use the generalized version of Mourre estimate (5.1): we only need a symbol which is increasing along the flow outside the damping region.

Proposition 8.1 (Construction of an escape function). Let I be a compact subset of \mathbb{R}_+^* . Then there exist $c_0 > 0$, $f_c \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ and $\beta \geqslant 0$ such that

$${p, f_0 + f_c} + \beta a \ge 4c_0$$
 on $p^{-1}(I)$.

We recall that f_0 is the symbol of the generator of dilations. As in [GM88] we can check that f_0 is an escape function far from the origin. We can also use the idea of Ch. Gérard and A. Martinez to construct a symbol which is an escape function on any compact subset of Ω_{∞} . However we may have problems at the boundary of Ω_{∞} , where some non-trapped trajectories may escape very slowly. We circumvent this difficulty by constructing a generalized escape function on a neighborhood of any compact subset of $\Omega_b^+ \cup \Omega_b^-$. For this we use Proposition 8.4. More precisely for any $w \in \Omega_b^+ \cup \Omega_b^-$ we construct a function which is increasing along the flow around w and which is non-decreasing outside the damping region. Adding a suitable multiple of a we obtain the required positivity. The proof of Proposition 8.1 is based on several lemmas.

Lemma 8.2. There exists $\mathcal{R}_G > 0$ such that if

$$|X(\pm t_0, x, \xi)| \geqslant \max\left(\mathcal{R}_G, |x| + \gamma\right) \tag{8.4}$$

for some $(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$, $\gamma > 0$ and $t_0 > 0$, then this holds for t_0 replaced by any $t \geqslant t_0$ and moreover

$$|X(\pm t, x, \xi)| \xrightarrow[t \to +\infty]{} +\infty.$$

Proof. Since G(x) is close to Id for large |x| (in the sense of (1.2)), we can check that there exists $C \geqslant 0$ such that for $w \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} \left| X(\pm t, w) \right|^2 = 8 \left| G(X(\pm t, w)) \Xi(\pm t, w) \right|^2 - C \left\langle X(\pm t, w) \right\rangle^{-\rho} \left| \Xi(\pm t, w) \right|^2,$$

where $\rho > 0$ is given by (1.2). This is greater than $c_0 |\Xi(\pm t, w)|^2$ for some $c_0 > 0$ if $|X(\pm t, w)|^2 \ge \mathcal{R}_g^2$ with \mathcal{R}_g large enough. Now let \mathcal{R}_g be fixed. The assumption implies that there exists $\theta \in [0, t]$ such that $|X(\pm \theta, w)|^2 > \mathcal{R}_g^2$ and $\partial_s |X(\pm s, w)|^2\Big|_{s=\theta} > 0$ (and in particular $|\Xi(\pm \theta, w)| > 0$). With the property on the second derivative we obtain that $s \mapsto |X(\pm s, w)|^2$ is increasing for $s \geqslant \theta$ and goes to infinity when s goes to infinity.

Together with continuity of the flow, Lemma 8.2 has important consequences which we shall use in the proof of Theorem 1.5:

Proposition 8.3. (i) We have

$$\mathbb{R}^{2d} = \Omega_b^+ \sqcup \Omega_\infty^+ = \Omega_b^- \sqcup \Omega_\infty^-,$$

and in particular

$$\mathbb{R}^{2d} = \Omega_h^+ \cup \Omega_h^- \cup \Omega_\infty.$$

- (ii) Ω_{∞}^+ , Ω_{∞}^- and Ω_{∞} are open in \mathbb{R}^{2d} , and Ω_b^+ , Ω_b^- and Ω_b are closed. (iii) If K is a compact subset of Ω_{∞} , then for all $R \geqslant 0$ we can find $T \geqslant 0$ such that $|X(t,v)| \geqslant R$ for all $|t| \ge T$ and $v \in K$. Moreover $\bigcup_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \phi^{-t}(K)$ is closed in \mathbb{R}^{2d} .

Proof. Let \mathcal{R}_q be given by Lemma 8.2.

- If $w \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$ does not belong to Ω_b^{\pm} then for any $\gamma > 0$ there exists t_0 such that (8.4) holds, and hence $w \in \Omega_{\infty}^{\pm}$ according to Lemma 8.2. The second statement easily follows.
- Let $w \in \Omega_{\infty}^{\pm}$. We can find $t_0 \ge 0$ such that Assumption (8.4)₊ holds with $\gamma = 2$. By continuity of the flow there exists a neighborhood \mathcal{V} of w in \mathbb{R}^{2d} such that it holds for all $v \in \mathcal{V}$ with the same t_0 and $\gamma = 1$, and hence $\mathcal{V} \subset \Omega_{\infty}^{\pm}$. This proves that Ω_{∞}^{\pm} is open in \mathbb{R}^{2d} . Then we use (i) to conclude.
- (iii) Let $R \ge 0$. We can assume without loss of generality that $R \ge \mathcal{R}_g$ and $K \subset \{|x| < R\}$. For all $w \in K$ we can find $t_w \ge 0$ and a neighborhood \mathcal{V}_w of w such that $|X(\pm t_w, v)| > R$ for all $v \in \mathcal{V}_w$. According to Lemma 8.2 this holds for any $t \geqslant t_w$. Since K is compact we can find $T \ge 0$ such that for all $w \in K$ we have $|X(\pm t, w)| > R$ for t = T and hence for any $t\geqslant T$. This proves the first claim. In particular for any $R\geqslant 0$ there exists $T\geqslant 0$ such that $\bigcup_{t\in\mathbb{R}}\phi^t(K)\cap\{|x|\leqslant R\} = \bigcup_{t\in[-T,T]}\phi^t(K)\cap\{|x|\leqslant R\}.$ By continuity of the flow this set is compact for all $R \ge 0$, which implies that $\bigcup_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \phi^t(K)$ is closed.

The damping condition (8.3) has been stated for trapped trajectories. We now claim that it automatically holds for semi-trapped trajectories:

Proposition 8.4. If (8.3) holds then

$$\forall w \in \Omega_h^{\pm}(\mathbb{R}_+^*), \exists t \geqslant 0, \quad a(X(\pm t, w)) > 0.$$

Proof. Let $w \in \Omega_b^{\pm}(\mathbb{R}_+^*)$ and $R = \sup\{|X(\pm t, w)|, t \ge 0\}$. We can find $w_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$ and a sequence $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that $t_n \to +\infty$ and $\phi^{\pm t_n}(w) \to w_{\infty}$. Let $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Since $t \pm t_n \ge 0$ for n large enough we have

$$|X(t, w_{\infty})| = \lim_{n \to \infty} |X(t \pm t_n, w)| \leqslant R,$$

and hence $w_{\infty} \in \Omega_b(\mathbb{R}_+^*)$. Then, according to (8.3), there exists $t_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $a(X(\pm t_{\infty}, w_{\infty})) >$ 0. Finally, since a is continuous, we can find $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $t_n + t_\infty \ge 0$ and $a(X(\pm (t_n + t_\infty), w)) > 0$ **Lemma 8.5** (Escape function at infinity). There exist $\mathcal{R} > 0$ and $C \ge 0$ such that we have on \mathbb{R}^{2d} :

$${p, f_0} \geqslant p \left(1 - C \mathbb{1}_{\{|x| \leqslant \mathcal{R}\}}\right).$$

Proof. For any $(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$ we have

$$\{p, f_0\}(x, \xi) = 2p(x, \xi) - \langle (x \cdot \nabla_x G(x))\xi, \xi \rangle.$$

Moreover there exists $c_1 > 0$ such that for all $(x, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$ we have

$$c_1^{-1} |\xi|^2 \le p(x,\xi) \le c_1 |\xi|^2$$
. (8.5)

Thus for all $(x, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$ we have

$${p, f_0}(x, \xi) \ge 2p(x, \xi) - {\|(x \cdot \nabla_x)G(x)\| |\xi|^2} \ge (2 - {\|(x \cdot \nabla_x)G(x)\| c_1})p(x, \xi),$$

and since $||(x \cdot \nabla_x)G(x)||$ goes to 0 as |x| goes to $+\infty$, we have $\{p, f_0\} \ge p$ if |x| is large enough.

The following lemma uses Assumption (8.3):

Lemma 8.6 (Escape function on semi-bounded geodesics). Let I be a compact subset of \mathbb{R}_+^* , $C_b > 0$, $\mathcal{R} > 0$ and

$$K_b = \left(\Omega_b^+(I) \cup \Omega_b^-(I)\right) \cap \{|x| \leqslant \mathcal{R}\}.$$

Then K_b is compact and there exist $f_b \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$, $\beta \geqslant 0$ and an open neighborhood \mathcal{U}_b of K_b such that on \mathbb{R}^{2d} :

$$\{p, f_b\} + \beta a \geqslant C_b \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}_b}$$
.

Proof. The set K_b is bounded according to (8.5) and closed according to Proposition 8.3 (ii). Let $w \in K_b$. According to Proposition 8.4 there exists $t_w \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $a(X(t_w, w)) > 0$. Since ϕ^{t_w} is continuous we can find a neighborhood \mathcal{V}_w of w such that $a(X(t_w, v)) > 0$ for all $v \in \mathcal{V}_w$. Let $g_w \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d}, [0, 1])$ be supported in \mathcal{V}_w and equal to 1 on a neighborhood \mathcal{U}_w of w, and consider

$$f_w = \int_0^{t_w} g_w \circ \phi^{-t} \, dt.$$

The symbol f_w is compactly supported and

$$\{p, f_w\} = g_w - g_w \circ \phi^{-t_w}.$$

Since $g_w \circ \phi^{-t_w}$ is compactly supported in $\{(x,\xi): a(x)>0\}$, there exists $\beta_w \geqslant 0$ such that $\{p,f_w\}+\beta_w a$ is non-negative on \mathbb{R}^{2d} and at least equal to 1 on \mathcal{U}_w . Since K_b is compact we can find $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $w_1, \ldots, w_n \in K_b$ such that $K_b \subset \mathcal{U}_b := \bigcup_{j=1}^n \mathcal{U}_{w_j}$. Setting $f_b = C_b \sum_{j=1}^n f_{w_j}$ and $\beta = C_b \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_{w_j}$ we obtain a compactly supported symbol f_b such that $\{p, f_b\} + \beta a$ is non-negative and at least equal to C_b on the neighborhood \mathcal{U}_b of K_b .

Lemma 8.7 (Escape function on a bounded set of non-trapped geodesics). Let K_{∞} be a compact subset of Ω_{∞} , $C_{\infty} \ge 0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exists $f_{\infty} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ such that we have on \mathbb{R}^{2d} :

$$\{p, f_{\infty}\} \geqslant C_{\infty} \mathbb{1}_{K_{\infty}} - \varepsilon.$$

Proof. Since Ω_{∞} is open (see Proposition 8.3), we can consider $g_{\infty} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d}, [0, 1])$ supported in Ω_{∞} and equal to 1 on K_{∞} . Let \mathcal{V} be an open bounded neighborhood of supp g_{∞} such that $\overline{\mathcal{V}} \subset \Omega_{\infty}$, and let T be given by Proposition 8.3(iii) applied with $K = \overline{\mathcal{V}}$ and R so large that supp $g_{\infty} \subset \{|x| < R\}$. We claim that for any $w \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$ there exists a neighborhood \mathcal{W}_w of w and $\tau_w \geqslant 0$ such that

$$\forall v \in \mathcal{W}_w, \forall t \in \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus [\tau_w, \tau_w + T], \quad g_\infty(\phi^t(v)) = 0.$$
(8.6)

It is clear if w does not belong to $\mathcal{T} = \bigcup_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \phi^{-t}(\operatorname{supp}(g_{\infty}))$, which is closed, or if $w \in \operatorname{supp}(g_{\infty})$ (with $\mathcal{W}_w = \mathcal{V}$ and $\tau_w = 0$). Finally, let $w \in \mathcal{T} \setminus \operatorname{supp}(g_{\infty})$ and $\tau_w \geqslant 0$ such that $\phi^{\tau_w}(w) \in \mathcal{V}$ but $\phi^t(w) \notin \operatorname{supp}(g_{\infty})$ if $t \in [0, \tau_w]$. Then there exists a neighborhood \mathcal{W}_w of w such that for $v \in \mathcal{W}_w$ we have $\phi^{\tau_w}(v) \in \mathcal{V}$ but $\phi^t(v) \notin \operatorname{supp}(g_{\infty})$ if $t \in [0, \tau_w]$, and (8.6) holds true. As a consequence the function

$$\tilde{f}_{\infty} = -\int_{0}^{+\infty} g_{\infty} \circ \phi^{t} dt$$

is well-defined and belongs to $C_b^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$. Moreover $\{p, \tilde{f}_{\infty}\} = g_{\infty}$ is non-negative and equal to 1 on K_{∞} . However \tilde{f}_{∞} is not compactly supported. So let $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, [0, 1])$ equal to 1 on

 $\{|x| < R\}$. Maybe after replacing ζ by $x \mapsto \zeta(\nu x)$ for $\nu > 0$ small enough, we can assume that $\left| (C_{\infty} \tilde{f}_{\infty} \{p, \zeta\})(w) \right| \leq \varepsilon$ for all $w \in p^{-1}(J_2)$. Then $f_{\infty} = C_{\infty} \tilde{f}_{\infty} \zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ satisfies the conditions of the proposition.

Now we can prove Proposition 8.1:

Proof of Proposition 8.1. We write $I = [E_1, E_2]$ with $E_2 \ge E_1 > 0$. Let \mathcal{R} and C be given by Lemma 8.5. We apply Lemma 8.6 with $C_b = CE_2 + E_1$. Let f_b , β and \mathcal{U}_b be given by this lemma. Then we apply Lemma 8.7 with $C_\infty = CE_2 + E_1$, $\varepsilon = E_1/2$ and $K_\infty = \Omega_\infty(I) \cap \{|x| \le \mathcal{R}\} \setminus \mathcal{U}_b$. Setting $f_c = f_b + f_\infty$ and $c_0 = E_1/8$ finally gives the result.

With Proposition 8.1 and Theorem 5.16 we can finally prove Theorem 1.5:

Proof of Theorem 1.5. • As already mentioned, we only have to prove the result for $\operatorname{Im} z \in]0,1]$ and $\operatorname{Re} z \gg 1$. Thus we have to prove estimates on powers of the resolvent $(H_h^{\sigma} - \sigma^2)^{-1}$ (with inserted multiplications by a) for h>0 small enough and $\sigma \in \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$ close to 1. Let $I \subset \mathbb{R}_+^*$ be a compact neighborhood of 1. Let $f_c \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$, $\beta \geqslant 0$ and $c_0>0$ be given by Proposition 8.1. We check that the self-adjoint operator

$$F_h := \operatorname{Op}_h^w(f_0 + f_c) \tag{8.7}$$

satisfies for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ the assumptions of Definitions 5.1 and 5.3 (with $\alpha_h = c_0 h$ in (5.1)) to be conjugate to H_h^{σ} uniformly in $\lambda = (h, \sigma)$ where $h \in]0, h_0]$ for some $h_0 > 0$ and

$$\sigma \in [\gamma^{-1}, \gamma] + i]0, 1]$$

for some $\gamma > 1$ close to 1. For (a) we remark as usual that $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset \mathcal{D}(\operatorname{Re}(H_h^{\sigma})) \cap \mathcal{D}(F_h)$. We know that A_h satisfies assumption (b), and for $\varphi \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ we can write

$$\sup_{|t| \leqslant 1} \|e^{-itA_h} \varphi - e^{-itF_h} \varphi\|_{H^2} = \sup_{|t| \leqslant 1} \left\| \int_0^t e^{-isA_h} \operatorname{Op}_h^w(f_c) e^{-i(t-s)F_h} \varphi \, ds \right\|_{H^2}$$

$$\leqslant \|\operatorname{Op}_h^w(f_c)\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2, H^2)} \|\varphi\|_{L^2} < \infty.$$

Properties about commutators can be checked using pseudo-differential calculus.

• Let $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, [0, 1])$ be supported in I and equal to 1 on a neighborhood J of 1. According to Proposition 8.1 and the (easy) Gårding inequality (see Theorem 4.26 in [Zwo12]) we have

$$\operatorname{Op}_{h}^{w} ((\chi \circ p)^{2} (\{p, f_{0} + f_{c}\} + \beta a) + 4c_{0} ((1 - \chi) \circ p)^{2}) \ge 2c_{0}$$

for h > 0 small enough, so there exists $C \ge 0$ such that

$$\frac{1}{h}\chi(\operatorname{Re}(H_h^{\sigma}))\big(\left[\operatorname{Re}(H_h^{\sigma}),iF_h\right] + \beta\gamma h\operatorname{Re}(\sigma)a(x)\big)\chi(\operatorname{Re}(H_h^{\sigma})) + 4c_0\left(\left(1 - \chi(\operatorname{Re}(H_h^{\sigma}))\right)^2 \geqslant 2c_0 - Ch,\right)$$

uniformly in σ with $\operatorname{Re} \sigma \geqslant \gamma^{-1}$ and $|\sigma|$ bounded. Multiplication by h and composition by $\mathbbm{1}_J(\operatorname{Re}(H_h^\sigma))$ on both sides gives

$$\mathbb{1}_J(\operatorname{Re}(H_h^{\sigma}))([\operatorname{Re}(H_h^{\sigma}), iF_h] + \beta\gamma h \operatorname{Re}(\sigma)a(x))\mathbb{1}_J(\operatorname{Re}(H_h^{\sigma})) \geqslant c_0 h \mathbb{1}_J(\operatorname{Re}(H_h^{\sigma}))$$

for h > 0 small enough, which is exactly assumption (e) on J.

• It is easy to see that multiplication by a or a derivation D^{α} with $|\alpha| \leq 1$ belong to $C_N(H_h^{\sigma}, A_h)$ for any $N \in \mathbb{N}$ (see Definition 5.15). Moreover there exists $C \geq 0$ such that for all $h \in]0, 1]$ and σ close to 1 we have

$$\|a\|_{F_h,N} \leqslant C$$
 and $\|D^{\alpha}\|_{H_h^{\sigma},F_h,N} \leqslant \frac{C}{h^{|\alpha|}}$.

Now we can apply Theorem 5.16. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $\delta \ge n + \frac{1}{2}$ and $\nu_0, \dots \nu_n \in \{0, 1\}$ there exists $C \ge 0$ such that for all $h \in]0, h_0]$ and $\sigma \in \mathbb{C}_{+,+}$ close to 1 we have

$$\left\| \langle F_h \rangle^{-\delta} D^{\alpha} (H_h^{\sigma} - \sigma^2)^{-1} a(x)^{\nu_1} (H_h^{\sigma} - \sigma^2)^{-1} \dots a(x)^{\nu_n} (H_h^{\sigma} - \sigma^2)^{-1} \langle F_h \rangle^{-\delta} \right\| \leqslant \frac{C}{h^{1+|\alpha|}}.$$

• It remains to see that we can replace the weights $\langle F_h \rangle^{-\delta}$ given by the Mourre theory by weights $\langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$. For this we can proceed as for intermediate frequencies (see also [Roy10b]). Finally we use (8.2) and Proposition 5.9 to conclude.

9. The case of a Laplace-Beltrami operator

In this section, we explain how to prove the following analogue of Theorem 1.1 when H_0 is replaced by a Laplace-Beltrami operator

$$-\Delta_g = -\sum_{j,k=1}^d |g(x)|^{-1} \partial_j (|g(x)|g^{jk}(x)\partial_k), \quad \text{where } |g(x)| = \det(g_{jk}(x))^{1/2},$$

for any metric q which is a long range perturbation of the flat one, in the sense that

$$\left|\partial^{\alpha}(g_{jk}(x)-\delta_{jk})\right| \leqslant C_{\alpha}\langle x\rangle^{-\rho-|\alpha|},$$

with $\rho > 0$. As usual, we have set $(g^{jk}(x)) = (g_{jk}(x))^{-1}$. The analogue of Theorem 1.1 is the following theorem.

Theorem 9.1. Assume that every bounded geodesic of g goes through the damping region. Let $\delta > d + \frac{1}{2}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exists C > 0 such that, for all $(u_0, u_1) \in H^{2,\delta} \times H^{1,\delta}$, the solution u_1 to

$$\partial_t^2 u - \Delta_g u + a(x)\partial_t u = 0, \qquad u_{|t=0} = u_0, \quad \partial_t u_{|t=0} = u_1,$$

satisfies

$$||\nabla u(t)||_{L^{2,-\delta}} + ||\partial_t u(t)||_{L^{2,-\delta}} \leqslant C\langle t \rangle^{-(d-\varepsilon)} (||u_0||_{H^{2,\delta}} + ||u_1||_{H^{1,\delta}})$$

for all $t \ge 0$.

The proof of this theorem follows exactly the same line as the one discribed in Section 4, *i.e.* it is a consequence of resolvent estimates analogue to those obtained for H_0 in Theorems 1.2, 1.3 and 1.5. The main issue is to obtain estimates at low frequencies, *i.e.* when $z \to 0$. The estimates at intermediate and high frequencies do not depend on the precise structure of H (or H_0) to which we could add (symmetric) first order long range perturbations, so we do not consider this part. The relevant low frequency estimates used to prove Theorem 9.1 are given in Theorem 9.4 below.

We let

$$H = \text{ self-adjoint realization of } -\Delta_g \ \text{ on } L_g^2 = L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, d\mathrm{vol}_g),$$

where $d\text{vol}_g = |g(x)|dx$. By the general arguments given in Section 3, the resolvent

$$R_g(z) = (H - iza - z^2)^{-1}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C}_+,$$

is well defined and analytic with respect to $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$. Since |g(x)| is bounded from above and from below, we have $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, d\mathrm{vol}_g) = L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, dx)$ and their norms are equivalent, so we can see $R_g(z)$ (as well as its derivatives in z) as an operator on the standard $L^2 = L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, dx)$ space. The only difference, which will be irrelevant here, is that bounds of the form $||R_g(z)||_{\mathcal{L}(L_g^2)} \leq (\mathrm{Im} z)^{-1}$ are replaced by $||R_g(z)||_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leq C(\mathrm{Im} z)^{-1}$.

We next recall that we can choose coordinates on \mathbb{R}^d such that |g(x)| = 1 outside a compact set (see [Boul1]) which we assume from now on. The interest of this remark is that

$$H = H_0 + W, \qquad W = \sum_{j=1}^{d} b_j(x)D_j,$$
 (9.1)

where $b_1, \ldots, b_n \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and H_0 is as in (1.1) with $G(x) = (g^{jk}(x))$. We also let as before

$$R(z) = (H_0 - iza - z^2)^{-1}, \qquad z \in \mathbb{C}_+.$$

Our strategy is to take advantage of the estimates on R(z) proved in Theorem 1.2 and to use a perturbative argument à la Jensen-Kato [JK79] to derive estimates on $R_g(z)$. If we set as before $z = \tau + i\mu$, we can write

$$R_q(z) = R(z) - R_q(z)WR(z) \tag{9.2}$$

$$= R(z) - R_q(z)WR(i\mu) - R_q(z)W(R(z) - R(i\mu)).$$
 (9.3)

We record the main technical results of this section in the next two propositions.

Proposition 9.2. There exists an operator denoted by $R(0): \dot{H}^{-1} \to \dot{H}^1$ such that, for all $\delta > 1$ and $N \geqslant 0$,

$$\left\| \langle x \rangle^N W \left(R(i\mu) - R(0) \right) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \xrightarrow[\mu \to 0^+]{} 0.$$

Notice that $\langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$ maps L^2 into \dot{H}^{-1} and that, since W is a first order differential operator with (smooth and) compactly supported coefficients, $\langle x \rangle^N W$ maps \dot{H}^1 into L^2 .

Proposition 9.3. For all $\delta > 1$, the operator $I + \langle x \rangle^{\delta} WR(0) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$ is invertible on L^2 .

This proposition is essentially a consequence of the fact that 0 is neither an eigenvalue nor a resonance for H, *i.e.* that there are no non trivial solution to $\Delta_q u = 0$ in \dot{H}^1 .

We postpone the proofs of Propositions 9.2 and 9.3 to the end of the present section and explain first how to use them to get resolvent estimates.

Theorem 9.4. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $n \le d$. Let δ be greater than $n + \frac{1}{2}$ if $n \ge \frac{d}{2}$ and greater than n + 1 otherwise. Then there exists a neighborhood \mathcal{U} of 0 in \mathbb{C} and $C \ge 0$ such that for all $z \in \mathcal{U} \cap \mathbb{C}_+$ we have

$$\left\| \left| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} R_g^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right| \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant C \left(1 + |z|^{d-2-n-\varepsilon} \right)$$

and

$$\left| \left| \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \nabla R_g^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \right| \right|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \leqslant C \left(1 + |z|^{d-1-n-\varepsilon} \right).$$

Here we consider derivatives of order $n \leq d$ for this is only what we need to prove the result on the energy decay.

Proof. We first show that the estimates hold with δ replaced by some N large enough. Using (9.3), we have

$$R_q(z)\langle x\rangle^{-N}(I+A(z)) = R(z)\langle x\rangle^{-N},$$

where

$$A(z) = \langle x \rangle^N W R(0) \langle x \rangle^{-N} + \langle x \rangle^N W (R(i\mu) - R(0) + R(z) - R(i\mu)) \langle x \rangle^{-N}.$$

By Propositions 9.2 and 9.3, $I + \langle x \rangle^N WR(0) \langle x \rangle^{-N} + \langle x \rangle^N W(R(i\mu) - R(0)) \langle x \rangle^{-N}$ is invertible if μ is small enough. Furthermore, by using Theorem 1.3 and proceeding as in the end of the proof of Proposition 7.15, we see that $\langle x \rangle^N W(R(z) - R(i\mu)) \langle x \rangle^{-N}$ is small when z is close to zero (by writing the difference as an integral). Therefore I + A(z) is invertible if z is small enough, so that we can write (for j = 0 or 1)

$$\langle x \rangle^{-N} \nabla^{j} R_{g}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-N} = \langle x \rangle^{-N} \nabla^{j} R(z) \langle x \rangle^{-N} (I + A(z))^{-1}. \tag{9.4}$$

Using the form of W in (9.1) and the estimates of Theorem 1.3, it is not hard to check (using in particular that N is large enough) that

$$\left| \left| \partial_z^n \left(I + A(z) \right)^{-1} \right| \right|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \lesssim \left(1 + |z|^{d-1-n-\varepsilon} \right).$$

The form of W ensures that it suffices to use estimates on $\langle x \rangle^{-\delta} \nabla R^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$, which are better than those on $\langle x \rangle^{-\delta} R^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$. These estimates, Theorem 1.3 and (9.4) yield easily the expected estimates with N instead of δ . To obtain the result with δ , it then suffices to write

$$R_q(z) = R(z) - R(z)WR(z) + R(z)WR_q(z)WR(z),$$

and use the previous estimates on $\langle x \rangle^{-N} \nabla^j R_g^{(n)}(z) \langle x \rangle^{-N}$ (since W has compactly supported coefficients) combined with those given by Theorem 1.3.

The rest of the section is devoted to the proofs of Propositions 9.2 and 9.3.

Lemma 9.5. The operator H_0 , acting in the distributions sense, is an isomorphism from \dot{H}^1 to \dot{H}^{-1} . We denote by R(0) its inverse. Then for all $f \in \dot{H}^{-1}$, u := R(0)f is the unique solution in \dot{H}^1 to $H_0u = f$ in the temperate distributions sense.

Proof. This lemma is basically a consequence of the fact that

$$||D|u||_{L^2} \lesssim ||H_0^{1/2}u||_{L^2} \lesssim ||D|u||_{L^2}, \quad u \in H^1,$$
 (9.5)

and the standard Lax-Milgram argument.

Lemma 9.6. The space $L^2 \cap \dot{H}^{-1}$ is contained in the domain $\mathcal{D}(H_0^{-1/2})$ of $H_0^{-1/2}$ and there exists C > 1 such that

$$C^{-1}||\psi||_{\dot{H}^{-1}} \le \left| \left| H_0^{-1/2} \psi \right| \right|_{L^2} \le C||\psi||_{\dot{H}^{-1}},\tag{9.6}$$

for all $\psi \in L^2 \cap \dot{H}^{-1}$.

Proof. Let $\psi \in L^2 \cap \dot{H}^{-1}$ and $v \in \mathcal{D}(H_0^{-1/2})$. Then

$$(\psi, H_0^{-1/2}v) = (|D||D|^{-1}\psi, H_0^{-1/2}v) = (|D|^{-1}\psi, |D|H_0^{-1/2}v),$$

since $|D|^{-1}\psi$ belongs to L^2 hence to H^1 and similarly $H_0^{-1/2}v$ belongs to $\text{Dom}(H_0^{1/2})=H^1$. Since $H_0^{1/2}H_0^{-1/2}v=v$ we obtain

$$\left|\left(\psi, H_0^{-1/2} v\right)\right| \leqslant \left|\left||D|^{-1} \psi\right|\right|_{L^2} \left|\left||D| H_0^{-1/2} v\right|\right|_{L^2} \lesssim ||\psi||_{\dot{H}^{-1}} ||v||_{L^2}$$

using (9.5). All this shows that ψ belongs to $\text{Dom}(H_0^{-1/2})$ and that $\left|\left|H_0^{-1/2}\psi\right|\right|_{L^2} \lesssim ||\psi||_{\dot{H}^{-1}}$. To prove the reverse inequality, we observe that for all $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$,

$$(|D|^{-1}\psi,\phi) = (\psi,|D|^{-1}\phi) = (H_0^{1/2}H_0^{-1/2}\psi,|D|^{-1}\phi) = (H_0^{-1/2}\psi,H_0^{1/2}|D|^{-1}\phi),$$

using, in the third equality that $|D|^{-1}\phi$ belongs to H^1 . Using (9.5) again, this implies that

$$|(|D|^{-1}\psi,\phi)| \lesssim ||H_0^{-1/2}\psi||_{L^2}||\phi||_{L^2},$$

which yields $\left|\left||D|^{-1}\psi\right|\right|_{L^2}\lesssim ||H_0^{-1/2}\psi||_{L^2}$. This completes the proof.

Lemma 9.7. Let $f \in L^2 \cap \dot{H}^{-1}$, then

$$(H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1} f \rightharpoonup R(0) f \qquad in \ \dot{H}^1,$$
 (9.7)

as $\mu \to 0$.

Proof. Observe first that

$$||(H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1}f||_{\dot{H}^1} = ||D|(H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1}f||_{L^2} \lesssim ||H_0^{1/2}(H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1}f||_{L^2}.$$

Since f belongs to $L^2 \cap \dot{H}^{-1}$, $|D|^{-1}f$ belongs to H^1 and, by writing for all $\psi \in L^2$,

$$(H_0^{1/2}(H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1}f, \psi) = (|D|^{-1}f, |D|(H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1}H_0^{1/2}\psi),$$

we see that

$$||H_0^{1/2}(H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1}f||_{L^2} \lesssim ||H_0^{1/2}(H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1}H_0^{1/2}||_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)}||D|^{-1}f||_{L^2} \lesssim ||f||_{\dot{H}^{-1}},$$

and thus

$$||(H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1} f||_{\dot{H}^1} \lesssim ||f||_{\dot{H}^{-1}}, \qquad \mu > 0, \ f \in L^2 \cap \dot{H}^{-1}.$$
 (9.8)

The interest of the uniform bound (9.8) is that it suffices to prove (9.7) for f in a dense subset of $L^2 \cap \dot{H}^{-1}$. Let $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\chi \equiv 1$ near 0. Then $(1-\chi)(H_0/\varepsilon)f \to f$ in $L^2 \cap \dot{H}^{-1}$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$, by the Spectral Theorem¹ and (9.6). Therefore, it suffices to prove the result when f is replaced by $(1-\chi)(H_0/\varepsilon)f$. In this case, using the Spectral Theorem again

$$\left\| (H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1} (1 - \chi) (H_0/\varepsilon) f - \frac{(1 - \chi) (H_0/\varepsilon)}{H_0} f \right\|_{\dot{H}_1} \to 0, \quad \mu \to 0,$$

since the left hand side is not greater than

$$C \left\| H_0^{1/2} (H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1} (1 - \chi) (H_0/\varepsilon) f - H_0^{1/2} \frac{(1 - \chi) (H_0/\varepsilon)}{H_0} f \right\|_{L^2}.$$

It remains to observe that

$$\frac{(1-\chi)(H_0/\varepsilon)}{H_0}f = R(0)(1-\chi)(H_0/\varepsilon)f$$

since the left hand side belongs to $H^2 \subset \dot{H}^1$ and solves $H_0 u = (1-\chi)(H_0/\varepsilon)f$ in the distributions sense.

¹and the fact that 0 is not an eigenvalue of H_0

Proof of Proposition 9.2. We prove first that

$$\left|\left|\langle x\rangle^N W\left((H_0+\mu^2)^{-1}-R(0)\right)\langle x\rangle^{-\delta}\right|\right|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)}\to 0, \qquad \mu\to 0^+. \tag{9.9}$$

Let $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ be equal to 1 near 0. Write

$$W(H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1} = W\chi(H_0)(H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1}\chi(H_0) + W(1 - \chi^2(H_0))(H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1}.$$

The convergence of the second term of the right hand side is easy. The contribution of the first term is obtained by writing

$$\left(\langle x \rangle^N W \chi(H_0) \langle x \rangle\right) \langle x \rangle^{-1} (H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1} \langle x \rangle^{-1} \left(\langle x \rangle \chi(H_0) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta}\right)$$

where $(\langle x \rangle^N W \chi(H_0) \langle x \rangle)$ and $(\langle x \rangle \chi(H_0) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta})$ are compact on L^2 and $\langle x \rangle^{-1} (H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1} \langle x \rangle^{-1}$ converges weakly to $\langle x \rangle^{-1} R(0) \langle x \rangle^{-1}$ on L^2 by Lemma 9.7 and the fact that $\langle x \rangle^{-1}$ is bounded from L^2 to $\dot{H}^{-1} \cap L^2$. Then, to complete the proof *i.e.* replace $(H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1}$ by $R(i\mu) = (H_0 + \mu a + \mu^2)^{-1}$ in (9.9), it suffices to prove that

$$||(H_0 + \mu a + \mu^2)^{-1} - (H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1}||_{\mathcal{L}(\dot{H}^{-1}, \dot{H}^1)} \to 0, \qquad \mu \to 0.$$
 (9.10)

Using the resolvent identity, (9.10) follows from the fact that

$$||D|(H_0 + \mu a + \mu^2)^{-1}a\mu(H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1}|D||_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \lesssim \mu^{\rho}.$$

Using the fact that $H_0 + \mu a + \mu^2 \ge H_0 \ge c|D|^2$ (when tested on L^2 against any H^2 function), the above estimate is reduced to

$$\left| \left| (H_0 + \mu a + \mu^2)^{-1/2} a \mu (H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1/2} \right| \right|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \lesssim \mu^{\rho}.$$

By the Hardy inequality $\langle x \rangle^{-1} (H_0 + \mu^2)^{-1/2}$ is uniformly bounded, therefore it suffices to consider

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \left| \mu a \langle x \rangle (H_0 + \mu a + \mu^2)^{-1/2} \right| \right|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \\ &\lesssim \mu \left| \left| \langle x \rangle^{-\rho} (H_0 + \mu a + \mu^2)^{-1/2} \right| \right|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)} \\ &\lesssim \mu \left| \left| \langle x \rangle^{-1} (H_0 + \mu a + \mu^2)^{-1/2} \right| \right|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)}^{\rho} \left| \left| (H_0 + \mu a + \mu^2)^{-1/2} \right| \right|_{\mathcal{L}(L^2)}^{1-\rho} \\ &< \mu^{\rho}. \end{aligned}$$

using a (simple) interpolation argument in the second line. The result follows.

Proof of Proposition 9.3. The proof of Proposition 9.2 shows that $\langle x \rangle^{\delta} WR(0) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$ can be written as

$$\left(\langle x\rangle^{\delta}W\chi(H_0)\langle x\rangle\right)\langle x\rangle^{-1}R(0)\langle x\rangle^{-1}\left(\langle x\rangle\chi(H_0)\langle x\rangle^{-\delta}\right)+\langle x\rangle^{\delta}W\frac{1-\chi^2(H_0)}{H_0}\langle x\rangle^{-\delta},$$

which implies that this is a compact operator on L^2 . Therefore, $I + \langle x \rangle^{\delta} WR(0) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta}$ is a Fredholm operator of index 0 and thus is bijective if and only if it is injective. Assume that $v \in L^2$ satisfies

$$v + \langle x \rangle^{\delta} W R(0) \langle x \rangle^{-\delta} v = 0. \tag{9.11}$$

Then, $\langle x \rangle^{-\delta} v$ belongs to \dot{H}^{-1} hence

$$u := R(0)\langle x \rangle^{-\delta} v \in \dot{H}^1,$$

satisfies $(H_0 + W)u = -\Delta_g u = 0$. This implies that u = 0 and therefore v = 0 which completes the proof. We simply record that the claim u = 0 is obtained by showing

$$||\nabla_g u||_{L_g^2}^2 = -\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} (\Delta_g(\chi(\varepsilon x)u), \chi(\varepsilon x)u)_{L_g^2} = 0.$$

This in turn is proved by routine arguments, using on one hand

$$\nabla_g \big((\chi(\varepsilon)x)u \big) = \chi(\varepsilon x) \nabla_g u + \mathcal{O}\big(\varepsilon |x| (\nabla \chi)(\varepsilon x)\big) |x|^{-1} u \to \nabla_g u \qquad \text{in } L^2$$

and on the other hand

$$\Delta_g(\chi(\varepsilon x)u) = u\Delta_g(\chi(\varepsilon x)) + 2g\big(\nabla_g u, \nabla_g\big(\chi(\varepsilon x)\big)\big),$$

combined with the fact that $|x|^2\Delta_g(\chi(\varepsilon x))$ and $|x|\nabla_g(\chi(\varepsilon x))$ are families of operators on L^2 going to zero in the strong sense (for the first family one uses that $\partial_j(|g(x)|g^{jk}(x))$ is a short range symbol).

APPENDIX A. NOTATION

General notation

Sets of integers

$$\mathbb{N} = \text{set of non negative integers}, \qquad [j, k] = [j, k] \cap \mathbb{N}$$

• Sets of complex numbers

$$\mathbb{C}_{+} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Im}(z) > 0\}
\mathbb{C}_{\pm,+} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Im}(z) > 0, \pm \operatorname{Re}(z) > 0\}
\mathbb{C}_{I,+} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Re}(z) \in I, \operatorname{Im}(z) > 0\}$$

• Commutators

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \operatorname{ad}_C(B) & = & [B,C] = BC - CB \\ \operatorname{ad}_C^k(B) & = & \operatorname{ad}_C\left(\operatorname{ad}_C^{k-1}(B)\right), & k \geqslant 2 \end{array}$$

• L^2 dilations and their generator

$$e^{i\theta A}u(x) = e^{\theta \frac{d}{2}}u(e^{\theta}x), \qquad A = \frac{x \cdot \nabla + \nabla \cdot x}{2i}$$
 (A.1)

Operators

• Differential operators

$$\begin{array}{rcl} H_0 & = & -\mathrm{div}\big(G(x)\nabla\big) \\ H_z & = & H_0 - iza(x), & z \in \mathbb{C}_+ \\ \mathcal{A} & = & \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ H_0 & -ia \end{pmatrix} \end{array}$$

• Resolvents

$$R(z) = (H_z - z^2)^{-1}$$

$$R_g(z) = (-\Delta_g - iza - z^2)^{-1}$$
 (in Section 9 only)

• More technical definitions (to study resolvents with inserted factors)

$$\mathcal{R}_{j,k}(z) = R(z)a_{j+1}R(z)\cdots R(z)a_kR(z)$$

$$\Theta_{j;\alpha_j,\dots,\alpha_k} = (H_z+1)^{-\alpha_j}a_{j+1}(H_z+1)^{-\alpha_{j+1}}\cdots a_k(H_z+1)^{-\alpha_k}$$

where $a_{j+1}, \ldots, a_k \in C_b^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ (often 1 or derivatives of a in practice).

Specific notation for low frequency analysis

- ι : index referring to perturbations "at infinity", *i.e.* after the removal of a compactly supported part.
- \bullet $\tilde{\ }$ refers to rescaled operators.
- $\hat{z} = z/|z|$
- $b_{|z|}(x) = b(x/|z|)$

• Operators

$$P_{0} = -\operatorname{div}(\chi I_{d} + (1 - \chi)G)\nabla$$

$$a_{\iota} = (1 - \chi)a$$

$$K_{0} = H_{0} - P_{0}$$

$$a_{0} = \chi a$$

$$P_{z} = P_{0} - iza_{\iota}$$

$$K_{z} = K_{0} - iza_{0}$$

$$\tilde{P}_{z}^{0} = \frac{1}{|z|^{2}}e^{-iA\ln|z|}P_{0}e^{iA\ln|z|}$$

$$\tilde{P}_{z} = \frac{1}{|z|^{2}}e^{-iA\ln|z|}P_{z}e^{iA\ln|z|}$$

More explicitly

$$\tilde{P}_z^0 = -\operatorname{div}((\chi(x/|z|)I_d + (1-\chi)(x/|z|)G(x/|z|))\nabla)
\tilde{P}_z = \tilde{P}_z^0 - i\frac{z}{|z|^2}a_\iota(x/|z|)$$

• Resolvents

$$R_{\iota}(z) = (P_z - z^2)^{-1}$$

 $\tilde{R}_{\iota}(z) = (\tilde{P}_z - \hat{z}^2)^{-1}, \quad |z| \ll 1$

• More technical definitions

$$\Phi_0 = D^{\alpha} \text{ with } |\alpha| = \nu_0 \in \{0, 1\}
\Phi_j = a_{\iota}^{\nu_j} \text{ with } \nu_j \in \{0, 1\}, \ j \geqslant 1
\mathcal{R}_{j,k}^{\iota}(z) = R_{\iota}(z)\Phi_{j+1}R_{\iota}(z)\cdots R_{\iota}(z)\Phi_k R_{\iota}(z)$$

and rescaled versions

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\Phi}_{0}(z) &= |z|^{\nu_{0}} D^{\alpha} \\ \tilde{\Phi}_{j}(z) &= a_{\iota}(x/|z|)^{\nu_{j}}, \quad j \geqslant 1 \\ \tilde{\mathcal{R}}^{\iota}_{j,k}(z) &= \tilde{R}_{\iota}(z)\tilde{\Phi}_{j+1}(z)\tilde{R}_{\iota}(z)\cdots\tilde{R}_{\iota}(z)\tilde{\Phi}_{k}(z)\tilde{R}_{\iota}(z) \\ \tilde{\Theta}_{j;\alpha_{j},...,\alpha_{k}} &= (\tilde{P}_{z}+1)^{-\alpha_{j}}\tilde{\Phi}_{j+1}(z)(\tilde{P}_{z}+1)^{-\alpha_{j+1}}\cdots\tilde{\Phi}_{k}(z)(\tilde{P}_{z}+1)^{-\alpha_{k}} \\ \tilde{\Theta}^{b}_{j_{1},...,j_{m}}(z) &= (\tilde{P}_{z}+1)^{-1}b_{j_{1},|z|}(x)(\tilde{P}_{z}+1)^{-1}b_{j_{2},|z|}(x)\dots(\tilde{P}_{z}+1)^{-1}b_{j_{m},|z|}(x) \end{split}$$

where, in the last line, $b_{j,|z|}(x)$ is either 1 or $a_{\iota}(x/|z|)$. We also consider the following quantity (see (7.8)) which we use to count powers of |z|

$$\mathcal{V}_{j,k} = \sum_{l=j+1}^{k} \nu_j.$$

Specific notation for high frequency analysis

• Spectral cutoffs (in Section 4): for any bounded $\chi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that $0 \notin \text{supp}(\chi)$

$$\chi_j(H_0^{1/2}) = \chi(2^{1-j}H_0^{1/2})$$

• Semi-classical operator (in Section 8)

$$H_h^{\sigma} = h^2 H_0 - ih\sigma a(x), \qquad h = |z|^{-1}, \quad \sigma = z/|z|$$

• Conjugate operator

$$F_h = \operatorname{Op}_h^w(f_0 + f_c)$$

with $f_0(x,\xi) = \langle x,\xi \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^d} = x \cdot \xi$ the usual escape function and $f_c \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ chosen according to Proposition 8.1.

APPENDIX B. DISSIPATIVE MOURRE ESTIMATES: AN EXAMPLE

In this short section, we study the simple case where $H_0 = -\Delta$ is the flat Laplacian and describe which type of parameters are considered in Definition 5.1 to handle respectively the high, low and medium frequency regimes in the proofs of Theorems 1.5, 1.3 and 1.2. In each case, we also check the positive commutator estimate which is the main assumption in Definition 5.1.

• High energy regime $|z| \gg 1$. Here we let $H_{\lambda} = |z|^{-2}H_z$ that is

$$H_{\lambda} = -h^2 \Delta - ih\sigma a, \qquad h = |z|^{-1}, \ \sigma = z/|z|$$

and consider

$$J = (1/2, 3/2), \qquad A_{\lambda} = A, \qquad \alpha_{\lambda} = 1/2, \qquad \beta_{\lambda} = 0,$$

with A the generator of dilations (see (A.1)) as everywhere below. Then, $\text{Re}(H_{\lambda}) = -h^2\Delta + h\text{Im}(\sigma)a$ so that

$$i[\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}), A_{\lambda}] = 2\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}) - h\operatorname{Im}(\sigma)(2a + x \cdot \nabla a).$$

The Spectral Theorem and the choice of J imply that

$$\mathbb{1}_{J}(\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}))\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda})\mathbb{1}_{J}(\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda})) \geqslant \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{1}_{J}(\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda})). \tag{B.1}$$

On the other hand, we have

$$||h\operatorname{Im}(\sigma)(2a + x \cdot \nabla a)||_{L^2 \to L^2} \leq Ch,$$

which follows from the boundedness of a and $x \cdot \nabla a$. Therefore

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{1}_{J}(\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}))i\big[\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}),A_{\lambda}\big]\mathbb{1}_{J}(\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda})) & \geqslant & (1-Ch)\mathbb{1}_{J}(\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda})) \\ & \geqslant & \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{1}_{J}(\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda})), \qquad h \ll 1. \end{split}$$

Let us comment that J=(1/2,3/2) and $\alpha_{\lambda}=1/2$ are concrete examples which could be replaced respectively by $(1-\varepsilon,1+\varepsilon)$ and $2-3\varepsilon$ for any fixed $0<\varepsilon<1$. We also emphasize that we can take $\beta=0$ and A_{λ} to be the usual generator of dilations since the principal symbol of the operator is $|\xi|^2$ which satisfies the non trapping condition (which is stronger than the geometric control condition).

• Low frequency regime $|z| \ll 1$. To study this regime, we start by substracting a compact part to the dissipation, *i.e.* replace a by $(1-\chi)a$ with $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R},[0,1])$ equal to 1 on a large enough compact set and apply the Mourre theory to

$$H_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{|z|^2} e^{-iA \ln|z|} \left(-\Delta - iz(1-\chi)a \right) e^{iA \ln|z|}$$
$$= -\Delta - i \frac{z}{|z|^2} a_{\iota}(x/|z|)$$

with $a_{\iota} = (1 - \chi)a$. We consider again

$$J = (1/2, 3/2),$$
 $A_{\lambda} = A,$ $\alpha_{\lambda} = 1/2,$ $\beta_{\lambda} = 0.$

Then $\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}) = -\Delta + \frac{\operatorname{Im}(z)}{|z|^2} a_{\iota}(x/z)$ and

$$i[\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}), A_{\lambda}] = 2\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}) - \frac{\operatorname{Im}(z)}{|z|^2}\operatorname{Im}(\sigma)b(x/|z|),$$

with $b = 2a_{\iota} + x \cdot \nabla a_{\iota}$. To get a positive commutator estimate, we want the contribution of b to be small. Using the Hardy inequality, i.e. the fact that $|x|^{-1}$ maps H^1 to L^2 (in dimension at least 3), we have

$$\left| \left| \frac{1}{|z|} b(\cdot/|z|) \right| \right|_{H^1 \to L^2} \leqslant C \left| \left| |x| b \right| \right|_{L^{\infty}}, \tag{B.2}$$

whose right hand side is small if the support of the cutoff χ is large enough since a and its derivative decay as $|x|^{-1-\rho}$ at infinity. Using a similar estimate for $|z|^{-1}a_{\iota}(\cdot/|z|)$ and a routine perturbation argument (viewing $\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda})$ as a perturbation of -2Δ), we can show that

$$||\mathbb{1}_J(\text{Re}(H_\lambda))||_{L^2 \to H^1} \le C, \qquad |z| \ll 1.$$

Then, choosing $\chi \equiv 1$ on a large enough compact set to make the right hand side of (B.2) small, we get

$$\left| \left| \mathbb{1}_J(\operatorname{Re}(H_\lambda)) \left(\frac{\operatorname{Im}(z)}{|z|^2} b(x/|z|) \right) \mathbb{1}_J(\operatorname{Re}(H_\lambda)) \right| \right|_{L^2 \to L^2} \leqslant \frac{1}{2},$$

and thus, using (B.1),

$$\mathbbm{1}_J(\mathrm{Re}(H_\lambda))i\big[\mathrm{Re}(H_\lambda),A_\lambda\big]\mathbbm{1}_J(\mathrm{Re}(H_\lambda))\geqslant \frac{1}{2}\mathbbm{1}_J(\mathrm{Re}(H_\lambda)),\qquad |z|\ll 1.$$

• Intermediate frequency regime $|z| \in I \in]0, +\infty[$. In this part, we consider

$$H_{\lambda} = -\Delta - iza,$$

and

$$A_{\lambda} = A, \qquad \alpha_{\lambda} = 1/2, \qquad \beta_{\lambda} = 0.$$

Then $Re(H_{\lambda}) = -\Delta + Im(z)a$ and

$$i[\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}), A] = 2\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}) - \operatorname{Im}(z)(2a + x \cdot \nabla a).$$
 (B.3)

Since we want to work near a compact subset of $]0, +\infty[$, it suffices to show that for any E > 0 that there exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that if $|z \mp E^{1/2}| \le \epsilon$, we have

$$\mathbb{1}_{J}(\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}))i[\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}),A]\mathbb{1}_{J}(\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}))\geqslant \frac{E}{2}\mathbb{1}_{J}(\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda})),$$

with

$$J = [E - \epsilon, E + \epsilon].$$

Indeed, if $0 < \text{Im}(z) \le \epsilon$ is small enough, we can ensure that

$$||\operatorname{Im}(z)(2a + x \cdot \nabla a)||_{L^2 \to L^2} \leq E$$

so that, using (B.3) and once more (B.1) (with 1/2 replaced by $E - \epsilon$)

$$\mathbb{1}_{J}(\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}))i[\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda}), A]\mathbb{1}_{J}(\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda})) \quad \geqslant \quad (2E - 2\epsilon - E)\mathbb{1}_{J}(\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda})),$$
$$\geqslant \quad \frac{E}{2}\mathbb{1}_{J}(\operatorname{Re}(H_{\lambda})),$$

which yields the estimate.

References

- [ABG91] W. Amrein, A. Boutet de Monvel, and V. Georgescu. C₀-groups, Commutator Methods and Spectral theory of N-body Hamiltonians, volume 135 of Progress in mathematics. Birkhäuser Verlag, 1991.
- [AK02] L. Aloui and M. Khenissi. Stabilisation pour l'équation des ondes dans un domaine extérieur. Rev. Math. Iberoamericana, 18:1–16, 2002.
- [AK07] L. Aloui and M. Khenissi. Stabilization of Schrödinger equation in exterior domains. ESAIM, Control Optim. Calc. Var., 13(3):570–579, 2007.
- [BH10] J.-F. Bony and D. Häfner. Low Frequency Resolvent Estimates for long range perturbations of the euclidean laplacian. *Math. Res. Lett.*, 17(2):301–306, 2010.
- [BH12] J.-F. Bony and D. Häfner. Local Energy Decay for Several Evolution Equations on Asymptotically Euclidean Manifolds. *Annales Scientifiques de l' École Normale Supérieure*, 45(2):311–335, 2012.
- [BH13] J.-F. Bony and D. Häfner. Improved local energy decay for the wave equation on asymptotically Euclidean odd dimensional manifolds in the short range case. J. Inst. Math. Jussieu, 12(3):635–650, 2013.
- [BLR92] C. Bardos, G. Lebeau, and J. Rauch. Sharp sufficient conditions for the observation, control, and stabilization of waves from the boundary. SIAM J. Control Optim, 30(5):1024–1065, 1992.
- [Bou11] J.-M. Bouclet. Low frequency estimates and local energy decay for asymptotically Euclidean laplacians. Comm. Part. Diff. Equations, 36:1239–1286, 2011.
- [BT08] J.-M. Bouclet and N. Tzvetkov. On global Strichartz estimates for non trapping metrics. J. Funct. Analysis, 254(6), 2008.
- [Bur98] N. Burq. Décroissance de l'énergie locale de l'équation des ondes pour le problème extérieur et absence de résonance au voisinage du réel. Acta Math., 180(1):1–29, 1998.
- [CSVW] H. Christianson, E. Schenck, A. Vasy, and J. Wunsch. From resolvent estimates to damped waves. Preprint, arXiv:1206.1565.
- [Dav95] E.B. Davies. The functionnal calculus. *Journal of the London Mathematical Society*, 52(1):166–176, 1995.
- [DS95] W. Dan and Y. Shibata. On a local energy decay of solutions of dissipative wave equation. Funktialaj Ekvacioj, 38:545–568, 1995.

- [DS99] M. Dimassi and J. Sjöstrand. Spectral Asymptotics in the Semi-Classical Limit, volume 268 of London Mathematical Society, Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, 1999.
- [DV12] K. Datchev and A. Vasy. Gluing semiclassical estimates via propagation of singularities. Int. Math. Res. Notices, 2012(23):5409–5443, 2012.
- [GHS13] C. Guillarmou, A. Hassell, and A. Sikora. Resolvent at low energy III: the spectral measure. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 365(11):6103–6148, 2013.
- [GM88] Ch. Gérard and A. Martinez. Principe d'absorption limite pour des opérateurs de Schrödinger à longue portée. C.R. Acad. Sciences, 306:121–123, 1988.
- [ITY13] R. Ikehata, G. Todorova, and B. Yordanov. Optimal decay rate of the energy for wave equations with critical potential. *J. Math. Soc. Japan*, 65(1):183–236, 2013.
- [Jen85] A. Jensen. Propagation estimates for Schrödinger-type operators. Trans. A.M.S., 291(1):129–144, 1985.
- [JK79] A. Jensen and T. Kato. Spectral properties of Schrödinger operators and time-decay of the wave functions. Duke Mathematical Journal, 59(3):583-611, 1979.
- [JMP84] A. Jensen, E. Mourre, and P. Perry. Multiple commutator estimates and resolvent smoothness in quantum scattering theory. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré, 41(2):207–225, 1984.
- [KT06] H. Koch and D. Tataru. Carleman estimates and absence of embedded eigenvalues. Communication in Mathematical Physics, 267:419–449, 2006.
- [Leb96] G. Lebeau. Equation des ondes amorties. in : A. Boutet de Monvel and V. Marchenko (editors), Algebraic and geometric methods in mathematical physics, 73-109. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1996.
- [LMP63] P.D. Lax, C.S. Morawetz, and R.S. Phillips. Exponential decay of solutions of the wave equation in the exterior of a star-shaped obstacle. *Comm. on Pure and Applied Mathematics*, 16:477–486, 1963.
- [LP67] P.D. Lax and R.S. Phillips. Scattering Theory, volume 26 of Pure and Applied Mathematics. Academic Press, 1967.
- [LRG06] P.G. Lemarié-Rieusset and S. Gala. Multipliers between Sobolev spaces and fractionnal differentiation. Jour. of Math. Analysis and Applications, 322:1030–1054, 2006.
- [Mar02] A. Martinez. An Introduction to semiclassical and microlocal analysis. Universitext. Springer, 2002.
- [Mel79] R. Melrose. Singularities and energy decay in acoustical scattering. Duke Math. Journal, 46(1):43–59, 1979.
- [Mor61] C.S. Morawetz. The decay of solutions of the exterior initial-boundary value problem for the wave equation. Comm. on Pure and Applied Mathematics, 14:561–568, 1961.
- [Mou81] E. Mourre. Absence of singular continuous spectrum for certain self-adjoint operators. Comm. Math. Phys., 78:391–408, 1981.
- [MRS77] C.S. Morawetz, J.V. Ralston, and W.A. Strauss. Decay of the solution of the wave equation outside non-trapping obstacles. Comm. on Pure and Applied Mathematics, 30:447–508, 1977.
- [MS78] R. Melrose and J. Sjöstrand. Singularities of boundary value problems I. Comm. on Pure and Applied Mathematics, 31:593–617, 1978.
- [Ral69] J. Ralston. Solution of the wave equation with localized energy. Comm. on Pure and Applied Mathematics, 22:807–823, 1969.
- [Rob87] D. Robert. Autour de l'appoximation semi-classique, volume 68 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser,
- [Roy10a] J. Royer. Analyse haute fréquence de l'équation de Helmholtz dissipative. Ph.D. Thesis, Université de Nantes, available at http://tel.archives-ouvertes.fr/tel-00578423/fr/, 2010.
- [Roy10b] J. Royer. Limiting absorption principle for the dissipative Helmholtz equation. Comm. Part. Diff. Equations, 35(8):1458–1489, 2010.
- [RT74] J. Rauch and M. Taylor. Exponential decay of solutions to hyperbolic equations in bounded domains. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 24(1):79–86, 1974.
- [Shi83] Y. Shibata. On the global existence of classical solutions of second order fully nonlinear hyperbolic equations with first order dissipation in the exterior domain. *Tsukuba J. Math.*, 7(1):1–68, 1983.
- [Tat13] D. Tataru. Local decay of waves on asymptotically flat stationary space-times. Amer. J. Math., 135(2):361–401, 2013.
- [Wan87] X. P. Wang. Time-decay of scattering solutions and classical trajectories. Annales de l'I.H.P., section A, 47(1):25–37, 1987.
- [Zwo12] M. Zworski. Semiclassical Analysis, volume 138 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, 2012.

 $\label{lem:current} \textit{Current address}. \ \text{Institut de Mathématiques de Toulouse}, \ 118 \ \text{route de Narbonne}, \ 31062 \ \text{Toulouse} \ \text{C\'edex 9} \\ \textit{E-mail address}, \ \text{J.-M. Bouclet: bouclet@math.univ-toulouse.fr}$

E-mail address, J. Royer: julien.royer@math.univ-toulouse.fr